National Louis University

Digital Commons@NLU

Dissertations

4-2021

The Influence Of Parent-Child Relationships On Female Sexual Functioning: A Review Of The Literature

Laura Tillman

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.nl.edu/diss



Part of the Clinical Psychology Commons

Recommended Citation

Tillman, Laura, "The Influence Of Parent-Child Relationships On Female Sexual Functioning: A Review Of The Literature" (2021). Dissertations. 588.

https://digitalcommons.nl.edu/diss/588

This Dissertation - Public Access is brought to you for free and open access by Digital Commons@NLU. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons@NLU. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@nl.edu.

The Influence of Parent-Child Relationships on

Female Sexual Functioning

Laura Tillman, M.A.

Florida School of Professional Psychology at National Louis University

Christina D. Brown, Psy.D. Chair

Lisa Costas, Ph.D. Member

A Clinical Research Project submitted to the Faculty of the Florida School of Professional Psychology at National Louis University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Psychology in Clinical Psychology.

Tampa, Florida April 22nd, 2021

The Doctorate Program in Clinical Psychology Florida School of Professional Psychology at National Louis University

CERTIFICATE OF APPROVAL
Clinical Research Project
This is to certify that the Clinical Research Project of
Laura Anne Tillman
has been approved by the CRP Committee on April 2nd, 2021 as satisfactory for the CRP requirement for the Doctorate of Psychology degree with a major in Clinical Psychology
Examining Committee:
Committee Chair: Christina D. Brown, Psy.D.
Lisa Costas, Ph.D.

Member: Lisa Costas, Ph.D.

Abstract

This literature review is an examination of the impact of parental communication of sexual functioning in women. Women have many commonalities of sexual experiences and receive similar messages as children and adolescents in regards to their sexual behavior. Current attitudes towards women's sexuality and sexual functioning and the outcomes that a lack of communication can warrant are areas of importance for this literature review. This Clinical Research Project (CRP) examines how frequently parents communicate about sexual topics with their child, how parents communicate, and parental feelings surrounding discussions. Parenting models and attachment styles are reviewed and how childhood experiences shape current functioning. Parental relationships are an integral part of how an individual is currently functioning and this literature review examines how those relationships and conversations shape sexual functioning for women in adulthood. Other influences and the consequences of not engaging in those hard conversations with an adolescent are discussed. Based on the findings uncovered by the research, clinical recommendations are included in this literature review.

THE INFLUENCE OF PARENT-CHILD RELATIONSHIPS ON FEMALE SEXUAL FUNCTIONING: A REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

Copyright ©2021

Laura Anne Tillman

All rights reserved

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
Abstract	iii
Copyright	iv
TABLE OF CONTENTS	V
CHAPTER I: COMMONALITIES & CONCEPTS	1
Unhealthy Sexual Functioning & Female Sexual Dysfunction	5
Factors influencing Female Sexual Functioning	7
Views on Sexual Functioning	7
Sexual Scripts	8
Sexual Agency	9
Sexual Assertiveness and Victimization	11
Motivation for Sexual Activity	12
Contraception Use	13
Changes in Attitudes of Sexual Intercourse	14
Knowledge of the Female Anatomy	15
Statement of the Problem	16
Purpose Statement	16
Literature Review Questions	17
Research Procedure	17
CHAPTER II: HOW DOES PARENTAL COMMUNICATION ABOUT SEX AFF	ECT
DEVELOPMENT IN ADOLESCENCE?	20
Parental Percention of Adolescent Experiences	20

Early Exposure	21
Adolescent Perception of Parental Messages	24
Communication	25
Gender-Specific Communication	27
Quality of Parental Relationship	28
Influences on Sexual Functioning	30
School-Based Sexual Education	30
Religion	32
Abstinence and Religion	34
Feelings about Sex and Religion	36
Family Culture	37
CHAPTER III: HOW DO CHILDHOOD EXPERIENCES, PARENTING STYLES	, AND AT-
TACHMENT STYLES AFFECT SEXUAL FUNCTIONING IN ADULTHOOD?	42
Effects of Childhood Experiences on General Functioning	42
Adverse childhood experiences (ACEs)	43
Diversity Considerations	44
Attachment and Parenting Styles	46
Attachment Styles	46
Attachment Styles and Sexual Functioning	49
Attachment Styles and Gender	52
Parenting Styles	52
Parenting Style and Adolescent Behavior	55
Attachment and Parenting Styles Impact on Adult Functioning	57

Relationships	59
Shortcomings of Parenting Model	60
CHAPTER IV: CLINICAL RECOMMENDATIONS	63
Influences for Adolescent Females	63
Positive Parental Relationship	65
Communication	68
Additional Considerations	70
Start Early	70
Acquire Knowledgeable	71
Sex-Positive Views and Messages	72
Encourage Autonomy and Assertiveness	73
Encourage Self-Efficacy and Sexual Agency	75
Identify Alternative Sources of Information	76
Integrate Values and Beliefs into Conversations	76
Update School-Based Education Programs	78
Programs in Place That Protect Against Victimization and Abuse	79
Changes for Adult Women	80
Improved Parental Relationships	81
Influence on Adult Relationships	81
Better Functioning Overall	82
Greater Sexual Satisfaction	82
Impact on Sexual Assaults and Gender Differences	83
CHAPTER V. DISCUSSION	87

Clinical Implications	96
Limitations	97
Suggestions for Future Research	99
Conclusion	. 105
References	. 106
APPENDIX	. 150

CHAPTER I: COMMONALITIES & CONCEPTS

In clinical settings, many topics of discussion arise during treatment. To understand an individual's current functioning, it can be helpful to examine the past experiences that inform their current behaviors. Past experiences with caregivers have been shown to influence behavior in adulthood through attachment styles and relationship dynamics (Dewitte, 2012). Sexual functioning is often a part of an intimate relationship and satisfying sexual experiences can be challenging for the majority of women (Kingsberg & Woodard 2015; Wyatt & Lyons-Rowe, 1990). Female sexual functioning impacts quality of life and sexual dysfunction is highly prevalent among women (Kumar et al., 2020). In 1999 it was reported by Laumann et al. that approximately 43% of women experience sexual dysfunction. By 2008, those numbers increased to over 60% of American women reporting difficulties with sexual desire, sexual arousal, or the ability to achieve an orgasm (Hayes et al., 2008). These experiences and statistics inform the necessity to discuss and address sexual functioning with women in adolescence and adulthood (Hayes et al., 2008; Laumann et al., 1999; Wyatt & Lyons-Rowe, 1990).

When discussing intimate relationships and sexual functioning for women, there seems to be a consistent commonality: the messages women received and their experiences as children and teenagers regarding sexuality and sexual functioning affect their current functioning (Smith & Cook, 2008). Many women share that sexuality and sexual functioning were not discussed in their homes as children or adolescents, which is consistent with the research (Walker, 2001). If discussions surrounding sexual functioning did occur, many women reported that the messages received in conversations about sexual functioning were how to monitor one's behavior to prevent sexual assault (Wilson et al., 2010), gynecological and hormonal changes (Wyckoff et al., 2008), and negative consequences of sexual intercourse, such as sexually transmitted

infections (STIs) (Rosenbaum & Weathersbee, 2013). Additionally, a majority of the time, sexual functioning topics were typically discussed by the mother and were not addressed by the child or father, which is consistent with clinical reports (Lehr et al., 2005; Wilson & Koo, 2010).

Parents play a major role in the sexual socialization of adolescents, but it is unclear which specific variables regarding parenting contribute to communication about sexual functioning (Somers & Vollmar, 2006). Sexual experiences in early and later adolescence can have lasting effects on sexual functioning in adulthood (Dube et al., 2001). Adolescents who have a higher-quality relationship with their parents through adolescence report more communication regarding sexual functioning with their parents (Somers & Paulson, 2000). How conversations about sexual functioning were approached by family members, parental figures in particular, during the early stages of adolescence can influence an individual's feelings about overall sexuality and sexual functioning (Afifi et al., 2008; Byers et al., 2008). An adolescent's early experiences include the way parents communicate about sexual activity (Afifi et al., 2008) and a lack of communication or negative communication about sexual activity can be detrimental to a woman's sexual functioning in adulthood (Miller et al., 2009).

Family upbringing and conversations initiated by parents surrounding sexual functioning rarely happen, and parents often procrastinate when having conversations about sexual functioning with their child, leading the child to discuss the subject with other people instead of a parent (Walker, 2001). According to a study conducted by Lemonick (2000), approximately 15% of Euro-American and 50% of African American girls develop secondary sex characteristics, which include breast buds and public hair, by age 8. These statistics suggest adolescence begins much earlier than society traditionally thinks and much earlier than sexual education begins in the public-school systems. According to Simanski (1998), parents often wait until children are

well into puberty to begin discussing sexual functioning, but by then, many adolescents have already begun to look to peers to understand sexuality. A majority of people who identify as religious report that they receive information about vaginal intercourse from their peers (Rosenbaum & Weathersbee, 2010). This research indicates that when conversations about sexual functioning are not initiated by parents, and sexual functioning is not discussed in the home environment, adolescents seek information from other sources.

This lack of communication about sexual functioning could be a contributing factor to not disclosing sexual assault (Blake et al., 2001). Fewer than one in five young adult women report their assault to law enforcement (Krebs et al., 2007). For American women, there is a 12% to 18% lifetime prevalence of rape, meaning there is approximately a 12% to 18% chance a woman could be raped within her lifetime (Kilpatrick et al., 1992, 2007; Tjaden & Thoennes, 2000). The most recent statistics reported by the Center for Disease Control (2015) state that 1 in 5 women are victims of attempted or a completed rape within their lifetime. It was reported by the Department of Justice (2020) that approximately 2 out of 3 sexual assaults go unreported. Decades of studies have shown the possible effects of sexual assault, including physical health problems, psychological difficulties, impairment in social functioning, and disruptions in occupational functioning (Golding, 1999; Tjaden & Thoennes, 2006). Zinzow and Thompson (2011) reported that many college-aged women chose not to report their sexual assault because they failed to identify the incident as serious or a crime. Overall, the statistics on rates of sexual assault, the lack of acknowledgment and understanding that a sexual assault happened, and the lack of reporting is alarming. Starting discussions about consent and sexual functioning at earlier ages in the home could be beneficial.

Gender roles (Wilson & Koo, 2010) and religious affiliation (Rosenbaum & Weathersbee, 2013) have also been reported to influence a woman's feelings surrounding her sexuality and sexual functioning. American society generally views sexuality from a Judeo-Christian belief that sex should be reserved for marital relations and procreation purposes, and this belief influences the expectations of women's sexual behavior (Bordini & Sperb, 2013; DeLameter, 1981). For women, sexual satisfaction, sexual guilt, and decreased sexual activity is associated with religious commitment (Abbott et al., 2016). Many women report that their attitudes toward sexual functioning have been shaped by a religious upbringing. A study conducted by Regnerus (2007) indicated that religious influence on sexual functioning begins in childhood and adolescence, which confirms what is reported by women in a clinical setting.

Most religious institutions maintain and dictate the standard of appropriate sexual conduct (McMillen et al., 2011). Women whose beliefs were influenced by religion as a child or adolescent may experience conflicting feelings when they are sexually active outside of a marital relationship due to the belief that sexual relations outside the marital union are condemned (Studer & Thornton, 1987). Because sexual activity outside of marriage contradicts most religious teachings (Leonard & Scott-Jones, 2010), many women report feelings of guilt for engaging in sexual activity outside of a marital relationship when they identify as religious (Abbott et al., 2016; Cowden & Bradshaw, 2007). Feelings of sexual shame are related to religiosity, and sexual shame is related to lower levels of sexual satisfaction (Marcinechová & Záhorcová, 2020). While those individuals with religious backgrounds report lower levels of sexual satisfaction and higher levels of shame, few research studies have investigated the contributing factors for such a correlation (Marcinechová & Záhorcová, 2020).

Attitudes about gender roles can also impact sexual functioning, and these gender role beliefs are influenced by culture, family upbringing, religious beliefs, world views, and a variety of other factors (Feltey & Poloma, 1991; Read, 2003). Men typically adhere to more traditional gender roles than women do (Lucke, 1998). Women who endorse more traditional gender roles experience a disrupted affect when engaging in sexual behavior that does not align with traditional gender roles, such as a casual sexual encounter (Lucke, 1998). Research indicates that women who do not adhere to more traditional gender roles are more likely to experience less internal conflict regarding their sexual identity, experience less stigma in their sexual functioning, and consequently greater positive affect after sexual encounters (Leech, 2010).

Thoughts and feelings surrounding sexual functioning are complex and deeply personal. Women experience sexuality and sexual functioning in different ways, but women in clinical settings have reported that common parental communication and messages about sexual functioning in childhood have influenced their current sexual functioning, roles in relationships, and beliefs about themselves (Dube et al., 2001; Leech, 2010; Read, 2003)

Unhealthy Sexual Functioning & Female Sexual Dysfunction

Healthy sexual functioning is a subjective experience for every person. However, since healthy sexual functioning is difficult to define and measure, it is beneficial to examine how unhealthy sexual functioning is categorized. The World Health Organization (WHO; 2013) described sexual health as not only an absence of disease or dysfunction, but the presence of emotional, mental, and social well-being in relation to sexual functioning.

According to Kumar et al. (2020), female sexual functioning must be examined from a multi factorial and multidimensional clinical lens. This means that unhealthy female sexual functioning or female sexual dysfunction (FSD) can have many etiologies, including

psychological, biological, and interpersonal influences (Kumar et al., 2020). FSD affects over 50% of the population but continues to be underdiagnosed and often goes untreated by medical professionals (Dahlen, 2019).

The American Psychiatric Association examined diagnosable sexual disorders and described unhealthy sexual functioning or sexual dysfunction as identified in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders-Fifth Edition (DSM-5) as a "clinically significant disturbance in a person's ability to respond sexually or to have sexual pleasure" (American Psychiatric Association, 2013, p. 423). The diagnosable sexual dysfunctions included in the DSM-5 that are female gender-specific are female orgasmic disorder, female sexual interest/arousal disorder, and genito-pelvic pain/penetration disorder (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). According to the DSM-5 (2013), factors contributing to sexual dysfunction include partner factors, relationship factors, individual vulnerability factors, psychiatric comorbidity, stressors, and cultural or religious factors. These contributing factors, along with a lack of assertiveness in sexual situations, limited knowledge of female reproductive functioning, and lack of empowerment to discuss negative sexual experiences all have the potential to contribute to unhealthy sexual functioning. The DSM-5 also includes a *lifelong* (versus *acquired*) specifier for a sexual dysfunction diagnosis (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). This specifier indicates that a woman can experience sexual dysfunction throughout her entire life and that experiences in a person's lifetime can impact their sexual functioning.

Factors Influencing Female Sexual Functioning

When examining female functioning, it is important to highlight certain areas of importance that will be further discussed. Reviewing historical views on female sexuality and how these views impact a women's sexual functioning helps one understand the societal

expectations for women's sexual behavior. The messages women receive from external sources can be understood using sexual script theory. Defining and exploring sexual agency, sexual assertiveness and victimization of women emphasize the need to communicate about sexual functioning. Identifying the motivations of why women engage in sexual activity is another area of importance. Understanding the changing attitudes toward female sexual behavior is important to discuss because societal expectations of women's behavior constantly change. Finally, exploring a woman's knowledge, or lack of knowledge, of female anatomy is also discussed due to the alarming misconceptions of the female body.

Views on Sexual Functioning

Historically, societal attitudes have held different expectations for female sexual behaviors than male sexual behavior, and those expectations have existed in a culture that emphasized less sex-positive ideas (Katz-Wise & Hyde, 2014) and more protection against victimization for women (Fine & McClelland, 2006). Many studies define risky sexual behavior as having sexual intercourse under the influence of drugs and alcohol and having multiple sexual partners within one year (Stockman et al., 1999, 2013). However, while having multiple partners within one year is sometimes qualified as risky sexual behavior for women, the same standard is not always applied to men's sexual functioning. This definition promotes an antiquated view of female sexual functioning and expectations for women's behavior.

Conversations emphasizing the risks of sexual activity, which often promote abstinence and neglect to address adolescent sexual desire, impact the view of young women's sexuality (Fine & McClelland, 2006; Tolman et al., 2003; Welsh et al., 2000). These attitudes, in turn, impact sexual functioning itself. As such, girls are more likely to be depicted as experiencing sexual risks and being vulnerable to the negative consequences of sex (e.g., unwanted pregnancy,

STIs, physical pain due to virginity loss), whereas boys seem to enjoy sex without the risks that women experience (Katz-Wise & Hyde, 2014). Women also receive different messages than men regarding the intention of engaging in sexual activity. Because sexuality is influenced by culture, female sexuality is constructed differently than male sexuality (Burns, 2018). According to Haste (1993), women and girls have received messages of being sexually passive and concerned with having children while men can engage in sexual activity for pleasurable purposes. Research conducted by Haste (1993) indicated possible reasons women would not use contraception, insist their partner use contraception, communicate sexual needs and desires with a partner, or experience feelings of guilt when engaging in sexual activity for pleasure.

Sexual Scripts

Sexual scripts have developed out of research examining sexuality and script theory, which has two components: interpersonal and internal (Gagnon & Simon, 2005). This means that girls and women receive messages from internal and external factors such as media, friends, religion, and family (Ragsdale et al., 2014). Sexual script theory is often used to discuss the different expectations of sexual behavior for men and women (Quinn-Nilas & Kennett, 2018). These different expectations of behavior include women as inhibiting their sexual expression, approaching sexual activity in an emotional way, and being gatekeepers of sexual activity (Sakaluk et al., 2013). There are also scripts related to female virginity that include virginity as a gift to one's partner, virginity loss as a natural part of sexual activity, and virginity as something that is a stigma (Carpenter, 2001). Based on the sexual script theory, the definition of sex and how a woman should behave in sexual situations is taught by the current culture; these beliefs are then internalized and guide a woman's sexual behavior (Frith & Kitzinger, 2001). Sexual script

theory helps one understand the social attitudes and how those attitudes influence female sexual functioning.

Sexual Agency

Sexual agency (i.e., sexual efficacy) is the capability to enact one's sexual desires and preferences, to communicate sexual expectations and boundaries with a sexual partner, and to feel entitled to receive sexual pleasure (Anderson, 2013; Kiefer & Sanchez, 2007). Simply put, sexual agency reflects a woman's ability to assert herself and express her sexual desires in terms of what she does and does not want to do sexually. With sexual agency, she can be in control of her own choices and sexual experiences free from coercion or other influences (Ramsey & Hoyt, 2015). Additionally, exercising sexual agency allows one to define what healthy sexual functioning looks like one's self. In contrast, a lack of agency limits sexual exploration and restricts the exploration of one's own sexual desires and preferences (Wiederman, 2005). Current evidence suggests that sexual agency shows an association with sexual health outcomes, such as safer sex practices, sexual communication (Curtin et al., 2011), and refusal of unwanted sex (Levin et al., 2012), as well as overall sexual well-being and satisfaction (Horne & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2006; Mastro & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2015; Zimmer-Gembeck & Skinner, 2011; Zimmer-Gembeck & French, 2016). More importantly, parents may help to empower young women against gendered messages and dominant sexual scripts. Some tentative evidence for this assertion already exists in the literature; a cross-sectional study suggests that young women who have a positive, supportive parental relationship show greater sexual agency (Katz & van der Kloet, 2010). According to Impett and Tolman (2006), both positive aspects (agency and arousal) and negative aspects (anxiety around sexual activity and embarrassment) as a sexual person contribute to one's sexual self-concept.

Sexual agency, expressed through the ability to act according to one's own wishes and having control of one's own sex life, is crucial for the development of healthy sexuality, leading to safer sex practices and sexual communication (Curtin et al., 2011), refusal of unwanted sex (Levin et al., 2012), and greater sexual well-being being and satisfaction (Horne & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2006; Mastro & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2015; Zimmer-Gembeck et al., 2011; Zimmer-Gembeck & French, 2016). A lack of sexual agency is traditionally associated with being female (e.g., Katz-Wise & Hyde, 2014; Tolman, 2005). As such, in a sexual situation, the traditional sexual script encourages women to take on a submissive role, whereas men are expected to express their sexual autonomy and dominance (Sanchez et al., 2012; Wiederman, 2005). Given that those cultural messages of gendered expectations lead to restrictive messages that girls should not act with agency, this review of the literature intends to assess the relationships among parental support, knowledge, parent-adolescent communication about sexuality, and young women's development of sexual agency.

According to de Graaf & Rademakers (2011), younger women who feel encouraged by their parents, through emotional engagement and support of autonomy, are more likely to communicate about their sexuality and, in turn, better understand their own needs and desires, which then results in greater agency. Research has already highlighted the importance of the parent-adolescent relationship quality and adolescents' perception of feeling supported by their parents, which leads an adolescent to share information or self-disclose aspects of sexuality with parents (de Graaf & Rademakers, 2011; van de Bongardt et al., 2015, 2016).

Sexual Assertiveness and Victimization

Sexual assertiveness is characterized by individuals engaging in sexual activity being attentive to each other while maintaining personal boundaries with which they are comfortable

(Twenge, 2011). Being sexually assertive with a partner is said to be a protective factor against sexual assault, according to Walker et al. (2011). Many women who are reported to be low on sexual assertiveness are unable to express sexual needs and comfortability with their partner, thus increasing their vulnerability to sexual assault (Walker et al., 2011). Additionally, Walker et al. (2011) indicated that the number of sexual partners a woman has is not indicative of an increase of victimization but reflects a women's lack of sexual assertiveness. Meaning, the number of partners a woman engages in sexual activity with does not have correlation to possible victimization, rather, a lack of sexual assertiveness is a factor in sexual situations that could lead to victimization. These results indicate that sexual assertiveness can lead to positive outcomes for women while also encouraging women's sexual autonomy.

According to the Department of Justice (2018), on average, 433,600 women are victims of a violent crime yearly, which rapes falls under, in the United States. Statistics indicate that certain populations are more at risk than others to be victimized. For example, studies have shown that there is often a higher risk of sexual assault while attending college. Fisher et al. (2000) reported that 25% of women are raped during their college career. Mellins et al. (2017) reported that anywhere between 28% to 33% of women and non-gender-conforming students report having experienced a form of sexual assault during their college careers. Many women are more vulnerable to victimization during their first and second years in college, and 20% of them are more vulnerable during the first two years than those juniors and seniors in college (Krebs et al., 2009). Women in the military are also at a high risk of experiencing sexual assault, with 9-13% of them sexually assaulted each year (Bostock & Daley, 2007). Many women who experience rape as minors are at a greater risk of being re-victimized as adults. According to the Centers for Disease Control (CDC; 2014), about 35% of women who were raped as minors also were

raped as adults, compared to 14% of women without an early rape history. This suggests that there is a prevalence of victimization in the United States that is directly related to lack of sexual assertiveness for women.

Motivation for Sexual Activity

Just as each individual defines their own sexual functioning differently, people also have different motivations for engaging in sexual activity (Wyatt & Riederle, 1994). Much of the early research on reasons for engaging in sex focused on physiological responses such as pleasure, relief of tension, and reproduction (Tiefer, 1991). However, within the last 20 years, research has examined more psychological reasons for engaging in sexual activity (Basson, 2000). The model proposed by Basson (2000) indicated that women engage in sexual activity for not just the physiological benefits like tension relief and pleasure, but also the nonsexual benefits, such as intimacy, affection, and bonding with their partner. According to Armstrong and Reissing (2015), the status of the relationship also influences motivation for engaging in sexual activities, with physical reasons being the primary motivating factor for casual relationships and emotional factors being the primary motivator in exclusive, long-term relationships. Meston and Buss (2007) indicated that men and women cite the same 20 of 25 reasons for engaging in sexual activities such as stress reduction, sexual pleasure, and their partner's attractiveness. This means that women and men have similar motivations for engaging in sexual activity, contrary to the belief that women have sexual intercourse for intimacy and men engage in sexual activity for pleasure (Armstrong & Reissing, 2015).

Contraception Use

Hock-Long et al. (2013) reported that people who engage in casual sex use condoms for STI and pregnancy prevention approximately 77% of the time, while individuals in "serious

relationships" use condoms 38% of the time. In 1998, Hynie et al. reported that young women's attitudes, or sexual scripts, were conflicting about when condoms should be used. Young adults reported that women should be sexually active in committed relationships, but condom use is reserved for sexual activity outside of committed, exclusive relationships, which are conflicting messages (Hynie et al., 1998). Condom use is somewhat incompatible with the socially promoted view that one should only be sexually active in committed relationships, and if one is in an exclusive relationship, there is no need to use condoms (Hynie et al., 1998).

In relationships, the use and methods of contraception can be a mutual decision or an individual one. According to Grady et al. (2010), power differentials in heterosexual relationships affect what contraception method is practiced. For example, if women have a higher income than their partners, they will often leave the method of contraception choice to their partner, presumably in an attempt to balance the power in the relationship (Grady et al., 2010). Grady et al. (2010) also reported that women in dating relationships have less power over the type of contraception used than women in cohabitation or marital relationships. The exclusivity of relationships clearly affects the use of contraception, but attitudes regarding relationships and the number of "acceptable" partners have changed dramatically over the past four decades.

Changes in Attitudes of Sexual Intercourse

Sexual behaviors of adults in and out of relationships have evolved from previous decades. According to a study conducted by Bajos et al. (2010), the median age of women's first-time experiencing intercourse has decreased by 4 years from age 22.0 in the 1930s to age 17.6 in the 2000s. People are more open to having multiple partners and cohabitating before marriage than couples in the 1970s, according to Twenge et al. (2015). Adults during 2000-2012

were reported more likely to engage in sex with a casual date, have more sexual partners, and be more accepting of non-marital sex (sex in adolescence, premarital sex, and same-sex sexual activity), when compared to adults during 1970-1980 (Twenge et al., 2015). The researchers also reported that the total number of sexual partners increased for both men and women in 2012, compared to those individuals in the 1980s. However, a study conducted by Bajos et al. (2010) reported that since the 1970s, the total number of partners for women has increased from 1.8 to 4.4 in 2006, but the total number of partners for men had not changed significantly (11.8 in the 1970s to 11.6 in 2006). Based on this research, it seems to be more socially acceptable for women to engage in sexual activity with multiple partners in contemporary society. When examining women's current status in society, women report that sexual intercourse and sexual acts are essential to their well-being, and these changes in attitude were primarily attributed to an increase in women's social status (Bajos et al., 2010). However, women consistently reported fewer sexual partners than men in the 1970s and the 2000s (Twenge et al., 2015), suggesting that the expectations of women's sexual behavior are still different when compared with the expectations of men's behavior in sexual activity.

Knowledge of the Female Anatomy

Knowledge of the female anatomy is an important piece of a woman's sexual functioning (Nicolson & Burr, 2003) and it is often assumed that women have a basic knowledge of their anatomy and can express what stimulates them sexually. However, this is not necessarily the case. In a study conducted by Reid et al. (2017), women had a severe lack of functional knowledge of female anatomy and the physiological processes related to such; only 14.9% of the participants understood the purpose of a "pap smear" test, and only 36.1% knew that the

fallopian tube was where the egg is fertilized by sperm. Women also had more difficulty identifying external sexual organs than internal sexual organs (Reid et al., 2017).

Another study conducted by Gollub et al. (2013) that surveyed approximately 200 women in Philadelphia reported that 44% of participants believed that one urinates and has intercourse in the same place and 62% of participants believed that a tampon could get lost in an abdominal cavity. Only 10% of participants in the Gollub et al. (2013) study reported knowing that using condom reduced cervical cancer risk and 27% of participants reported knowing that douching increased STI transmission risk.

The DSM-5 denoted that sexual functioning difficulties may be caused by a lack of physical stimulation, which can be treated but is not diagnosable. This difficulty in sexual functioning the DSM-5 describes can be due to a lack of knowledge of what stimulation facilitates arousal and orgasm (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). It has been established that healthy sexual functioning impacts a woman's quality of life (Kumar et al., 2020), Therefore, if a woman lacks sufficient knowledge of her sexual health and anatomy, it is reasonable to assume that her overall quality of life and her sexual functioning could be impacted negatively.

Statement of the Problem

Evidence indicates that parents have a great influence on children's feelings about sexuality and sexual functioning through the information they discuss with their daughters regarding sexual functioning (Grossman et al., 2014; Murry et al., 2014). However, those conversations are not occurring regularly or are occurring much too late (Whitaker et al., 1999). Often, children have already begun gaining information, sometimes incorrect information, about sexual functioning from peers (Somers & Paulson, 2000). The negative implications of the lack

of communication regarding sexual functioning can be very detrimental for women, including an overall poorer quality of life (Hooghe, 2012). The literature seems to define unhealthy sexual functioning, but there is a lack of information about healthy female sexual functioning. There is also limited information regarding how current views on women's sexual functioning may impact messages women receive at home about their own sexual development and sexual behaviors. Women's sexual functioning is influenced by messages women receive at home about their own sexual development and sexual behaviors. An exploration of religious influences and gender role effects highlights the different influences and messages women receive about their sexual functioning. Areas of importance include understanding women's motivations for sexual activity, changes in attitudes regarding sexual intercourse over the past decades, defining sexual assertiveness and victimization, and women's lack of knowledge of female autonomy.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this clinical research project was to critically review the available literature on the effects of parental communication during adolescence on female adult sexual functioning. Reviewing the literature regarding the effects of parental communication on female sexual functioning allows insight into the consequences of not having those conversations and what can be done by parents, educational systems, and society in general to mitigate any negative consequences women may experience in adulthood. Adding recommendations for clinicians and family members to begin a dialogue regarding sexual functioning is also a contribution of this literature review.

Literature Review Questions

The following are questions that guided this critical literature review:

1. How does parental communication influence female sexual functioning?

- 2. How do parent-child relationships, including parenting and attachment styles, influence sexual functioning?
- 3. What recommendations can be developed based on the existing research?

Research Procedure

The literature search strategies used in this CRP included searching library databases to gather recent research dating from 1990 to 2020. Research articles before 1990 were searched also to compare past research to more recent research. Additionally, research that references theories that falls prior to 1990, such as parenting styles, are also included. Journal databases used included ProQuest Central and EBSCO article databases. Keywords searched included adolescence, parenting styles, communication, sexual functioning, adolescent sexual activity, female unhealthy sexuality, parental support in reporting rape or sexual assault, sexual education, female organisms, sexual assertiveness, modeling positive sexual behavior, and parental openness.

Due to cultural variability, this CRP focused on individuals raised in the United States.

Other countries demonstrate higher rates of sex-positive research compared to the United States.

However, for this review, studies completed in other countries were excluded because their findings would have limited generalizability in the United States. Cultural variations of expectations for genders, cultural norms, religious influences in countries other than the United States, and additional factors led to excluding countries outside of the United States. If studies or statistics were mentioned in this literature from countries other than the United States, it was noted or used to define terms.

This specific literature review focused on cisgendered, heterosexual females. Individuals who identify as sexually fluid, non-binary, and/or non-gender conforming were not included in

this literature review. However, it is important to note that all sexual functioning experienced by individuals who do not identify as cisgender and/or heterosexual is as valuable and impactful. The scope of future research should be expanded to a wide array of sexual experiences and those research outcomes can be integrated in future discussions as more information and data is developed. Due to examining the complex nature of parent-child relationships, other factors were not examined, such as sexual orientation and gender identity.

Due to the extensive nature of qualifying emotions associated with engaging in sexual activity, emotions were not examined in this literature review of the current research. The influence of gender roles on reasons for engaging in sexual activity was also excluded from this CRP. However, power differential and gender roles were examined when discussing contraceptive use by females. Value systems that influence parental communication about sexual functioning were not examined for this CRP due to the variability in value systems and the feelings associated with such systems.

CHAPTER II: HOW DOES PARENTAL COMMUNICATION ABOUT SEX AFFECT DEVELOPMENT IN ADOLESCENCE?

This chapter explores the literature related to understanding how parental communication about sex during adolescence makes an impact on adolescent development. Important areas discussed include the factors that motivate adolescents to talk to their parents about sex, gender differences in communication about sexual functioning, and how the parental relationship influences communication and sexual functioning. Finally, other factors that influence sexual functioning are examined, including school-based sexual education, religion, and family culture.

Parental Perception of Adolescent Experiences

When discussing parental communication, it is important to examine the dynamics between parents and their children, including the parental perception of their child's sexual activity and how parents feel about conversations involving sexual subject matter. A majority of parents support the idea that adolescents should receive sexual health information (Peter et al., 2015), but parents are often more comfortable talking with their child about puberty and menstruation than sexual activity (Wyckoff et al., 2008). Based on these findings, there seems to be a disconnect in parental attitudes about a child learning about body transitions and a parent actually communicating with a child about sexual functioning. Many studies have reported that parents can be effective sex educators (DeVore & Ginsburg, 2005; DiIorio et al., 2009; DiClemente et al., 2001; Dittus & Jaccard, 2000; Jaccard et al., 1996) and there are specific interventions that can increase sex education by parents (Kirby & Miller, 2002; Klein et al., 2005; Lefkowitz et al., 2000; Schuster et al., 2008). However, Eisenberg et al. (2004) found that parents often have misinformation about condom effectiveness and STIs or the parents do not

communicate the sex-education topics in a way that their children understand (Eisenberg et al., 2004).

Studies have indicated a variety of reasons about why parents have difficulty discussing sexuality with their children. Multiple studies have reported that the lack of communication between parents and their children about sexuality is due to many factors including the children's beliefs such conversations invade their privacy and resist to disclosing any sexual activity to the parents, parental refusal to acknowledge the child may already be sexually active, and parental lack of knowledge due to a generational lack of communication (Eastman et al., 2005; Guilamo-Ramos et al., 2006).

Early Exposure

Wilson et al. (2010) explored factors that influence whether parents discuss sex with their children. The Wilson et al. (2010) study conducted 16 focus groups in three different regions of the United States, with separate groups for men and women, and for Black, Caucasian, and Hispanic participants. The sample totaled 131 mothers and fathers with children aged 10-12 years old. The study reported that parents believe children are exposed to a greater number of negative influences than they were during their childhood, specifically more media exposure and peer pressure regarding sexual activities (Wilson et al., 2010). Parents reported concerns about pornography being easily accessible, negative role models in the media, sexual content of messages in music and video games, and sexuality in advertising (Wilson et al., 2010). This study also indicated that Black parents from the Northeast, particularly those who had their own children during adolescence, indicated that their pre-teenage children had already engaged in sexual activity, whereas parents from other regions did not think that their children were engaging in sexual activity (Wilson et al., 2010). Additionally, a risk mentioned only by Black

parents who reported their children were at greater risk of engaging in sexual activity was that their child attracted inappropriate attention due to experiencing puberty at an early age and appearing older than their stated age (Wilson et al., 2010). According to this study, parents believe that their children are exposed to sexuality at earlier ages through media and the internet (Wilson et al., 2010). Additionally, parents feel it is important to communicate with their children about sex, but they believe that their children are unprepared to have a conversation about sexual functioning at such an early age (10-12 years old; Wilson et al., 2010).

While parents may believe that children are unprepared to have conversations about sexual functioning at younger ages, research has indicated that parent-child communication about sex may occur after children are already engaging in sexual activity (Somers & Paulson, 2000). In 2010, Mollborn and Everett examined data from 80 U.S. high schools and 52 middle schools, totaling 11,369 individuals from the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health. It was found that 55% of parents reported that their children did not engage in sexual activity when their children actually reported being sexually active (Mollborn & Everett, 2010). These findings imply that parents may believe their children are not sexually active and that discussing sexual functioning is unnecessary even though their children are already engaging in sexual activity. Based on this research findings, parents who begin a dialogue about sexuality when their children are younger could discuss expectations, how to advocate for themselves in sexual situations, family culture and beliefs, and safety prior to sexual activity.

Some parents believe discussing sexual activity before their child is ready is inappropriate. Perceived threats of sex-related issues, perceived benefits of talking about sex, perceived barriers to talking about sex, and factors facilitating talking about sex were all themes that Wilson et al. (2010) uncovered when conducting their study. Some parents reported that they

were not going to discuss sexual functioning with their children or adolescents until their children showed an interest in it (Wilson et al., 2010). Parents who wait for their children to show an interest in sexual activity encounter difficulty because they are unaware of indicators, such as the beginning of puberty and expression in romantic relationships that may be associated with sexual activity (Wilson et al., 2010). Additionally, some parents simply wait for the children to ask questions (Wilson et al., 2010). There were varied opinions regarding the age at which parents should speak with their children about sexual functioning. Some parents believed it was better to discuss sexual functioning before a child showed interest in sexual activity to prepare the child, while other parents believed that discussing sexual functioning before a child is ready could result in emotional difficulties (Wilson et al., 2010).

Within the Wilson et al. (2010) study, many participants said that their parents had never talked to them about sex, which made it difficult to know how to discuss sexual functioning with their own children. This particular challenge in discussing sexuality with their children was mentioned by almost all fathers within every group, but it was most prominent with fathers who identified as Hispanic. Wilson et al. (2010) reported that parents who identified as Hispanic reported that American culture, which emphasizes individuality, prevents the parent from having influence over their child behavior due a conflict of cultural values. When discussing sexual functioning, cultural considerations should be taken into account, but suggestions on how to discuss sexual functioning should be generalizable across all cultures, according to Wilson et al. (2010).

Parents who identified as Hispanic in the Wilson et al. (2010) study reported that they experienced embarrassment when discussing sexuality with their children because it was not a subject openly discussed within their culture and with their parents. Santa Maria et al. (2014)

surveyed African American single parent mothers and sons who were recruited from after school programs and community health fairs. They conducted structured interviews with 23 families, with an additional 44 individual interviews. In their qualitative study, African American single mothers expressed a high level of communication about their sons' sexual health, particularly condom use. Additionally, African American young people reported more communication about sexual functioning from their parents than Hispanic adolescents (Whitaker et al, 1999). This may be due to Hispanic women reporting being unsure of how much detail to relay when discussing sexual functioning with their children and African American women reporting no concerns regarding communicating details in this area (Whitaker et al, 1999).

Adolescent Perception of Parental Messages

Exploring a parent's comfort level and the factors that encourage or discourage difficult dialogue were important aspects in helping parents become better communicators about sensitive topics, such as sex. While many studies examined parental perspectives of discussions regarding sexual functioning, other researchers have focused on adolescent perspectives of these conversations.

In 2018, Grossman et al. examined adolescent perspectives on discussions about sexual functioning with parents. They interviewed a small sample of 22 adolescents from an urban area in the northeast United States. The themes examined by the authors were the messages being communicated, motivation for discussions, barriers to discussing sex, and the process of talking about sex. The study examined the messages parents communicated during conversation, adolescent motivation to talk with family members about sex, adolescent motivation not to discuss sex with family members, and the process of communication (Grossman, et al., 2018). Grossman et al. (2018) found that when parents discussed sexual functioning with adolescents,

the primary messages perceived by adolescents were to delay sex, use protection, and avoid teenage pregnancy. However, compared to other developed nations, the United States has double the amount of teenage pregnancy and higher abortion rates (Singh & Darroch, 2000) These statistics indicated that the dialogue between parents and adolescents regarding sexual functioning does not include sexual autonomy or sexual agency over sexual experiences and remains an ineffective way to prevent teenagers from engaging in sexual activity.

Factors that motivated adolescents to have conversations about sex with their family members included learning about their family members' life experiences, ease of the conversation, and closeness of the relationship to the family member (Grossman et al., 2018).

Some of the barriers to discussing sexual functioning with family members were fear of negative reactions and the awkward nature of having the conversation (Grossman, Jenkins, & Richer, 2018).

Communication

According to several studies, family communication is a primary protective factor that can influence sexual functioning in adolescence (Grossman et al., 2014; Murry et al., 2014). For example, Jaccard and Dittus (1991) reported that unintended pregnancies have been reduced when parents and adolescents communicate about sexual functioning. Parental discussions about sexual functioning, sexual health, and sexuality can influence an adolescent's comfort level when discussing sexual history, sexual experiences, and sexual functioning (Whitaker et al., 1999)

According to Whitaker et al. (1999), the likely factors that limit parental communication about sexual health and functioning include the parent's perceptions of their child engaging in sexual activity, norms for discussing sexual functioning, knowledge regarding sexual experiences, and an adolescent's comfort level when discussing sexual functioning. All of these

factors referenced by Whitaker et al. (1999) seem to be influenced by the taboo nature of discussing sexuality in American society. Americans receive pervasive messages about sexuality from the media, contributing to sexual scripts, but openly discussing sexuality is prohibited, according to Whitaker et al. (1999). One could theorize that this dichotomy of messages can be confusing and promote unhealthy expectations of sexual functioning, particularly for adolescents.

Shoop and Davidson (1994) surveyed 80 adolescents about AIDS knowledge, sexual behavior and condom use, and their ability to communicate with a partner about AIDS-related topics. The comfort level in discussions around sexual functioning with parents seems to influence how comfortable an adolescent is talking with their partner about sex (Shoop & Davidson, 1994). Shoop and Davidson (1994) reported that compared to adolescents who discuss strictly STI-related issues and adolescents who do not discuss sexual functioning at all with their parents, those teenagers who had parents who discussed general sexual functioning felt more comfortable talking about sex with their sexual partners. While the sample size was small in the Shoop and Davidson (1994) study, it is representative of the influence parental communication can have when adolescents choose to engage in sexual activity.

Protecting children from the harmful consequences of sexual intercourse, correcting misinformation, and communicating parental values about their child engaging in sexual activity were reported as motivations for parents talking with children about sexual activity (Wilson et al., 2010). Although most parents believe talking with their children about sexual activity can delay sex, there are multiple perceived barriers to talking to children about sexual activity, which include parental perception that their children are not ready to discuss sex, lack of awareness of how to approach talking about sexual functioning, parental lack of energy or time, lack of

reciprocity from the child, embarrassment or discomfort for the parent, unawareness about the need to have a conversation about sexual functioning, and familial dysfunction (Wilson et al., 2010)

Wilson et al. (2010) reported that the optimal communication process involved parents giving teenagers advice, adults sharing information, adolescents asking questions, adult family members asking questions of the teenager, the adolescent sharing information with the adult, and the adult talking about their experiences. This dialogue process demonstrates the open and reciprocal nature of communication that facilitates positive interactions with adolescents surrounding sexual functioning (Wilson et al., 2010).

Gender-Specific Communication

When examining how parents communicate with children and adolescents about sexual functioning, some research has examined parental communication in terms of gender (Lehr et al., 2005; Russell, 2005). Several studies have reported that mothers discuss sexuality with adolescents more often than fathers. However, this parental gender difference is often affected by the gender of the adolescent, according to Wilson and Koo (2010). Wilson and Koo (2010) surveyed 829 fathers and 1,113 mothers nationally via online questionnaire and examined the influence of the adolescent's gender on the discussion of sexuality. They discovered that mothers and fathers discuss sexual functioning with the same amount of frequency with sons. However, this study also reported that fathers rarely talk with their daughters about sexuality and sexual functioning, while mothers discuss sexuality with daughters more often than with sons. Fathers often report a more difficult time than mothers initiating conversations about sexual functioning with their children due to fear that they may not have the knowledge or are unsure how to answer questions related to values held regarding sex. Based on these findings, it appears that adolescent

girls receive the most communication regarding sexual functioning from their mothers (Wilson & Koo, 2010; Wilson et al., 2010).

Quality of Parental Relationship

The more positive the parent-adolescent relationship, the more open the communication about sexual functioning. The opposite is also true. The more negative the parental relationship, the less communication there is about sex in adolescence (Rosenthal et al., 2001).

Whitaker et al. (1999) interviewed 372 pairs of mothers and self-reported sexually active adolescents from Alabama, New York, and Puerto Rico. Using factor analysis, they examined sexuality and risk discussions, parental responsiveness, partner communication, and condom use. The results of this study indicated that, overall, an adolescent is more likely to communicate with their partner about sexuality, risk, and condom use when they have previously discussed those topics with their parents (Whitaker et al., 1999). Specifically, Whitaker et al. found a significant increase in adolescent communication with their partners if the parental responsiveness was high; parental responsiveness in the study was defined by a parent's comfort, openness, and skill level when discussing sexuality and sexual functioning (Whitaker et al., 1999). These results indicated that adolescents with parents who can be more responsive to their needs and questions about sexual functioning and who communicate in an open way about sexuality are more likely to be communicative with their partners and more likely to use a condom during intercourse.

Consistent with many previous research studies, Afifi et al. (2008) looked at 112 parentadolescent dyads from both families with parents living in the same household, as well as parents
who are divorced and separated parents. Most of the participants were White and from the
Northeastern part of the United States. The study found that the quality of the relationship
between the parent and the child influenced how anxious or avoidant the child was during the

conversation regarding sexual functioning. Parents who can be receptive, informal, and composed during conversations with adolescents about sexual functioning create an environment for the teenager to experience less anxiety and, in turn, be less avoidant when discussing sexual functioning (Afifi et al., 2008). This study also indicated that if a child perceived the parent to be uncomfortable or not competent about sexual activity, the child's anxiety increases (Afifi et al., 2008).

However, Rosenthal et al. (2001) observed a "disengaged" style as well. They provided questionnaires to adolescents who were in grades 8 through 10, surveying the frequency of parental communication about sexuality and the communicative style of their parents when discussing sexuality. In general, the participants reported that their overall quality of communication with their parents was positive, but there was little to no discussion of sexuality, describing these parents as "disengaged". The study also reported some fathers fell into the category of "inconsistent" communicators, meaning these fathers communicated with their children more frequently than other fathers, but their overall communication style was ineffective. Overall, if the parent has positive communication styles, then positive conversations about sexuality are more likely.

Influences on Sexual Functioning

While parental communication is a major factor that influences sexual functioning, other factors are also considered when examining the influences on female sexual functioning. School-based sexual education, religion, and family culture can all effect sexual functioning for women.

School-Based Sexual Education

While many parents support the idea that their children should receive sexual health information, there are fundamental criticisms of the current literature provided by the U.S. public school systems. Since 1996, most federally funded sex-education policies have promoted abstinence until marriage (GAO, 2006), except for a one-year break during the Obama administration. According to data collected by Guttmacher (2010), 32 states do not include contraception and condom use in their sex-education curriculum, aligning with the belief that such topics are discussed at home and do not need to be discussed in the classroom setting (Luker, 2006). According to Landry et al. (1999), 14% of public school-based sexuality education (SBSE) includes information regarding all contraceptives and STIs while 35% to 51% of SBSE are abstinence-centered or abstinence-only. Fine (1988) observed that the underlying beliefs that drive conversations during SBSE are fear-based. This means that SBSE communicates reasons why an individual should not engage in sexual activity rather than discussing safe options to engage in sexual activity if one chooses. SBSE also may not include explanations of consent or sexual agency. Although the content of abstinence-only found in current SBSE is over several decades old, it is still taught in both the classroom and online (Bay-Cheng, 2001). It is important to note that while this research is decades old, there seems to have been very few changes to SBSE. In fact, in 2010, Guttmacher reported that abstinence until marriage is still the basis for SBSE, indicating the need to review and update the SBSE curriculum to reflect current culture to become a more inclusive and progressive program.

Additionally, the underlying beliefs of SBSE and the way SBSE is presented also make providing support and guidance for adolescents who encounter sexual situations difficult for educators (Ehrhardt, 1996; Kyman, 1998; Tolman, 1999; Welsh et al., 2000). Morris (1994)

presented the idea that sexuality should be a healthy aspect of life that changes throughout a person's lifetime, and valuable adults in the adolescents' lives should help guide them in their autonomy of saying "yes" and saying "no" to sexual activities. Approaching sexual activity in this way promotes a healthy positive autonomy over one's own sexuality and sexual health.

In her review of SBSE curriculum, Fine (1988) noted that the United States does not promote a positive approach to sexual functioning, and SBSE does not address the components such as desire or pleasure, particularly for adolescent girls. Fine's literature review led to other research on adolescent sexual desire and sexual agency. Buzwell and Rosenthal (1996) proposed that sexual self-efficacy is made up of the ability to say "no" in sexual situations, the ability to communicate sexual desires and wishes, and the ability and willingness to exercise precautionary measures (e.g., using contraceptives). Other research has theorized that including desire in SBSE allows for sexual agency and self-efficacy, promoting ownership for one's body (Tolman, 1994). Wyatt and Riederle (1994) reasoned that adolescents are unable to protect their own sexual interests without practicing and understanding their own sexual agency. The idea that current SBSE presents, namely that adolescent girls should not be sexual and do not have sexual desires, leads to women not understanding their own sexual experience and autonomy, leading to possible victimization (Raymond, 1994).

The variety of sexual behaviors and the different aspects of sexual engagement are other aspects of sexual functioning that SBSE does not address (Whatley, 1992). Failure to discuss the different ways sexual engagement can occur can allow for misinformation regarding the need for safety in different forms of sexual intercourse (Netting, 1992). In 2001, Cheng expanded on the evaluation of SBSE, reporting that SBSE emphasizes the dangers of adolescent sexual activity. Furthermore, Bay-Cheng (2003) critiqued SBSE, citing that the current curriculum does not

discuss sexuality as a social construct and operates within a narrow definition of sexuality. The conversation in SBSE is typically centered around monogamous, cisgendered relationships involving vaginal intercourse and is not inclusive to other sexual experiences or partnerships (Peplau et al. 1993). According to Bay-Cheng (2001), all of these criticisms indicate that SBSE programs continue to fail in informing and empowering adolescents to participate in healthy and responsible choices in their sexual functioning.

Religion

In general, religion has been shown to influence sexuality for adults (Hernandez et al., 2011; Hunt & Jung, 2009). Numerous studies demonstrate that parental values and attitudes toward sexuality, along with parent-child communication, have an important effect on initial intercourse experience (Jaccard et al., 1996; Luster & Small, 1997; Miller et al., 1998, 1999). Considering religious practices as a part of parental values is important when discussing the development of healthy sexual functioning in adulthood.

Regnerus (2005) examined a national sample from the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health from 7th to 12th grade totaling 11,272 individuals including adolescents, parents, siblings, friends, romantic partners, fellow students, and school administrators.

Additionally, Regnerus (2005) used data from the National Study of Youth and Religion, which is a national telephone survey of 3,290 U.S. adolescents between the ages of 13 and 17 and their parents. This study's findings suggested that when parents are publicly religious, this curbs the number of conversations about sex and birth control that a parent has with their child (Regnerus, 2005). According to this study, age, race, and gender shape communication patterns most consistently, despite religious affiliation (Regnerus, 2005). However, parents who identify as religious or conservative are not necessarily opposed to their child learning about sexual

intercourse. A survey by Eisenberg et al. (2008) found 89% of American parents, 83% of bornagain Christian parents, and 51% of politically "very conservative" parents support comprehensive school sex education. Typically, most religious organizations encourage parents to speak with their children about sexual functioning (Stephens, 2009), but more than half of the sample surveyed by Rosenbaum and Weathersbee (2013) reported that they did not learn about menstruation, pregnancy, intercourse, or birth control from their families and 25% reported no family discussion regarding sexual ethics or sexual relationships. Of the participants, 67.5% reported that they learned about STIs from school, followed by peers at 32.4%, while only 13.9% of people learned about STIs from their parents (Rosenbaum & Weathersbee, 2013). Peers were the primary source of information about vaginal sex (73.5%) and oral sex (75.5%) (Rosenbaum & Weathersbee, 2013). Church and parents reportedly provided guidelines for "good" and "bad" behavior, or morality, for 70% of participants in the Rosenbaum and Weathersbee study, which indicates that church and parents are a major source of influence in guiding attitudes about sexual activity. About two-thirds (65%) of respondents in the study supported secular school sex education and, interestingly, only those participants who had experience with sex education reported to be in support of it.

Abstinence and Religion. When examining values, religion plays a major role in the decision to abstain from sexual activity. For those adults who do not identify as religious, engaging in sexual activity when one is not married is relatively common. Chandra et al. (2005) reported that 85% of married women had intercourse before marriage. According to a study by Finer (2007), 75% of people had had premarital sex by age 20, and 95% of respondents had had premarital sex by age 44. Between 1964 and 1993, 91% of women had had premarital sex by age 30 (Finer, 2007). These studies indicate that it is a relatively common practice for women to

engage in sexual activity prior to marriage and as a person ages, they are more likely to engage in intercourse.

In a 2013 study, Rosenbaum and Weathersbee measured the prevalence of premarital sexual behaviors by newly married (fewer than five years) individuals who attended nine Southern Baptist churches in Texas. More than 70% of the 151 respondents reported having oral or vaginal sex prior to marriage. Specifically, women who married before they were 21 years old and men and women who married after age 25 admitted to premarital sexual activity (Rosenbaum & Weathersbee, 2013). When just focusing on individuals who married after age 25, the percentage of sexual activity increased to over 80% of respondents (Rosenbaum & Weathersbee, 2013). Compared to individuals who do not identify as religious, the men and women who were married after age 24 and identified as "born again" participated in premarital sexual activity at the same rate (Rosenbaum & Weathersbee, 2013). According to Finer (2007), approximately 75% of both populations (religious and non-religious) have engaged in sexual activity by age 24. Some respondents in the Rosenbaum and Weathersbee (2013) study abstained from sexual activity until marriage, but a majority of people did not, indicating that religious affiliation does not necessarily prevent one from engaging in sexual activity as an adolescent or young adult.

Interestingly, Rosenbaum and Weathersbee (2013) reported that the women respondents engaged in sexual activity at younger and greater rates than men. Rosenbaum and Weathersbee found that 92% of women who married between the ages of 16-20 and 85% of women who married after 24 engaged in sexual intercourse before marriage. However, some women who married at an early age (16-20) reported experiencing pregnancy, which led to marriage (Rosenbaum & Weathersbee, 2013).

It is unknown if adolescents who identify as highly religious (Haglund & Fehring, 2009; Hardy & Raffaelli, 2003; Lammers et al., 2000; Meier 2003; Rostosky et al., 2003) attend religious services (Nonnemaker et al., 2003; Santelli & Peter, 1992), pray often (Laflin et al., 2008; Nonnemaker et al., 2003) and are a part of families that identify as religious (Manlove, et al., 2006, 2008) delay sexual activity until marriage. According to Bearman and Bruckner (2005), adolescents may engage in oral sex instead of vaginal intercourse to preserve "technical virginity" (Gagnon & Simon, 1987; Reiss, 1960; Uecker, et al. 2008). In Rosenbaum and Weathersbee's 2013 study, the substitution of oral for vaginal sex was more frequent in respondents who married at ages 21-24. Lindberg et al. (2008) discovered that engaging in oral sex instead of vaginal intercourse mostly occurs with initial sexual partners. The participants in Lindberg et al.'s (2008) study who married later in life reported more sexual partners than those who married at an earlier age, which indicated that people who marry later in life engage in vaginal intercourse instead of just oral intercourse. Respondents who married earlier had fewer past sexual partners, whereas respondents who married later had more time to accumulate additional sexual partners and stop substituting oral for vaginal sex.

Feelings about Sex and Religion. Research on religion and sex has identified a connection between religious affiliation and feelings of guilt and fear related to sexual experimentation in adolescence and sex before marriage (Garceau & Ronis, 2017). In multiple studies, those who identified themselves as Christian or Catholic held the view that sexual intercourse should be an intimate relationship between spouses within the confines of marriage and that sex is reflective of the individual's character and relationship with God (Eleuteri & Farulla, 2016; Jones & Hostler, 2002; Lenow, 2018). More than 80% of those who were sexually active before marriage reported regretting and feeling guilty about their sexual experiences,

indicating religion may not influence abstaining from sexual activity in adolescence but does moderate feelings regarding engagement in sexual activity in adolescence (Rosenbaum & Weathersbee, 2013).

Allen and Brooks (2012) had 95 undergraduate students (67 females, 28 males) in a global issues human sexuality course write narratives on sexuality and religion over the course of five years. Students were aged 18 to 22, and were of diverse backgrounds, religions, and ethnicities. Allen and Brooks (2012) reported that young women who reported a strong influence of organized religion in their childhood thought they were solely responsible for maintaining "sexual purity." Young men who participated in the study who also reported a strong influence of organized religion in their childhood cited beliefs that allowed them to have more sexual activity, which was consistent with the findings of Risman and Schwartz (2002) (Allen & Brooks, 2012). According to Allen and Brooks' (2012) study, young men begin to rely on their own perceptions of belief and religion as they age, while young women typically retain their previously held religious affiliations consistent with their parental belief systems and practices. These findings suggest different societal expectations for men and women in maintaining their "sexual purity" and the different behavior standards to which society holds men and women. The students who participated in this study reported that their own attitudes about sexuality came from how their family and religion taught what was sexually appropriate (Allen & Brooks, 2012). Allen and Brooks also uncovered an additional finding that students believed they did not receive sufficient education regarding sexuality during younger adolescence.

Family Culture

Family culture is also considered when examining the influences on adolescent sexual activity. Family culture includes family rules, parental supervision of dating activities (Hogan &

Kitagawa, 1985), and routines (Danziger, 1995; Ku et al., 1993). These factors correlate with adolescents having fewer sexual partners, abstaining from intercourse, and waiting to engage in sexual activities.

Past research has examined factors that contribute to adolescents engaging in sexual activity and factors that influence adolescents' decisions to abstain from sexual activity (Miller, 2002; Miller et al., 1998; Miller et al., 2001). These studies have examined variables, such as parental warmth, parent-child closeness, support, and connectedness, and how these factors influence sexual activity in adolescence. Most studies reported that parent-child closeness is associated with both genders postponing sexual activity and consistent use of contraception (Jaccard et al., 1996; Resnick et al., 1997; Weinstein & Thornton, 1989). Encouraging educational achievement, developing prosocial skills, and helping adolescents gain a sense of self-worth and competence, are additional positive effects of parent-child closeness (Ramirez-Valles et al., 1998), which understandably increases healthy sexual functioning for women.

While parental communication and relationship greatly influences adolescent sexual functioning, studies have also found that when parental control is excessive or coercive, it is associated with negative outcomes (Barber, 1996; Gray & Steinberg, 1999). Other studies have found that parents' attempts to exert psychological control over their female daughters can lead to high-risk sexual behaviors (Rodgers, 1999). Additionally, other studies concluded that an intrusive mother-child relationship was linked to earlier sexual intercourse (Dorius & Barber, 1998).

Many parents believe simply discussing sexual functioning with children is not the only way to influence behavior (Wilson et al., 2010). Participants in the Wilson et al. (2010) study reported that setting a good example for their children, monitoring the child's daily activities,

instilling values, establishing rules, enforcing discipline, and keeping them busy, may be more effective than having a conversation about sex.

While parents believe their children should receive information regarding sexual functioning (Peter et al., 2015), many parents are unsure and unclear about when or how they should have conversations about sexual functioning (Wilson et al., 2010). Due to this uncertainty, many parents do not have conversations about sexuality or sexual functioning with their children (Eastman et al., 2005, Guilamo-Ramos et al., 2006) and children and adolescents begin to discuss sexual functioning topics with peers (Walker, 2001). When parents choose to have conversations with adolescents, the messages teens report hearing are delay sex, use protection, and avoid teenage pregnancy (Grossman et al., 2018).

There are many influences aside from parental communication that also affect attitudes surrounding sexual functioning in adolescence. Those influences include family culture, religion, and information received through sexual education in school. However, parental communication about sexual functioning has been shown to reduce pregnancy in adolescence (Jaccard & Dittus, 1991) and be an overall protective factor in teenage girls' sexual behavior and health (Grossman et al., 2014). For example, adolescents whose parents have discussed sex with them are much more likely to discuss sexual topics with a partner (Whitaker et al., 1999). Additionally, the quality of the child-parent relationship is an influential factor on a child's feelings surrounding sexual activity and discussing sexual functioning (Afifi et al., 2008).

Sexual development in adolescence has shown to be influenced by parental communication. By examining how parents perceive conversations about sexual functioning with adolescence, it was determined that, while parents believe children are exposed to sexuality at earlier ages due to media and internet access, their children are not ready or unwilling to have

conversations about sexual functioning at early ages, even though, often times, children are already discussing such topics with their peers, or they are having sexual experiences. The quality of parental communication has also been examined in the literature and parental attempts to have conversations about sexual functioning and the level of comfort that an adolescent experience correlates to the adult being comfortable with the subject of sexual functioning (Afifi et al., 2008). However, if the adult is knowledgeable about female sexual functioning and there is a close relationship that has already been established with the adolescent, parental conversations regarding sexual functioning can positively influence an adolescent's feelings about sexual activity and their own sexual functioning (Whitaker et al., 1999). Parental communication was also found to be influenced by both the parent's gender and the child's gender (Wilson and Koo, 2010). It was found that, for sons, mothers and fathers communicate about sexual functioning at equal rates (Wilson & Koo, 2010). However, mothers communicate about sexual functioning with their daughters at significantly greater rates than fathers (Wilson & Koo, 2010). The quality of the parental relationship was discovered to be one of the most important aspects of positively influencing sexual functioning (Whitaker et al., 1999). Other influences on an adolescents sexual functioning were also examined in the literature including, school based sexual education, religious affiliation, and family culture. It was uncovered that abstinence based SBSE curriculum has major shortcomings and has proven to be an ineffective way to reduce the number of STI transmissions and teenage pregnancy rates (Guttmacher, 2010). While religion has many positive influences, research studies have found that religious affiliation does not stop adolescents from engage in premarital activity, rather, influences feelings of guilt after an individual engages in sexual activity before entering into a marital institution (Rosenbaum & Weathersbee, 2013). Finally, the influence of family culture was examined and found to have both positive and

negative effects, dependent upon the family culture. If family dynamics are shown to be supportive and autonomy granting an adolescent tends to make responsible choices regarding sexual functioning (Barber, 1996; Gray & Steinberg, 1999). Family culture that is invasive, demanding, or passive has shown to have negative impacts on an adolescent's choices (Dorius & Barber, 1998).

CHAPTER III: HOW DO PARENT-CHILD RELATIONSHIPS, INCLUDING PARENTING AND ATTACHMENT STYLES, INFLUENCE SEXUAL FUNCTIONING IN ADULTHOOD?

Effects of Childhood Experiences on General Functioning

Since the 1960s, research exploring the effects of parenting on childhood adjustment has been a prominent area of study. Decades of studies have shown how parenting and attachment affect both childhood behavior and adolescent decision-making (Baumrind, 1966, 1971). It is widely accepted that childhood experiences shape how we function in adulthood, and there are numerous research studies on the associations of childhood experiences and how those experiences shape overall functioning in adulthood (Dube et al., 2001; Herman et al., 1997).

One example of how childhood experiences can shape adult behaviors is the effect of childhood abuse or parental loss on mental health later in life. According to Dube et al. (2001), individuals who have experienced sexual, emotional, or physical abuse in their childhood are three to five times more likely to attempt suicide than individuals who never attempted suicide. Although this study did not examine the U.S. population, Guldin et al. (2015) found that those individuals in Sweden whose parents died before the age of 18 were twice as likely to die by suicide than those whose parents were alive through childhood. Additionally, an examination of subjects in Sweden found an increase in hospitalization from a suicide attempt in young adulthood was associated with parental loss in childhood (Rostila et al., 2016).

According to Gerhardt (2006), high cortisol levels are found in infants and young children exposed to chronically stressful environments, which can lead in adulthood to aggressive behavior, drug and alcohol use, and difficulty managing emotions in stressful and sensitive

situations. Additionally, these high levels of cortisol in childhood can leave structural damage to the brain in areas that develop in childhood (Gerhardt, 2006). Those children who grow up in tumultuous, stressful environments have physically different brain structures than those infants and young children from calm, nurturing environments (Gerhardt, 2006). Not only do stressful, neglectful, abusive environments change an individual's physical makeup, they also change emotional responses, behaviors, and overall functioning in adulthood.

Adverse childhood experiences (ACEs)

Many studies have examined adverse childhood experiences (ACEs), which are negative or traumatic experiences in childhood, and how they influence functioning in adulthood (Kessler & Magee, 1993). ACEs include witnessing intimate partner violence as a child, experiencing neglect, or experiencing physical or sexual abuse (Murry et al., 2013). Poor physical, mental health and risky behaviors in adulthood have been linked to ACEs (Finkelor, 1990). Studies have shown that homelessness in adulthood (Herman et al., 1997), unintended pregnancies in young adulthood (Hillis et al., 2001), suicidality (Dube et al., 2001), eating disorders (Felitti et al., 1998; Middlebrooks & Audage, 2008), and drug use (Dube et al., 2003) have all been associated with ACEs.

When examining sexual functioning in association with ACEs, riskier sexual behaviors such as higher number of STIs, engaging in anal intercourse without condom use, and engaging in sexual activity in exchange for money or drugs (Fang et al., 2016; Hillis et al., 2001) are typically associated with a higher number of ACEs. Traumatic experiences and neglect in childhood in the United States are associated with initiating one's own sexual experiences at an earlier age, especially for women and minority populations compared to men who identify as heterosexual (Brown et al., 2015). Studies have indicated that sexual initiation before the age of

15 (early sexual initiation) increases the risk of STIs throughout a lifetime and pregnancy during adolescence (Kaplan et al., 2013; Magnusson et al., 2011) and has also been linked to ACEs (Brown et al., 2015). Sexual violence later in life is also associated with early sexual initiation (Stockman et al., 2010). Consistent with previous research, the behaviors learned during early sexual experiences, such as consistent use of contraceptives and communication with a partner, influence sexual behaviors in adulthood (Baumgartner et al., 2009). Long-term health difficulties are more persistent in women who have experienced a high number of ACEs compared to men (Brown et al., 2015; Hillis et al., 2001). Overall, there has been consistent research indicating that the higher number of ACE scores, the higher the possibility that an individual will experience specific difficulties in adulthood.

Diversity Considerations

While examining the correlation between ACEs and functioning in adulthood is impactful, it is important to note the disparities in the research concerning ethnicities in minority populations (Thompson,1990). Most research reports the correlation between ACE scores and certain sexual behaviors but fails to report additional considerations when discussing sexual behavior, particularly for Black adolescents (Ward & Wyatt, 1994). Siddiqi et al. (2015) reported that Black women are five times more likely to experience childhood abuse than White women. Finer and Philbin (2014) reported that Black adolescents engage in sexual activity at a younger age than White teenagers. According to Finer and Philbin (2014), on average, in the United States, the age of initial sexual engagement is 17 years old. Kann et al. (2018) reported that 8% of Black adolescents and 2% of White adolescents report initial sexual engagement before age 13. Much of the research examining early sexual initiation in the Black populations is rarely conducted in the United States. Conversely, the majority of this research has been completed in

countries outside of the United States, indicating a need for extensive research in the area of ACEs and sexual victimization in childhood as it relates to sexual initiation for Black Americans.

Tsuyuki et al. (2019) examined a small sample of Black women in one city in the northeast United States and found a high prevalence of early sexual experiences, with approximately 12% reporting they engaged in sexual activity at a very early age (11-12 years old) and 29% at an early age (13-14 years old). A common factor that Tsuyuki et al. (2019) found was that children who reported experiencing sexual activity in early adolescence were forced or pressured to engage in said sexual activity. Although this study's wording of "early sexual initiation" implies that the child initiated sexual activity and willingly engaged in sexual behaviors, after further examination, it is clear that the majority of children and adolescents who reported early sexual experiences were victimized. Tsuyuki et al. reported that specific ACEs correlated to children engaging in sexual activity at an early age were primarily experiencing abuse, witnessing maternal abuse, and living in a household where someone misused substances. Outside of the Tsuyuki et al. study, very few studies examine the associations of ACEs and sexual engagement for Black women in America, and this lack of research represents a disservice to a marginalized and victimized group of people by researchers. Clearly, more research on the correlation, causation, and effective interventions within this minority community is needed.

As discussed previously, studies have shown that younger adolescents who engage in sexual activity with a partner are at a greater risk of contracting a STI. Tsuyuki et al.'s (2019) results aligned with this previous research. However, many studies failed to explore the factors that contribute to risky sexual behavior. Adolescents could be engaging in risky sexual behavior due to the lack of knowledge of female anatomy, restricted access to contraception, and more

likely, from victimization of sexual assault in childhood (Tsuyuki et al., 2019). Furthermore, engagement in sexual activity at an early age in Black adolescent females should not be considered an act of promiscuity, but a behavior resulting from possible unreported victimization.

Attachment and Parenting Styles

As discussed previously, parents typically communicate about sex by telling their child not to engage in certain activities and warning their child about the dangers of risky sexual behaviors (Baxter et al., 2009). There is evidence that the quality of the communication, as measured by the child's comfort level, is also an important component of communication about sex (Eastman et al., 2005). There is also a relationship between the adolescents' perception of the quality of parent-child communication and the initiation of sexual activity (Karoksky et al., 2000). Adolescents who perceived the communication to be of better quality delayed sexual activity (Guilamo-Ramos et al., 2006; Karoksky et al., 2000). Parenting style may be linked to the quality of the communication, which would suggest the importance of taking parenting style into account when designing interventions to encourage parent-child communication about sex. The frequency of discussions about sex has been assessed previously and has been found to be beneficial.

Attachment Styles

Only relatively recently have studies begun to examine the role of attachment styles in adult romantic relationships (Collins & Read, 1990; Hazan & Shaver, 1987). However, many studies have examined adult sexual functioning from the lens of attachment style in childhood. According to attachment theory, children create their own internal models of how intimate

relationships, or cognitive-affective representations, function based on their interactions with caregivers as infants and young children (Bowlby, 1973, 1985; Rutter, 2002). While early attachment theory studied young children's internal model of relationships by observing the separation and reunification of child and caregiver (Ainsworth et al., 1978), more recent research has investigated adult representations of childhood experiences with their own parents (Main, 1991).

Out of the research of Ainsworth & Bell (1970), along with Bowlby (1969), developed three attachment styles of secure, avoidant-resistant, and anxious-resistant. In 1986, Main and Solomon added to this attachment style theory to include disorganized attachment to round out the four primary attachment styles we know today, which are secure, ambivalent, avoidant, and disorganized, with the latter three categories being insecure attachments (Ainsworth et al., 1978).

A secure attachment has been linked to characteristics of higher self-esteem, independence and autonomy, resiliency, along with trust and intimacy in relationships (Sroufe, 2005). Secure attachment style is described as a parent meeting the needs of security, safety, affection, and understanding and responding their child's needs (Bowlby, 1969). Avoidant style of attachment can be characterized as a child who may avoid parents, does not seek comfort for parents and shows parents little preference over other people (Bowlby, 1969). Parental behaviors in an avoidant attachment style are described as a parent ignoring or rejecting a child's efforts to seek safety and security when they are in distress, therefore a child begins to learn that their caregiver is unable to meet their needs and they stop seeking a parent out to meet their needs (Ainsworth et al., 1978). Ambivalent attachment style is described as a child who becomes distraught at their parent's absence and is unable to continue in their activities, cannot be comforted when parents attempt to offer comfort or will reject the parent, and the child is

suspicious of strangers (Ainsworth et al., 1978). Parenting behaviors that align with an ambivalent attachment style is when a parent is unable to comfort and create safety and security for their child who is distressed, which in turn can create a lack of emotional regulation for the child (Cassidy & Berlin, 1994). A disorganized attachment style is described as a lack of a clear attachment style. This lack of clear attachment style most likely steams from parenting behaviors that were inconsistent, such as responding to distress at times, but cries go ignored at other times, yelling at a child to stop crying, or soothing then yelling at a child for the same behavior (Reisz, Duschinsky, & Siegel, 2018).

In Ainsworth's Strange Situation those children who display a secure attachment to their caregivers explores the room when the caregiver is present, is somewhat distressed when the caregiver leaves but still explores, avoidant of a stranger but friendly when caregiver is present and reunites with the caregiver when they return (Ainsworth & Bell, 1970). Those children who display avoidant attachment, show no distress when their caregiver leaves, plays normally with a stranger present, and shows little interest in reuniting with the caregiver (Ainsworth & Bell, 1970). A child that demonstrates an ambivalent attachment is in intense distress when a caregiver leaves the room, the child will avoid a stranger, and upon reunification the child will approach the caregiver, but also show resistance to reuniting (Ainsworth & Bell, 1970).

Hazan and Shaver (1987) presented the idea that attachment in childhood influences adult behaviors in romantic relationships. Research has shown when individuals are securely attached to their caregivers in childhood, those individuals retain the belief that relationships and people are consistent and reliable (Bretherton, 1985; Crowell et al., 1999). When compared to people who are high in attachment-related anxiety or avoidance, individuals who are securely attached

are more likely to engage in healthy sexual relationships (Birnbaum, 2015; Brennan & Shaver, 1995; Dewitte, 2012).

Hazan and Shaver (1987) described that individuals who are anxious-avoidant in relationships tend to view others as unreliable, which leads to self-reliance and emotional detachment from others. Those who are anxious-ambivalent in relationships tend to evaluate their self-worth based upon the opinions and acceptance of others (Dozier & Kobak, 1992). Individuals who fall within this category of attachment tend to report higher anxiety levels in relationships (Dozier & Kobak, 1992). Disorganized attachment was not included in the Hazan and Shaver study, but other research has indicated that those individuals with a disorganized attachment style tend to desire close relationships with others, but fear rejection, and can struggle significantly with emotional regulation (Beeny, et al., 2017).

Attachment Styles and Sexual Functioning

When examining the current literature, there has been limited research into sexual functioning and attachment style and sexual functioning and parental communication. However, according to Dewitte (2012), attachment style impacts how individuals interact sexually. Multiple studies have indicated that those individuals who are securely attached prefer monogamous sexual activity in committed relationships (Brennan & Shaver, 1995; Dewitte, 2012; Stephan & Bachman, 1999). Mikulincer and Shaver (2003) uncovered similar findings indicating that long-term intimate relationships are preferred over casual dating relationships by securely attached individuals. All these findings speak to individuals who are securely attached having a positive self-view and a positive outlook on intimate relationships, which transfers to sexual intimacy (Brassard et al., 2015; Cyranowski & Anderson, 1998). Securely attached

individuals associate positive feelings with sexual activity more than those who are insecurely attached (Tracy et al., 2003).

Stefanou and McCabe (2012) reported that attachment security was related to higher levels of sexual satisfaction and lower levels of sexual dysfunction. Individuals who are securely attached were found to engage in sexual activity to express love for their partner and enhance connection (Stefanou & McCabe, 2012). While these studies indicate that attachment contributes to healthy sexual functioning, the definition of "healthy sexual functioning" influences such studies and their conclusions by working off the assumption that engaging in sexual activity to express love and enhance attachment is indicative of secure attachment.

Studies have indicated that insecurely attached individuals have maladaptive behaviors in their intimate relationships such as controlling behaviors, being unfaithful in monogamous relationships, and being preoccupied with the other person (Bogaert & Sadava, 2002; Hazan & Shaver, 1987). Sexually, those who are insecurely attached may engage in sexual activity to avoid abandonment, gain reassurance and approval, or form a sense of security (Cooper et al., 2006; Stefanou & McCabe, 2012; Tracy et al., 2003). Individuals who experience insecure attachments experience more negative thoughts and feelings regarding sexual functioning and evaluate themselves as less sexually attractive than those who are securely attached (Birnbaum, 2007). Insecurely attached individuals are more likely to engage in unsafe sexual practices (Feeney et al., 2000). Other studies have shown that those who are insecurely attached dislike physical affection and prefer sexual positions that are less intimate (Brennan et al., 1998; Hazan et al., 1994). Further, for insecurely attached individuals, sexual activity is associated with more negative emotions (Tracy et al., 2003). Other studies have indicated that those individuals who

engage in casual sexual experiences with short-term partners are insecurely attached (Stephan & Bachman, 1999).

Goldsmith et al. (2016) surveyed 455 undergraduate students and young adults via an online questionnaire measuring attachment style, sexual communication, gender role ideology, and sexual satisfaction. Goldsmith et al. (2016) found similar findings to Tracy et al. (2003), which indicated that women experience lower sexual satisfaction when they have insecure attachment, particularly avoidance. Goldsmith et al. (2016) also indicated that lower sexual communication and rigid gender role adherence occur with individuals who have insecure attachments (Dewitte, 2012; Gentzler & Kerns, 2004; Stefanou & McCabe, 2012). For women with insecure attachments, lower communication in a sexual context and a more rigid gender role adherence relate to sexual satisfaction, but this was not observed in men (Goldsmith et al., 2016).

Specifically, individuals who engage in avoidant attachment behaviors are, in general, less likely to communicate with their intimate partners (Hazan & Shaver, 1987; Wegner et al., 2018), and those individuals who engage in ambivalent attachment behaviors are more likely to communicate less to avoid any negative reactions from their partners (Pietromonaco et al., 2004). Based on the overall lack of communication in insecure attachment styles, it has been suggested that communication regarding sexual functioning and sexual satisfaction is also minimal (Goldsmith et al., 2016).

Attachment Styles and Gender

Another notable difference in attachment style is attitude toward gender roles. Women who demonstrate an ambivalent attachment style typically hold a less progressive view of gender roles (Greene & Faulkner, 2005), but women who demonstrate an avoidant attachment style in intimate relationships do not demonstrate the same ideology (Goldsmith et al., 2016).

Overall, numerous studies have indicated that an insecure attachment style negatively influences sexual communication and, therefore, may negatively influence sexual satisfaction (Davis et al., 2006; Goldsmith et al., 2016; Leclerc et al., 2015). Women who demonstrate secure attachment styles are more likely to communicate in more positive ways about sexual functioning, which is highly correlated to sexual satisfaction (MacNeil & Byers, 2009).

Parenting Styles

Parenting style research grew out of the many years of research of attachment theory.

Parenting style is a theoretical model used to examine the effectiveness and quality of parentchild communication (Stephenson et al., 2005), which includes the lens of how healthy sexual
functioning is impacted in adulthood. Parenting styles have been categorized to understand the
quality of parent-child relationships and communication. Initially developed in the 1960s by
Diana Baumrind (1966), and further explored in the 1980s by Maccoby and Martin (1983), four
types of parenting styles emerged: authoritative, authoritarian, permissive, and uninvolved.

In addition to the four parenting styles categorized in the 1960-1980s, Maccoby and Martin (1983) included two dimensions when categorizing parenting styles: demandingness and responsiveness. Demandingness is defined as the amount of control the parent attempts to exert over their child, while responsiveness is categorized by the emotional and physical warmth a parent displays toward the child (Rodriguez et al., 2009). Using the lens of demanding and responding, they expanded on and more clearly defined the existing parenting styles (Maccoby & Martin, 1983). The authors defined four parenting styles: authoritative (high demandingness and high responsiveness), authoritarian (high demandingness and low responsiveness), indulgent (low demandingness and high responsiveness), and neglectful (low demandingness and low responsiveness; Maccoby & Martin, 1983).

Levels of responsiveness (warmth), demandingness (parental control), and autonomy-granting all vary within each parenting style, and these factors relate to outcomes of child functioning (Rodriguez et al., 2009). Broderick and Blewitt (2003) described warmth as listening to the child, being supportive, and being interested in who the child is and the activities they enjoy. The amount of control and expectations for behavior, rules and standards, and the enforcement of those rules refer to demandingness (Broderick & Blewitt, 2003). Autonomy within the family is when a child can have and express their own ideas and opinions within the family and have these accepted and respected (Steinberg et al., 1994).

Authoritarian parenting (high demandingness and low responsiveness) often includes attempts by parents to control and evaluate their children's behavior based on a rigid set of standards (Baumrind, 1966, 1967). Parents in the authoritarian category tend to lack responsiveness to a child and are very demanding (Baumrind, 1967). They often are described as inflexible with rules and unable to negotiate restrictions as their child ages. Authoritarian parenting styles are associated with increased child psychopathology rates (Chang et al., 2003; Shelton et al., 1996).

Baumrind (1966) described permissive parents (low demandingness and high responsiveness) as warm, not controlling, and giving too much autonomy. Parents who identify as permissive place very little demands on their child (Baumrind, 1967). Permissive parents often focus on warmth and nurturing, allowing children to create autonomy early on with no structure or guidance from them. They could often feel that having a "close" or enmeshed relationship with their child is healthy and desired instead of creating a balance in the relationship.

Baumrind (1989, 1991) expanded her parenting style categories based on Maccoby and Martin's (1983) research to include neglectful parenting style. A neglectful parent (low demandingness and low responsiveness) does not demand behavior from their child and does not respond, either negatively or positively (Baumrind, 1989). A neglectful parent could be described as one who does not monitor their child's behavior, could often have other demands placed on them in other areas, and is uninterested or unable to attend to their child's needs, offer support, or be emotionally available.

Parents who identify as authoritative (high demandingness and high responsiveness) are most likely characterized by expecting certain behavior from their children, but who are also responsive and warm to their children (Baumrind, 1966). Displaying physical and emotional affection, being warm, approving, and loving are all behaviors that authoritative parents exhibit (Openshaw et al., 1984), while also having expectations for child behavior. These parents often display healthier relationship dynamics with their children.

Examining attachment styles in sexual functioning is still a relatively new field of research. Much more research was conducted in attachment styles and the effects they have on romantic relationships and sexual functioning than those studies conducted focus on parenting styles and sexual functioning.

Parenting Style and Adolescent Behavior. Through this research on parenting styles, negative and positive outcomes could be examined for children, adolescents, and even in adulthood. In particular, research has shown that adolescents with authoritative parents had the most favorable outcomes. In contrast, authoritarian and permissive parenting led to adolescents experiencing negative outcomes, and adolescents who experienced neglectful parenting had the poorest outcomes (Kuppens & Ceulemans, 2019).

Numerous studies have shown that authoritative parenting has been closely associated with positive development in adolescent psychosocial competence, including resilience, self-esteem, competence, and academic achievement (Baumrind 1991; Lamborn et al., 1991; Steinberg et al., 1994). Multiple research studies have indicated positive outcomes associated with authoritative parenting style, including a protective factor for adolescent substance use (Adalbjarnardottir & Hafsteinsson, 2001; Darling & Steinberg, 1993; Stephenson et al., 2005) and sexual behavior (Eastman et al., 2005; Huebner & Howell, 2003). Positive outcomes include higher academic achievement (Steinberg, Dornbusch et al., 1992; Steinberg, Lamborn et al., 1992), social and cognitive functioning (Baumrind, 1989, 1993), self-esteem (Carlson et al., 2000), social adjustment (Stewart et al., 1998), and social competence (Fagan, 2000). Additionally, lower child psychopathology rates have been correlated to an authoritative parenting style (Reiss et al., 1995). Overall, the benefits of engaging in an authoritative style of parenting consistently outweigh those of the other parenting styles.

Bednar and Fisher (2003) indicated that children are more likely to seek parents for a moral or informational decision instead of talking to peers first. The characteristics of authoritative parenting, such as having conversations about important issues, have been correlated to decreased adolescent drug use (Stephenson et al., 2005), and according to Huebner and Howell (2003), children of authoritative parents may also engage in less sexual risk-taking in adolescence.

Askelson et al. (2012) indicated that the number of sexually related topics discussed by parents and adolescents are influenced by an authoritative parenting style. Specifically, authoritative mothers demonstrated the widest variety of topics discussed with their children (Askelson et al., 2012). Adults who reported authoritative parenting anticipated discussions

regarding intercourse and contraceptives, bodily changes, such as menstruation, relationships, STIs, and alcohol use with their children at younger ages (Askelson et al., 2012). Interestingly, Askelson et al. (2012) did not discover a correlation between authoritative parenting style and communication about condoms, HPV, or sexual orientation.

In contrast, the permissive parenting style outcomes have been associated with internalizing difficulties and externalizing behaviors, along with difficulties with social skills, coping, and self-confidence (Lamborn et al., 1991; Steinberg et al., 1994; Williams et al., 2009; Wolfradt et al., 2003). Meaning, children with parents who engage in permissive parenting often display negative behaviors while internalizing negative feelings.

Aggression, somatic complaints, and anxiety have all been associated with authoritarian parenting style (Hoeve et al., 2008; Steinberg et al., 1994; Williams et al., 2009; Wolfradt et al., 2003). While adolescents in authoritarian parenting families sometimes perform well in academic settings, they typically also display dependent traits, are passive in relationships, and conform to others (Arnett, 2010; Grusec, 2002).

Neglectful (permissive) parenting style is associated with children lacking self-regulation, poor self-reliance and social competence, academic difficulties, anxiety, depression, and somatic complaints (Baumrind, 1991; Hoeve et al., 2008; Lamborn et al., 1991; Steinberg et al., 1994). Academically, adolescents in a family of permissive parenting are less involved in school, and they demonstrate more immaturity and irresponsibility in the school setting (Grusec, 2002). Numerous studies have also shown that children who experience neglectful caregiving or harsh, abusive parenting experience higher rates of difficulties in intimate, romantic relationships (Andrews & Brown, 1988; Birtchnell, 1993; Brown & Moran, 1994; Malinosky-Rummell & Hansen, 1993; Quinton et al., 1993).

Many research studies have indicated that adolescents with authoritative parents experience higher academic achievement and performance (Amato & Fowler, 2002; Brown & Iyengar, 2008; Jones et al., 2000). Conversely, lower achievement and performance are the outcomes of those adolescents with authoritarian parents (Blondal & Adalbjarnardottir, 2009; Steinberg et al., 1994). Rivers et al. (2012) did not find that parenting style was indicative of GPA in high school students. This study's findings are consistent with other research that the effects of parenting styles on academic performance vary between cultures, socioeconomic status, and ethnicities (Spera, 2005).

Attachment and Parenting Styles Impact on Adult Functioning

A majority of the research demonstrates the effects of parenting styles on functioning in childhood and adolescence. While research on parenting styles and how they affect adolescents' and children's behavior can help improve parenting techniques and clinical work, there is minimal research on the long-term effects of parenting styles on adult functioning, particularly for women's sexual functioning. A majority of the research has been conducted in non-westernized regions such as India or Africa. Research is also primarily focused on adolescent sexual functioning as opposed to adult sexual functioning.

There is more research regarding attachment styles and sexual functioning in adulthood compared to almost no research on parenting styles and sexual functioning in adulthood.

Regarding attachment styles and sexual functioning, Ciocca et al. (2015) discovered that both men and women with sexual dysfunction display an insecure attachment style. Women with sexual dysfunctions display fearful or preoccupied insecure attachment, which is evident by multiple relational patterns, according to Ciocca et al. (2015). Compared to women with no sexual dysfunction, women who experienced sexual dysfunction reported discomfort with

closeness due to relationships as secondary and reported a need for approval (Ciocca et al., 2015). However, this study was conducted in Europe, and may not be generalizable to populations in the United States.

Multiple studies have confirmed that positive sexual health outcomes are associated with parental influence (de Graaf et al., 2010, 2011; Klein et al., 2018; van de Bonghardt et al., 2015, 2016). Specifically, Klein et al. (2018) looked at a longitudinal study of 16-year-olds and found that parental emotional engagement and support of autonomy during adolescence led to women who reported more sexual agency over their sexual experiences several years later. Research has shown that when parents invest in building a good relationship and communicate about sexual functioning with their teenage daughters, this positively impacts the child's sexual health and influences their development into responsible and sex-positive adults (Flores & Barroso, 2017; Markham et al., 2014; van de Bongardt et al., 2016. Parental encouragement of autonomy, support, and communication with their adolescents about sexuality are strongly related to making healthy and self-confident decisions in adulthood (Klein et al., 2018). This parental relationship of support, encouragement of autonomy, and open communication described by Klein et al. (2018) and can be described as the authoritative parenting style category. By maintaining an authoritative role in a parenting dynamic, the parent can foster women who become sexually healthy adults.

Those with a secure attachment in childhood most likely had parents with an authoritative parenting style. This suggests a connection between secure attachment, an authoritative parenting style, and overall function in adulthood (Teyber & Teyber, 2019). One factor contributes to another. If a secure attachment is created in childhood, that individual is likely to grow into a confident, balanced parent who displays authoritative parenting, and creates secure attachments

with their children and so on (Teyber & Teyber, 2019). This secure attachment cycle seems to create positive attitudes about sexual functioning (Grossman et al., 2014; Murry et al., 2014). However, when a child experiences abuse or neglect, in a home with permissive, authoritative, or neglectful parents that child is likely to grow into an adult that experiences challenges creating secure attachments with others (Brown et al., 2015; Brown & Moran, 1994).

Relationships

Another factor that may be affected by childhood experience is adult intimate relationships (Allen & Baucom, 2004). Those individuals exposed to safe and positive relationships in childhood are more likely to form secure attachments in adulthood (Kirkpatrick & Davis, 1994). Conversely, research indicates a negative relationship with a parent can lead to difficulties in intimate relationships in adulthood (Brown & Moran, 1994; McCarthy & Taylor, 1999; Mullen et al., 1994; Quinton et al., 1993) and that being exposed to tumultuous parental intimate partner relationships, along with a lack of outside support, leads to the development of emotional and relational difficulties in adulthood (Brown & Harris, 1978; Emery, 1982; Farrington, 1995; Jouriles et al., 1988; Patterson, 1982; Quinton & Rutter, 1988; Sampson & Laub, 1993). Furthermore, other studies have found higher rates of interpersonal difficulties and sexual functioning problems in victims of childhood sexual abuse (Beitchman et al., 1992; Finkelhor, 1983; Finkelhor et al., 1990; Mullen et al., 1994). However, there is extremely limited research on parenting styles and how they directly affect sexual functioning into adulthood.

Shortcomings of Parenting Model

A criticism of the current parenting styles model is that the four parenting styles are not inclusive, particularly when understanding ethnically diverse families such as Latino families (Rodriguez et al., 2009). The four parenting styles developed by researchers in the 1960s and

1980s were developed based on the values of White, middle-class families and parental expectations of adolescent behavior (Rodriguez et al., 2009). Viewing parent-child relationships through this narrow lens negates minority experiences and fails to account for variations in parenting influenced by race, culture, or belief systems.

For example, the current literature on parenting outcomes in Latino families suggests a prevalence of permissive (Julian et al., 1994) or authoritarian styles (Darling & Steinberg, 1993; Rodriguez et al., 2009), while other researchers describe Latino parent-child interactions as warm and nurturing (Vega, 1990). Additionally, there is still controversy regarding the long-term outcomes of parenting styles in Latino families. Several research studies have shown that in Latino families, an authoritative parenting style is the best predictor of overall positive outcomes for an adolescent (Carlson et al., 2000; Dornbush et al., 1987; Radziszewka et al., 1996; Steinberg, Dornbush et al., 1992; Steinberg, Lamborn et al., 1992). However, Park and Bauer (2002) reported that authoritative parenting style predicting positive outcomes applies to White children and is not an accurate predictor for positive outcomes in Latino families (Alfaro et al., 2006; Lindahl & Malik, 1999; Park & Bauer, 2002).

When examining the academic outcome of the children of Asian families, children are high achieving academically, but Asian parenting does not fall into an authoritative parenting style (Huang & Gove, 2015). Rather, Asian parents respond to their children with high demanding ness and high responsiveness in the academic arena (Huang & Gove, 2015). However, other studies have indicated that Asian and Asian American parents are more likely to engage in authoritarian parenting, but there is little evidence that an authoritarian parenting style causes detrimental effects (Lui & Rolluck, 2013. Likely due to high parental control being a representative of a culture that values obedience, respect for elders, and a collectivist culture (Lui

& Rolluck, 2013). However, studies examined focused on academic achievement of Asian adolescents and there is limited research on long term effects on the intersection of cultural values and long-term mental health impact.

In general, there is very little research on parenting style and its direct influence on an individual's overall sexual functioning in adulthood. Much more of the research is focused on attachment styles and how these affect romantic relationships. Examining the effects of parenting styles on overall functioning in adulthood allows clinicians and community support to better assess individuals' needs. Even though there is evidence that negative and traumatic childhood experiences have long-term effects and negative outcomes in adulthood, the research has not evaluated fully how parental involvement can mitigate long-term negative effects and promote sexual autonomy and assertiveness.

CHAPTER IV: RECOMMENDATIONS

The research examined inform several recommendations. This chapter also explores influences for adolescent girls, including the positive influences the parental relationship can have on adolescent behaviors and attitudes, communication between parents and children, and any additional considerations that could inform clinical recommendations. Recommendations discussed in the literature for parents include starting conversations early, being knowledgeable about sexual functioning, sex-positive views, and messages to adolescent daughters.

Recommendations for parents to encourage autonomy, assertiveness, self-efficacy, and sexual agency in adolescent females, and integrating values and beliefs into conversations with adolescents are also discussed in the literature. Updates to the SBSE programs and establishing social programs that could support marginalized populations of women and other benefits of the clinical recommendation implementations are discussed.

Influences for Adolescent Females

There are many reasons why parents do not talk to their children about sexual functioning. Reasons parents refrain from discussing sexual functioning with their children include the belief that their children are already having sex, family or religious values that do not allow for sexual activity before a marital relationship, the uncomfortable nature of having a conversation about sexual activity, or the stigma surrounding sexual activity in American society. However, even though parents have reported these reasons not to talk about sex with their children, there are also benefits for parents and their children when having these conversations. Research has shown that positive discussions between parents and their teenagers around sexual activity are highly beneficial for adolescents and adult sexual functioning, particularly girls (Whitaker et al., 1999).

The current curriculum at schools, public programs, and overall approach when discussing teenage sexual activity and relationships, in educational, social, and home environments, have not been effective ways to encourage adolescents to engage in sexual activity in a responsible way. The U.S. has one of the highest teenage pregnancy rates out of any other Western country. The CDC most recently reported that in 2017 every 18.8 out of 1,000 teenagers between the ages of 15-19, had a child. Siedgh et al. (2015) reported that of 21 countries reporting the known teenage (ages 15-19) pregnancies, the US had the highest (57 per 1,000 births), while Switzerland reported the lowest numbers. When Sedgh et al. (2015) examined the statistics from other countries, the US had the third-highest teenage pregnancy rate, with Mexico being the only country with higher rates at 677,000 (130 per 1000 births) teenage pregnancies per year. However, the statistics examined in Mexico were not from the country directly, but from a sample of a study performed there. This data suggests that the programs the US has in place in school systems and the lack of communication from adult figures have been ineffective in preparing adolescents in the US to handle sexual situations in adolescence or adulthood.

Parents have influence over their children's behaviors, attitudes, and beliefs about themselves. Sexual functioning is not excluded from such parental influence. Students in college report their own attitudes about what was sexually appropriate and general knowledge about sexuality came from their family and their religion (Allen & Brooks, 2012). Parents and their relationship with their child are an integral part of their teenager becoming a healthy functioning adult, and there are much greater positive sexual health outcomes associated with parental influence (de Graaf et al., 2010, 2011; Klein et al., 2018; van de Bonghardt et al., 2015, 2016).

Positive Parental Relationship

Overall, research has indicated that a general positive parent-child relationship is important to general functioning, while the opposite is also true. Negative or abusive parent-child relationships often lead to more difficulty when functioning in adulthood. This includes difficulties in intimate relationships (McCarthy & Taylor, 1999), interpersonal difficulties, and sexual functioning problems (Beitchman et al., 1992; Finkelhor, 1983; Finkelhor et al., 1990; Mullen et al., 1994). If an adolescent believes the parent-child relationship is negative, they are much less likely to communicate about sex with their parent (Rosenthal et al., 2001). Additionally, negative outcomes have been associated with a parent trying to exert too much control over a child's behavior or attempting to get a child into a certain kind of behavior (Barber, 1996; Gray & Steinberg, 1999). Furthermore, Rodgers (1999) found that when parents attempt to exert too much control over their child's behavior, specifically when parents attempt to control their daughters' behavior by psychological means, it leads to high-risk sexual behavior. According to Dorius and Barber (1998), mothers categorized as intrusive have been linked to adolescents engaging in sexual intercourse at an earlier age than the average. Also, in adulthood, those children who developed an insecure attachment to their caregivers grow into adults who have difficulty communicating about sexual situations (Davis et al., 2006; Goldsmith et al., 2016; Leclerc et al., 2015).

When teenagers believe they have a better relationship with their parents, they are open to talking about sexual activity with them (Somers & Paulson, 2000) and delay sexual activity (Guilamo-Ramos et al., 2006; Karoksky et al., 2000). According to multiple research studies, parent-child closeness has been associated with postponing sexual activity and consistent use of contraception (Jaccard et al., 1996; Resnick et al., 1997; Weinstein & Thornton, 1989). The

quality of the relationship between the parent and child influences how anxious or avoidant the child was during the conversation regarding sexual functioning (Afifi et al., 2008).

Parents who can facilitate a close, healthy relationship with their child are likely to have an authoritative parenting category. People who experience authoritative parenting typically develop resilience, self-esteem, healthier sexual functioning, and general life and social competence (Baumrind 1991; Carlson et al., 2000; Fagan, 2000; Huebner & Howell, 2003; Lamborn et al., 1991; Steinberg et al., 1994). Adolescents with authoritative parents had the most favorable outcomes compared to the other types of parenting (Kuppens & Ceulemans, 2019). Authoritative parents, particularly mothers, demonstrate engagement and interest in a wide variety of discussion topics with their children (Askelson et al., 2012). This type of parenting seems to anticipate conversations with their children at younger ages regarding intercourse and contraceptives, bodily changes, relationships, STIs, and alcohol use (Askelson et al., 2012), which allows a parent to be more responsive and knowledgeable. Parents who can be receptive, informal, and composed during conversations with adolescents about sexual functioning create an environment for the teenager to experience less anxiety and, in turn, be less avoidant when discussing sexual functioning (Affifi et al., 2008).

While this literature review primarily focused on the parental relationship in discussions of sexual functioning with adolescents, other family members can play a major role in how a teenager approaches sexual situations. If an adolescent feels close to the family member or wants to learn about that family member's life experience or have had previous conversations with that family member that have been easy and nonjudgmental, a teenager is much more likely to go to that family member about sexual functioning (Grossman, Richer, Charmaraman et al., 2018).

There have been decades worth of research indicating that positive parent relationships have more positive outcomes during adolescence and into adulthood. Parents need to build a positive relationship with their child, particularly adolescent girls, to facilitate conversations about sexual functioning (Flores & Barroso 2017). In that way, the parent can make a positive impact on a child's future decisions and behavior and sexual interactions and decision-making about sexual activity and good relationships and communicate about sexual functioning (Flores & Barroso 2017) with their teenage daughters, this impacts the child's sexual health positively and influences their development into responsible and sex-positive adults (Markham et al., 2010; van de Bongardt et al., 2016).

Creating a positive parental relationship with female adolescents and children clearly results in greater positive outcomes. Women who have difficult parent child relationships go onto experience difficulty in adult relationships. Parents who attempt to control their child's behavior without high levels of responsiveness often leads to negative outcomes. When adolescents feel that they have a positive relationship with their parents they are more likely to discuss various topics including sexual functioning. Parents should attempt to focus on the quality of the relationship with their children to facilitate a close, positive relationship for the most positive outcomes for healthy functioning adult women. When individuals feel cared for, understood, and supported by their parental figures they are more likely to have overall healthier functioning, and more specifically sexual functioning.

Communication

While positive parent-child relationships positively impact functioning, it is important to discuss parents' actual communication to children about sexual functioning. Some adolescents report that parents do not talk with them about sexuality, even when overall communication is

viewed as positive (Rosenthal et al., 2001). From a parental perspective, reasons for not talking about sexual activity with their children can be seen as an invasion of their child's privacy or the parent does not believe they have enough knowledge about sexual activity to have an informed conversation with their child (Eastman et al., 2005; Guilamo-Ramos et al., 2006).

Cultural considerations are also a factor when parents are discussing sexuality with adolescents. Parents who identified as Hispanic experience more embarrassment when discussing sexuality with their children because it is not a subject openly discussed within their culture and with their parents (Wilson et al., 2010). Compared to Hispanic adolescents, African American adolescents reported their parents communicated more, in general (Santa Maria et al., 2014). African American women reported no concerns regarding communicating details about sexual situations with their adolescents, and researchers have hypothesized that Hispanic women may be unsure of how much detail to go into when discussing sexual functioning with their children (Murray et al., 2014). Conversations about sexual activity are influenced by culture, and cultural norms are considered when discussing sexual functioning.

The lack of communication from parents is demonstrated by the statistic that only 13.9% of people learned about STIs from their parents (Rosenbaum & Weathersbee, 2013). Unintended pregnancies have been shown to be reduced when parents and adolescents communicate about sexual functioning (Jaccard & Dittus, 1991). When talking about sexual activity or sexual functioning, the parent needs to have clear communication that the child understands because, based on a study by Rosenbaum et al. (2007), most parents do not communicate about sexual education in a way that a child understands.

Often, the way parents communicate with their child is by telling them not to engage in certain sexual activities and warning their child of the dangers of risky sexual behaviors (Baxter,

2009). As discussed previously, simply telling a child not to engage in sexual activity has been proven to be an ineffective way of discouraging adolescent sexual activity. The teenager or child needs to be comfortable with the adult and the communication if the quality of communication effectively communicates the message (Eastman et al., 2005). Although parents may feel that their children are resistant to having discussions because of a number of factors, it is important for parents to simply talk about sexual functioning in positive, factual ways. Parents who can be more responsive to their adolescents' needs and questions about sexual functioning and communicate in an open way about sexuality are more likely to be communicative with their own partners and more likely to use a condom during intercourse (Whitaker et al., 1999).

Parents need to begin conversations about sexual functioning with children. Parents who are able to have conversations in an open and honest way facilitate dialogs regarding sexual functioning. Research has shown that simply telling a child to not engage in sexual activity is ineffective, so parents that are able to have conversations that allows the child to ask questions, share experiences, discuss expectations of behavior, will help the adolescent feel supported and heard when navigating early sexual experiences.

Additional Considerations

While conversations are important to have about sexual functioning, it is not the only factor that can create healthy sexual functioning in adulthood. When asked how to influence their children's sexual behavior, many parents reported just having a conversation with their children about sexual functioning was enough (Wilson et al., 2010). However, other parents believe setting a good example for their children, monitoring daily activities, instilling values, establishing rules, enforcing discipline, and keeping them busy may be more effective than having a conversation about sex. While both of these approaches are shown to influence

adolescent behavior regarding sexual functioning, a comprehensive, integrative approach to fostering healthy sexual functioning in adolescence and adulthood would include conversations about sexual functioning and the previously mentioned factors discussed in the Wilson et al. (2010) study.

Start Early

It is a normal developmental progression for teenagers to begin discussing sexual activity with their peers. However, parents often wait until their children have begun puberty before they start discussing sexual activity with their children, but children often have already started talking to their friends to understand sexual topics (Simanski, 1998). Additionally, a study in 2000 reported that 15% of Euro-American and 50% of African American girls begin maturation and developing secondary sex characteristics by age 8 (Lemonick, 2000), indicating that girls' physical development happens much earlier than parents think.

A majority of parents believe children are exposed to a greater number of negative influences than they were during childhood, specifically more media exposure and peer pressure regarding sexual activities (Wilson et al., 2010). Additionally, parents are concerned that pornography is more easily accessible, there are more negative role models in the media, the sexual content of messages in music and video games, and the use of sexuality in advertising had all increased from when they were young (Wilson et al., 2010).

Sometimes, parents feel that their children are resistant to talk about sexual activity with them because they are not engaging in sexual activity (Eastman et al., 2005, Guilamo-Ramos et al., 2006), but approximately 55% of parents reported their child did not engage in sexual activity when their children reported being sexually active (Mollborn & Everett, 2010). Some parents believe their children are too young and unprepared to have a conversation about sexual

functioning, but parent-child communication about sex may be occurring after children are engaging in sexual activity (Somers & Paulson, 2000). So, while parents may hold the belief that their children are not engaging in sexual activity or the children are uncomfortable with the topic to begin having conversations about sexual functioning, based on the research, the earlier a parent begins a dialogue with their child, the more effective the conversations could be.

Acquire Knowledgeable

It has been established that it is necessary to have conversations about sexual activity with children. However, if parents can talk about sexual functioning in a comfortable, open way and are knowledgeable about the topic, an adolescent is more likely to talk with their sexual partner about sexual functioning (Whitaker et al., 1999). It is also important to examine the content of the conversations when discussing sexual topics. Many young adult students report they feel they did not receive sufficient education regarding sexuality during younger adolescence (Allen & Brooks, 2012), and research has shown that simply telling a child not to engage in sexual activity or only telling them the negative consequences of sexual activity, is an ineffective way to encourage positive sexual health for adolescents (Baxter et al., 2009).

Therefore, it is important to communicate the correct factual information when parents begin to have these conversations with their children.

According to Eisenberg et al. (2004), often, parents have misinformation about condom effectiveness and STIs. It seems fathers struggle more than mothers when attempting to talk to their children about sexual activity due to fear that they may not be able to answer their children's questions about sexual functioning or a parent's values surrounding sexual activity (Wilson et al., 2010). Additionally, if a child thinks their parent is uncomfortable having conversations about sexual functioning or believes their parents are not competent regarding

sexual activity, the child's stress level surrounding those conversations increases (Afifi et al., 2008). Therefore, parents need to do their own research on sexual functioning and become more comfortable talking to their children about sexual activity. If a parent can answer questions knowledgeably and communicate clear expectations and boundaries with their child surrounding sexual activity, this can indicate more positive outcomes in general functioning, and sexual functioning, in adulthood. A parent continuing not to discuss sexual activity with their child opens the door for misinformation about sexual safety, sexual assertiveness, and overall physical autonomy in physical relationships (Netting, 1992).

Sex-Positive Views and Messages

The idea that parents should foster sex-positive views seems to be the most controversial part of discussing sexual activity with children. When discussions and attitudes around sexual activity deny female adolescent sexual desire and emphasize the risks of sexual activity, these discussions impact the view of female sexuality (Fine & McClelland, 2006; Tolman et al., 2003; Welsh et al., 2000). The messages and sexual scripts that girls receive throughout their lifetime are that they experience sexual risks and are vulnerable to the negative consequences of sex (e.g., unwanted pregnancy, STI infection, physical pain due to virginity loss), while boys and men can enjoy sex without the risks (Katz-Wise & Hyde, 2014). A sex-positive approach to sexual functioning recognizes that engaging in sexual activity is healthy, can be pleasurable, and does not assign moral value to engage in sexual activity (Brickman & Willoughby, 2017). A sex-positive approach to sexual activity is inclusive of diverse sexual experiences and emphasizes a person's right to make individual decisions for themselves (BuDough, 1976). The goals of sex-positive interventions are to reduce stigma about individual sexual choices, impart knowledge about contraceptive use and STI testing, and create overall healthy sexual functioning (Brickman

& Willoughby, 2017; Willoughby & Jackson, 2013). If sex-positive interventions that emphasize prosocial and social competency are implemented at home, school, and any social activity the child participates in early in life, the individual is much less likely to contract a STI as an adult (Hill et al., 2014). There are many resources online available to parents regarding sex positive parenting, what sex positive parenting means, and how to shape conversations with your child from a sex positive lens. Those websites have been included in the Appendix of this literature review.

Encourage Autonomy and Assertiveness

In terms of family dynamics, a child with autonomy is likely to have and express their own ideas and opinions, and those opinions are valued and respected by the family (Steinberg et al., 1994). As discussed in previous chapters, the parental granting of autonomy is related to functioning in childhood. This means that if a child is granted autonomy by their parents, along with some parental control and warmth, the child seems to have healthier overall functioning (Rodriguez et al., 2009).

Sexuality should be a healthy aspect of life that changes throughout a person's lifetime, and adults that are important to adolescents can help guide that in their autonomy (Morris, 1994). Approaching sexual activity in this way promotes a health-positive autonomy over one's own sexuality and sexual health. Many women who are low on sexual assertiveness are unable to express sexual needs and comfortability with their partner, thus increasing their vulnerability to sexual assault (Walker et al., 2011). Therefore, sexual assertiveness is a major factor in minimizing sexual assault, according to Walker et al. (2011).

There seems to be a cultural double standard for sexual behavior for men and women in terms of sexual autonomy. Men are expected to express their sexual autonomy and dominance,

but women are meant to take on a submissive role in the current sexual script theory (Sanchez et al., 2012; Wiederman, 2005). However, as previously mentioned, this idea that women should be low on sexual assertiveness and men should be high in sexual autonomy is detrimental for all genders in terms of sexual functioning. Young college women who had a strong influence of organized religion in childhood believe they are solely responsible for maintaining "sexual purity" (Allen & Brooks, 2012). On the other end of the spectrum, young men in college who had a strong influence of organized religion in their childhood believe their religion allowed them to have more sexual activity than women (Allen & Brooks, 2012; Risman & Schwartz, 2002). Understandably, these differences in attitudes for men and women regarding sexual activity in organized religion can cause difficulty later in life when one's identity and sense of self are so closely tied to sexual activity is a measure of personal faith.

Having parents who encourage autonomy, are supportive, and talk with their adolescents about sexuality is strongly related to making healthy and self-confident decisions in adulthood (Klein et al., 2018). Support of autonomy and emotional engagement by parents during adolescence is more likely to lead to women having greater sexual agency over their own experiences (Klein et al., 2018), which reduces possible victimization later in life.

Encourage Self-Efficacy and Sexual Agency

Sexual self-efficacy is the ability to say "no" in sexual situations, to communicate sexual desires and wishes, and the ability and willingness to exercise precautionary measures (Buzwell & Rosenthal, 1996). Women are often traditionally associated with a lack of sexual agency (e.g., Katz-Wise & Hyde 2014; Tolman, 2005). Sexual agency is the ability to make choices and be assertive when making those choices (Klein et al., 2018). However, parental relationships that

support autonomy and encourage emotional engagement with their adolescent, instead of controlling or monitoring, lead to greater sexual agency (Katz & van der Kloet, 2010).

Sexual agency allows adolescents to protect their own sexual interests, such as saying "no" to requests (Wyatt & Riederle, 1994). Practicing sexual agency is also related to positive sexual health outcomes, such as safer sex practices, sexual communication (Curtin et al., 2011), and refusal of unwanted sex (Levin et al., 2012), as well as overall sexual well-being and satisfaction (Horne & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2006; Mastro & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2015; Zimmer-Gembeck et al., 2011; Zimmer-Gembeck & French, 2016). Encouraging sexual agency and self-efficacy promotes ownership for one's body (Tolman, 1994), which is beneficial for all genders.

Parents who are able to begin at early ages explaining that a child's body is her own is an important building block to promoting self-advocacy. Explaining to a child that they are allowed to say no to physical affection is an important aspect of sexual agency. Parents should emphasize qualities rather than sexuality in adolescent females and empower their daughters to refuse requests that could have negative consequences or make them feel uncomfortable. Additionally, it is very important for parents to encourage their adolescent to communicate with them if an adolescent encounters a sexual situation in which they are uncomfortable. Normalizing sexual urges for females as well as hormonal changes in adolescent females is another way parents can encourage self-efficacy and sexual agency.

Identify Alternative Sources of Information

For parents who have difficulties engaging in communication about sexual functioning with their female child, identifying an additional source of support and information can be helpful. According to the research, if a child does not feel comfortable talking with their parent about sexual functioning, discussing sensitive topics with an adult whom they feel close to, such

as an aunt or close family friend, can encourage communication about sexual functioning (Grossman et al., 2018). A parent can help their child identify responsible adults with whom the parent and child feel comfortable engaging in conversations about healthy sexual functioning. Having another adult be a source of support and information can serve as a protective factor in female adolescent functioning.

Integrate Values and Beliefs into Conversations

It has been established that religion and family values influence attitudes and beliefs about sexual activity. Parental values and attitudes about sexuality and parental communication about such subjects have an important effect on initial intercourse experience (Jaccard et al., 1996; Luster & Small, 1997; Miller et al., 1998, 1999). These effects can be negative or positive, depending on parental attitudes and communication.

The research on religion and sexual activity indicates that religious affiliation does not necessarily deter one from engaging in sexual activity before marriage but changes the attitude about the self and sexual activity before a marital relationship. Many people who identify as Christian or Catholic believe sexual intercourse should be between spouses and that engaging in sexual activity reflects an individual's character and relationship with God (Eleuteri & Farulla, 2016; Jones & Hostler, 2002; Lenow, 2018). More than 70% of couples who have been married for less than five years in Southern Baptist churches in the South have had oral or vaginal sex prior to marriage (Rosenbaum & Weathersbee, 2013). Additionally, over 80% of individuals in the Rosenbaum and Weathersbee (2013) sample reported they were sexually active if they married after the age of 25, indicating that for people who identify as Southern Baptist, the older an individual gets, the more likely it is they will engage in sexual activity. In general, 75% of people have had sexual intercourse by age 20, 89% by age 25, and 93% by age 30 (Finer, 2007)

and those people over 24 years old, religious or not, engage in premarital sexual activity at the same rate (Rosenbaum & Weathersbee, 2013) Interestingly, women report engaging in sexual activity at younger and greater rates than men (Rosenbaum & Weathersbee, 2013).

Based on the research, religious affiliation does not deter one from engaging in sexual activity before marriage. In fact, after the age of 24, individuals engage in sexual activity at the same rate regardless of religious affiliation (Rosenbaum & Weathersbee, 2013). Therefore, it is important to lay a foundation of knowledge and awareness of sexual functioning, anatomy, and sexual autonomy, even when an adolescent or family may identify as religious. These principles can easily be integrated into a spiritual or religious belief system by trusted family members.

Update School-Based Education Programs

As discussed previously, there are many benefits to approaching discussions regarding sexual functioning from a sex-positive perspective. Regardless of religious affiliation, many parents are not opposed to their child learning about sexual intercourse in a school setting (Eisenberg et al., 2008). However, current SBSE programs teach abstinence-only behavior, which has shown to be ineffective (Cheng, 2001). Not only is SBSE outdated, but it is also not inclusive and discusses sexual functioning in a very narrow way, typically exclusive to vaginal intercourse (Rubin, 1993). By updating the SBSE curriculum, adolescents could be better informed, more engaged in the discussion around sexual topics, and could promote more sexual autonomy.

Sexual agency can be fostered in a school environment by integrating the curriculum based on what adolescents currently experience. SBSE that clearly defines consent, addresses exploitation of others on social media, and discusses STI and pregnancy prevention as both parties' responsibility could encourage self-efficacy and sexual agency. Parents can also follow

up with adolescents when SBSE begins being taught in schools by asking their child questions about the material, as well as their child's thoughts and feelings about sexual functioning. By engaging in conversations about sexual functioning in tandem with SBSE parents can address issues, such as consent, self-efficacy, and safety for females in sexual situations.

Programs in Place That Protect Against Victimization and Abuse

Much of the research simply identifies that there is a correlation between ACEs and maladaptive behaviors in adulthood. However, very few research studies identify the higher rates of victimization for minority populations and what protections can be put in place to prevent victimization from happening. There is a major need for more social programs to educate, inform, and provide resources to young women who could be, or are being, sexually victimized, particularly women of color. While social programs are not necessarily directly related to parental communication, parental communication can be included in these programs. Research has shown alarming statistics for women of color becoming victims to pressured sexual activity, sexual assault, and rape at very early ages, some as young as 11 years old (Tsuyuki et al., 2019). The number of women who engaged in sexual activity from ages 13-14 rises to 29%, but again, those women reported being forced or pressured to engage in sexual activity (Tsuyuki et al., 2019).

Many research studies have shown that the earlier a child engages in sexual activity, the greater likelihood they will contract a STI due to limited access to contraception, not having knowledge about STIs, or being a victim of sexual assault (Tsuyuki et al., 2019). Having social programs, with the inclusion of parental figure involvement, in place for adolescents would allow for and could promote access to contraception, education of female anatomy, autonomy

itself, and encourage the reporting of sexual assault when it happens. Therefore, these social programs could lower STI rates, lower teenage pregnancy rates, and improve society as a whole.

Social programs may also provide support for those women living through cumulative trauma. The current research examining the correlation of an individual having ACEs and the likelihood of becoming a victim of sexual violence in adolescence and adulthood is highly likely (Tsuyuki et al., 2019). Becoming infected with a STI or HIV, having a mental health diagnosis, and developing substance use disorders are all products of cumulative trauma. Having more social programs in place would allow those individuals who are continually being victimized to access necessary support. The American Academy of Pediatrics recommended screening adolescents for abuse (Pardee et al., 2017), but simply screening for abuse seems ineffective in facilitating lasting changes for cumulative trauma or generational trauma. However, identifying abuse when it occurs, providing education to parents, teachers, clinicians, and adolescents, and offering interventions could be beneficial (Tsuyuki et al., 2019). There are currently limited social programs designed specifically to be an additional protective factor against childhood victimization, but some of the available programs already in place that emphasize mentoring include Big Brothers and Big Sisters program, Boys and Girls Club, or Take Stock in Children Program. However, these social programs may not be comprehensive in training mentors or people in the organization to assess for victimization of participants, to begin conversations surrounding sexual autonomy, or to explain that self-efficacy is an important aspect of sexual health.

Changes for Adult Women

Throughout this literature review, there has been discussion surrounding how parents can communicate with their adolescents to promote healthier sexual functioning in adulthood.

However, there has not been extensive longitudinal studies on how parental influence in childhood and adolescence affects sexual functioning in adulthood for women. Many studies focus primarily on overall functioning for all genders, which can be beneficial to informing sexual functioning, but past research fails to examine the benefits or detriments of parental influence on sexual functioning in adulthood. Based on the research discussed in this literature review, the benefits of positive parenting communication regarding sexual functioning for women in adulthood is be discussed.

Improved Parental Relationships

It is widely accepted that childhood experiences shape how we function in adulthood. If parental figures can cultivate a healthy relationship with their child, positive, open communication is a part of that relationship. Parents who can create this kind of attachment with children make it more likely for positive parenting to continue. That child is then shown how to create positive attachments later in life with romantic partners and their own children. Parents who can create a close, healthy relationship with their child most likely fall into the category of authoritative parents. Authoritative parents who can be present with their child, set boundaries for their child, show their child warmth, are emotionally available for their child, and communicate clear expectations of their child's behavior can create a secure attachment with that child. If parents can create this kind of attachment with children, it is more likely for positive parenting to continue. That child is then shown how to create positive attachments later in life with romantic partners and their own children.

Influence on Adult Relationships

When parents discuss sexuality, risk of engaging in sexual activity, and condom use with their adolescent child, it is more likely that as an adult, that individual will communicate about those topics with their partner (Whitaker et al., 1999). Parents that can communicate about sexual functioning at an early age, that individual will have more communication about topics previously discussed with their partner as an adult. Meaning, when open communication happens with adolescents with parents, those children grow into adults that are able to communicate with their own children. As discussed previously, the more parents communicate about sexual topics with their adolescent, the more likely the adolescent is to talk to their partner about those topics; this makes sense that if an individual is talking about the sexual topics as an adolescent, that will continue into adulthood. If an individual can discuss important sexual functioning topics with their parents in childhood, these skills carry through into adulthood. When adolescents can have healthy relationships with parents and open communication in adolescence, this interaction style continues into intimate relationships and sexual encounters in adulthood (Afifi et al., 2008).

Better Functioning Overall

Not only do parental relationships cultivate positive parenting, they also facilitate better overall functioning for adults. There have been numerous research studies on the associations of childhood experiences and how they shape overall functioning in adulthood (Dube et al., 2001; Herman et al., 1997). When a child encounters multiple ACEs, research has shown that functioning in adulthood is likely to be maladapted, including relationship dynamics and sexual functioning. The research has shown that a child who perceives a positive relationship with their parents can function better as an adult, in general.

Greater Sexual Satisfaction

Unsurprisingly, women who experience an insecure form of attachment to their sexual partner, particularly avoidance, have lower sexual satisfaction (Goldsmith et al., 2016; Tracy et al., 2003). Those women who have an insecure attachment to their partners adhere to rigid

gender roles and communicate less about their sexual functioning (Dewitte, 2012; Gentzler & Kerns, 2004; Stefanou & McCabe, 2012).

Parents who can create secure attachment with their children lead to those children growing into adulthood and creating their own secure attachments to intimate partners, leading to greater sexual satisfaction. Securely attached people typically engage in sexual activity to express love for their partner and enhance connection (Stefanou & McCabe, 2012), and these individuals who create secure attachment with others report higher levels of sexual satisfaction and lower levels of sexual dysfunction (Stefanou & McCabe, 2012).

Based on the research regarding secure attachment to an intimate partner, it is in adult women's best interest to have parental figures foster positive, healthy relationships, leading to greater sexual satisfaction and healthier sexual functioning. Research has shown that adult women can communicate their sexual needs to their partner in a healthy way when there has been an established secure attachment starting in childhood with parents.

Impact on Sexual Assaults and Gender Differences

An individual who develops autonomy during childhood within a family dynamic can learn how to hold and express their own ideas and opinions in future relationships. Practicing autonomy within a family dynamic allows an individual to translate that autonomy to sexual situations. Women who believe they cannot assert themselves in sexual situations can become uncomfortable and unable to express their sexual needs with another person. This inability to communicate about sexual activity, the unawareness of one's own boundaries in sexual situations, and the discomfort one experiences in sexual situations all increase a woman's vulnerability to sexual assaults (Walker et al., 2011). Sexual assertiveness seems to be a major factor in minimizing sexual assault (Walker et al., 2011).

Although much of the past research has been focused on how women can decrease their vulnerability to sexual assault, it is important to understand that there are different expectations and behavior for men and women, and these expectations begin in childhood. When women can be assertive and exercise autonomy overall, this assertiveness can translate to sexual situations in which women are empowered to say "yes" or "no" in sexual situations. Consequently, promoting sexual agency via strong parental-adolescent relationships that are characterized by emotional engagement and support of autonomy (instead of controlling or monitoring their children) in young women may function as an important model to help adolescents successfully navigate the complex and potentially risky world of sexuality, while feeling self-confident with their own sexual boundaries and desires.

Women are often expected to take a more submissive role in sexual situations while men are expected to exercise sexual autonomy (Sanchez et al., 2012; Wiederman, 2005). For example, condom use is typically associated with casual sexual encounters, and it is a societal expectation that women should only engage in sexual activity within the context of a committed relationship (Hynie et al., 1998). So, while it can be a responsible decision to practice using contraception when a woman exercises sexual autonomy and engages in a casual sexual encounter, there are conflicting messages for women regarding only having sexual intercourse in committed relationships (Hynie et al., 1998). This imbalance of sexual autonomy and conflicting societal messages can lead to detrimental situations and circumstances for women and men, especially when these conflicting messages are not discussed or acknowledged.

These differences in sexual autonomy for men and women can be found in our overall society, expanding even into religion. Even when men believe that organized religion has a strong influence in their life, they feel more freedom to engage in sexual activity than women do

(Allen & Brooks, 2012; Risman & Schwartz, 2002). Often, women believe they are solely responsible for maintaining sexual "purity," particularly women who identify as religious. While this way of thinking adheres to particular religious beliefs, it can be detrimental to an individual's sense of self, simply because there is a greater likelihood that a person will engage in sexual intercourse after age 24. This dichotomy of belief and sexual activity can cause significant anxiety for women.

These differences for men and women strongly influence how we approach sexual assault, sexual autonomy, sexual assertiveness, and overall standards for sexual behavior in modern, westernized society. When women value and exercise sexual autonomy, they make healthier, self-confident decisions in sexual situations during adulthood and have greater sexual agency over their own experiences (Klein et al., 2018). When women learn to practice sexual agency in adolescence, it is more likely to lead to safer sex practices, such as using a condom, greater communication about sexual functioning (Curtin et al., 2011), refusal of unwanted sex (Levin et al., 2012), as well as overall sexual well-being and satisfaction (Horne & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2006; Mastro & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2015; Zimmer-Gembeck et al., 2011; Zimmer-Gembeck & French, 2016).

As included in Appendix, parents are encouraged to foster a relationship with their daughter that has high levels of demandingness and high levels of responsiveness to a child's emotional needs. Simply beginning the dialogue with a daughter about sexual functioning at earlier ages can have positive outcomes, such as consistent contraception use. Parents who are able to approach conversations about sexual functioning in a casual, knowledgable creates for their child feelings of safety and security when they are in future sexual situations. Additionally, when female sexual functioning in a sex-positive way, this approach allows adolescents, and

adult females to exercise their autonomy and sexual assertiveness much more readily and advocate for themselves in sexually uncomfortable situations. Many parents seem to have difficulty reconciling religious beliefs with female adolescent sexual functioning. However, conversations parents have that integrate a family belief system, discuss parental exceptions of behaviors, outline safety and autonomy for the child, and has shown to have positive benefits, such as valuing academic achievement and a well-rounded sense of self. Overall, encouraging and promoting sexual autonomy, sexual assertiveness, and sexual agency over sexual experiences has exponentially beneficial outcomes for women and, in turn, society as a whole. Add to this conclusion by touching on all of the recommendations you suggested.

CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION

The purpose of this literature review was to examine the effects of parental communication influences on women's sexual functioning. The following questions guided this critical review of the literature:

- 1. How does parental communication influence female sexual functioning?
- 2. How do parent-child relationships, including parenting and attachment styles, influence sexual functioning?
- 3. What recommendations can be developed based on the existing research?

This review included discussion of commonalities of experience for women, including healthy sexual functioning, current views on female sexuality, sexual victimization of women, sexual assertiveness and agency, and women's knowledge of their own bodies.

Evaluation of the first question regarding conversations about sexual functioning from a parental perspective and an adolescent perspective explored and the research indicated that parents want children to learn about sexual functioning, such as anatomy, pregnancy prevention, STI transmission protection (Peter et al., 2015). Parents also reported that they feel that children are exposed to sexual content at earlier ages, but parents are not initiating conversations with their children about sexual functioning (Wilson et al., 2010). Parents reported several reasons that influences their communication with their child: they believe it is an invasion of the child's privacy, they not feel knowledgeable to respond to any questions, they are in denial that child may be sexually active, they feel that their child is not emotionally mature enough to have conversations about sex, they want child to indicate interest in sex before they start conversations, they are unsure to go about having conversations about sexual functioning

because no one discussed the topic with them as an adolescent, or they simply want their child to come to them with any questions (Wilson et al., 2010).

The quality, context, frequency, and factors that influence parental communication were examined also. The research indicates that when parents do discuss sexual functioning with their children, the messages the child receives are as such, delay sexual activity, use protection, and avoid pregnancy (Grossman et al., 2018). Research has shown that family communication is a primary protective factor that influences sexual functioning in adolescence, which includes adolescents being more comfortable discussing their own sexual experiences and lower rates of intended teenage pregnancies (Grossman et al., 2014; Murry et al., 2014). Research noted trends in parental communication, which was dependent upon the parents and the child's gender indicating that in general, mothers discussed sexual functioning more than fathers, but both mothers and fathers discuss sexual functioning with sons at equal rates, and fathers very rarely discuss sexual functioning with their daughters (Wilson and Koo, 2010). Decades worth of research has shown that when there is a positive parent-child relationship, that includes positive communication about sexual functioning, an adolescent is more comfortable discussing sexual topics with their own partners in adolescence (Afifi et al., 2008).

Critiques for school-based sexual education were discussed and expanded upon, including evidence that an abstinence based SBSE is ineffective at reducing teenage pregnancies and STI transmissions (Landry et al., 1999). In a majority of states, condom use and contraception is not discussed in SBSE programs and SBSE excludes autonomy, consent, or sexual pleasure in the curriculum. SBSE is also a heteronormative curriculum, which excludes a marginalized population of children who identify as LGBTQ+ (Bay-Cheng, 2003).

How religion influences sexual functioning in adolescence was also examined and studies indicate that religious institutions typically encourage parents to discuss sexual functioning with their children in the home, instead of addressing sexual functioning in a religious setting (Stephens, 2009). Research also indicated that while religious institutions emphasize abstinence before marriage, particularly for women to remain "pure" before marriage, but religion does not influence adolescents from abstaining from sexual activity (Allen and Brooks, 2012). However, those individuals that do engage in sexual activity report feelings of guilt regarding engaging in sexual activity before marriage, but that does not prevent an individual from engaging in sexual activity (Garceau & Ronis, 2017). Familial relationships and family values, as an influence on adolescent sexual behavior was also explored and research indicated that family values and culture influence adolescent sexual behavior (Hernandez et al., 2011; Hunt & Jung, 2009). Research showed that adolescents who reported parents who communicated about sexual functioning and created a warm, nonjudgmental home environment postponed sexual activity and consistently used contraception (Miller, 2002; Miller et al., 1998; Miller et al., 2001). Parents who attempt to psychologically control their child or create an invasive home environment have adolescent daughters who engage in higher risk sexual activity, according to recent research (Rodgers, 1999).

In exploring the second question of this CRP regarding parent-child relationship experiences, including parenting and attachment styles affect sexual functioning in adulthood, the research has long established that childhood experiences shape how individuals functioning in adulthood. Recent research has shown that the more stressful and traumatic an individual's life is during childhood and adolescence the more negative outcomes in adulthood such as drug use, high-risk behavior, and difficulty managing emotions (Finkelor, 1990). An individual's

biological makeup is also shaped by the environment in which an individual is raised, based on research (Gerhardt, 2006).

Expanding further into adverse childhood experiences, the effects of ACEs were also extensively examined. Research has shown that women with higher numbers of ACEs engage in riskier sexual behavior (Fang et al., 2016; Hillis et al., 2001). Studies examining healthy sexual functioning for female adults and female adolescents is consistent in both stages of life, indicating that when an adult woman has positive sexual experiences and positive communication in childhood and adolescence the healthier sexual functioning she will demonstrate in adulthood (Baumgartner et al., 2009).

There is a lack of research on contributing factors for early sexual initiation for Black women and women of color was also expanded upon. The limited amount of research that does exist demonstrated that Black female adolescents engage in sexual activity at younger ages than their white counterparts. However, it was observed that research failed to make connection between Black female adolescents engaging in sexual activity at younger ages than white female adolescents and the significantly high rates of sexual assault and victimization in childhood and adolescence, which perpetuates lack of services and resources for Black female children, a vulnerable population.

This literature review also explored aspects of parenting and attachment styles and how these styles influence general functioning and sexual functioning in adulthood, which include secure, avoidant, ambivalent, and disorganized. Attachment styles and sexual functioning research was also examined, and studies indicated that attachment styles impact adult sexual functioning and relationship dynamics. Those individuals who are securely attached in relationships prefer monogamous, intimate committed relationships, rather than casual sexual

encounters, according to research (Dewitte, 2012). Research indicated individuals who are securely attached reported more positive feelings regarding sexual activity than those individuals who fall into an insecurely attached category (Brassard et al., 2015). Individuals that demonstrate controlling behaviors, being unfaithful in monogamous relationships, or being preoccupied with a partner's feelings and actions are examples of an individual being insecurely attached in relationships (Bogaert & Sadava, 2002). Research has shown that insecure attachment leads to an individual having a negative self-evaluation which contributes to feelings of unattractiveness, which in turn leads to unhealthy sexual functioning (Birnbaum, 2007). These insecure attachment styles influence an individual's sexual experiences including, but not limited to sexual preferences during intercourse, sexual positions, feelings about intercourse, and the duration of a sexual relationship (Brennan et al., 1998; Hazan et al., 1994). The literature on attachment style and gender was also examined and research showed that women that display a rigid adherence to gender roles report lower levels of sexual satisfaction, which typically falls within an ambivalent attachment style (Goldsmith et al., 2016).

Parenting styles, which included authoritative, authoritarian, permissive, and neglectful parenting categories, were also explored. Demandingness and responsiveness in parenting were also examined and research indicated that parents that were high on demandingness and high on responsiveness fell in the authoritative parenting category and individuals that had parents that feel into that category demonstrated the healthiest functioning in adolescence, while adolescents who experienced neglectful parenting had the poorest outcomes (Kuppens & Ceulemans, 2019). There is consistent data that authoritative parenting style has the greatest number of benefits for healthy functioning overall in adolescence, while other parenting styles are associated with poorer adjustment in adolescence, including sexual risk taking and drug use (Baumrind 1991;

Lamborn et al., 1991; Steinberg et al., 1994). In terms of parenting styles and conversations about sexual functioning and adolescents research indicates that authoritative parents demonstrate the widest variety of topics discussed with their children, including sexual functioning (Askelson et al., 2012). Overall research consistently shows that authoritative parenting has positive effects for individuals, which includes sexual functioning and positively influences one's feelings surrounding such (Lamborn et al., 1991; Steinberg et al., 1994; Williams et al., 2009; Wolfradt et al., 2003).

Attachment and parenting styles and how such these may impact functioning in adulthood were explored. However, very little research on parenting styles and how they influence women's sexual functioning in adulthood was identified. Most research indicated how parenting style influences sexual functioning in adolescence and evolves to examining attachment style and how it influences sexual functioning in adulthood for women. Most women who experience sexual dysfunction displays some type of insecure attachment style, according to the research. However, approximately 60% of women report experiencing sexual dysfunction at some point in her life (Hayes et al., 2008), which statistically seems to be inconsistent with the research regarding attachment. No research studies were found reconciling the amount of sexual dysfunction reported and the correlation with insecure attachment. The limited research that was examined on parenting styles indicated that parental emotional engagement and support of autonomy during adolescence led to women who reported more sexual agency over their sexual experiences several years later and develop into responsible and sex-positive adults (Teyber & Teyber, 2019).

The parenting model was evaluated, and numerous shortcomings were found.

Shortcomings of the current parenting styles included the current model not including diverse

populations, the influence race and socioeconomic status plays, or an individual's beliefs systems plays in parenting (Rodriguez et al., 2009).

Recommendations presented in the literature were also reviewed for evaluation of the third question of the CRP. Recommendations, based on the research reviewed, included fostering a positive parental relationship, including open and positive communication about a wide variety of topics. Research reports that parents who are receptive and engage in a dialogue with adolescents create a healthier bond and more comfortability when discussing sensitive topics like sexual functioning, which then leads to their child feeling more comfortable when discussing sexual functioning with their own partners. Modeling positive behavior for your children is also included in clinical recommendations for parents attempting to foster healthy parent child relationships. While having conversations regarding healthy sexual functioning is an important aspect of healthy sexual functioning in the future for children, emphasizing positive aspects of a child's character and positive life goals are also important for parents to address because this allows sexual experiences to be a part of overall positive functioning.

Another recommendation provided included for parents to begin conversations about sexual with their children at early ages. Research has shown many parents wait until after their child has been engaging in sexual activity to have conversations about sexual functioning. While there is a variety of reasons as to why parents do not initiate conversations about sexual functioning with our children it is important to begin these difficult conversations at early ages to communicate with a child family values, parental expectations of behavior, healthy relationship dynamics, and promoting a sense of safety and autonomy for a child.

Parents should be encouraged and supported to become knowledgeable about current sexual functioning and attempt to be inclusive in their conversations with their child, according

to recommendations discussed in the literature. Parents who are able to answer questions in a comfortable, informal way with their child promotes feelings for their child, to be more comfortable when having conversations about sexual functioning with friends or potential partners. Research shows that parents often have misinformation regarding STI transmission and condom use effectiveness. Therefore, a recommendation is that parents inform themselves on those statistics and information before entering into a conversation with their child.

Another recommendation for parents would be to promote sex positive views and messages when discussing sexual functioning with their child. Parents should attempt to gain clarification on what sex positive culture is. The messages that sex positive conversations include was also discussed. Discussing sexual functioning from a sex positive viewpoint normalizes a pleasurable sexual experience for females. Parents who are able to have conversations with female adolescence about their sexual experience, according to research, promote knowledge of contraceptive use an STI testing, create overall healthy sexual functioning, and encourage an individual choice in engaging in sexual activity. Parents who are able to encourage autonomy and assertiveness in their female daughters, value and encourage their children to express their own ideas and opinions. Females who have grown up in environments that have parents that encourage assertiveness and autonomy are much more likely to practice that assertiveness in sexual situations and exercise healthy and self-confident decisions in adulthood, which is why this aspect of parenting is included in the clinical recommendations for creating healthier sexual functioning. Additionally, it is recommended to parent that they encourage self-advocacy and sexual agency in conversations with their adolescent daughters in regards to sexual functioning. If parents are able to encourage this in their conversations with adolescent females disempowers

daughters to say no in sexual situations, they are uncomfortable with and recognize sexual assault and lack of consent when it occurs.

Religious beliefs and how they influence conversations around sexuality and sexual functioning would be important to include in the recommendations. Research indicated that parental values have an important effect on the initial intercourse experience. However, studies also indicated that while religion plays a part in feelings of guilt after sexual activity before marriage, it does not deter individuals from engaging in sexual activity before marriage.

Therefore, clinical recommendations included parents integrating their own beliefs system into conversations surrounding sexual functioning and communicating family values and expectations for the individual child behavior, while keeping in mind a person can identify as religious and also engage in sexual activity.

The need to update SBSE was also discussed, citing abstinence only SBSE has historically been shown to be in effective at reducing STI transmission and adolescent pregnancy rates. Also, a review of SBSE literature indicated that the current curriculum is outdated and demonstrate a lack of diversity when considering the LGBTQ+ communities. Another major clinical recommendation is the lack of programs and resources that prevent victimization and abuse, particularly for women of color and other marginalized populations.

Parents who are focused creating a positive attachment with their child improve their overall relationship, which then influences a woman's ability to cultivate healthy adult relationships, which include her aspects of sexuality. Additionally, women would benefit through positive parental relationships and better functioning overall. Research has shown that positive parental relationships lead to healthier functioning in adulthood. Women who are able to create secure attachment which most likely can come from secure parental attachment report greater

levels of sexual satisfaction, according to research. This literature review also examined the impact positive parental relationships and the benefits those relationships can have on females feeling confident in reporting sexual assaults and minimize the negative effects of societal expectations for men and women's behavior.

Clinical Implications

Based on the findings of this literature review, clinicians who are working with parents or adolescents who find it difficult to engage in conversations about healthy sexual functioning can be an additional source of support. Clinicians are able to offer psychoeducation regarding the benefits of beginning these conversations, process uncomfortable feelings with parents and children surrounding such conversations, and conduct collaborative dialogue with a parent to initiate conversations about healthy sexual functioning. Psychoeducational groups can also be facilitated by clinicians who are working with families who find conversations around sexual functioning challenging. Appendix A included in this literature review is an additional resource that can be shared with parents.

Limitations

This literature review focused on parent-child relationships, parenting style, and communication. The research on parenting styles and their impact on sexual functioning reviewed revealed several limitations. In general, limited research has been conducted on the longitudinal effects of parenting styles on sexual functioning for adults. Additionally, research app that has been done on parenting and sexual functioning in general is somewhat dated. There have been fewer current research studies have been conducted on the longitudinal effects of parental relationships and communication on sexual functioning, which led this literature review to included more dated studies for informational purposes.

Many research studies on parent-child dynamics focused on adolescent behavior. Studies also indicated that negative childhood experiences have lasting negative impacts on generally functioning in adulthood. However, besides studies that examined early sexual assault and the outcomes of sexual trauma in childhood, very few studies, if any, specifically examined parenting styles and sexual functioning in adulthood.

Some studies in this literature review were quantitative and limited to a small sample within certain regions of the United States. Along with having a small sample size from a specific region, the Afifi et al. (2008) study primarily examined White families. Based on this lack of diversity and small sample size it is difficult to generalize the results of those limited studies to a majority of the population in the United States.

Little research on the double standard and conflicting messages, or sexual scripts, women receive regarding condom use. A study referenced in the review of the literature assessed that while women should be exclusively sexually active in committed relationships, while on the other hand condom use is reserved for sexual activity outside of relationships (Hynie et al., 1998). Other research on attachment styles indicated that monogamous sexual activity indicated secure attachment styles, which is not always accurate and seems to be more rigidly apply to women's behavior versus men's sexual behavior.

Limited research was found on culturally competent suggestions for parents on how to approach conversations about sexual functioning with adolescents. For this literature review, no research was found that was specific to a culture in how to approach difficult conversations with an adolescent.

While Whitaker et al. (1999) interviewed mothers and adolescents very few studies examined specifically father and daughter conversations regarding sexual functioning. Studies

indicated that it is the least likely that fathers will discuss sexual functioning with daughters, when compared to mothers.

Besides Bay-Cheng (2001, 2003) studies there has been little research on SBSE in recent decades. This indicates a need of up-to-date review of the curriculum, as well as, implementation of updated literature.

While many studies looked at the prevalence of premarital sex in individuals that identify as religious other studies failed to examine the long term affects religious influences could have on a females sexual functioning. For this literature review, no studies were found examining the long term affects that religion plays in female adult's attitudes regarding her sexual functioning.

There was no research found in this literature review linking childhood sexual assault and the higher reports of Black women engaging in sexual activity at earlier ages than their White peers. This literature review has found that many research studies failed to consider the diversity impact on women's sexual functioning. When examining ACE scores, a correlation is recorded between ACE scores and certain sexual behaviors but fails to report additional considerations when discussing sexual behavior, particularly for Black female adolescents. Researchers have reported from a narrow lens that Black female adolescents engage in sexual activity at younger ages than their White peers (Finer & Philbin, 2014). However, Black women are five times more likely to experience childhood abuse than White women (Siddiqi et al., 2015). In the majority of the literature, contributing factors to early sexual activity go largely unreported in the United States. Additionally, not only did this literature review not find a link, but it also uncovered language used by previous researchers, like "early sexual initiation", that tends to frame victims to sexual assault and coercion as an active participant (Tsuyuki et al., 2019).

A limitation on the current parenting styles referred to in current literature is based on White, middle class families and fails to take diversity, race, or belief systems into consideration (Rodriguez et al., 2009). Very little research conducted on minority populations and parenting styles is applicable in current society.

Suggestions for Future Research

Sex-positive models that promote sexual health and well-being have begun to become a part of the research and current literature (Harden, 2014; Horne & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2006; Tolman & McClelland, 2011). However, these frameworks for sex-positive culture, specifically for women, did not become a part of the discussion involving adolescent sexuality until the 2000s. Conducting research through a sex-positive lens allows for more autonomy and critical analysis of past research and how it influences current detrimental attitudes toward female sexual functioning.

An overall lack of research studies conducted in the U.S. regarding female sexual functioning in adulthood has been overwhelmingly found during this literature review. This finding indicates a lack of awareness or necessity of sex-positive female functioning within the United States. Studies should continue to frame research from a sex-positive lens to promote sexual autonomy, less victimization, greater awareness of cultural norms and standards of behaviors in sexual situations, and more resources for parents to discuss sexual functioning through a more sex-positive lens. In addition, individuals who identify as sexually fluid, non-binary, or non-gender conforming should be included in further research to assist in defining how healthy sexual functioning is experienced within the United States.

Most of the studies reviewed focused on attachment styles and their effects on relationship dynamics, overall functioning, and sexual functioning. However, most of the studies were conducted based on cultural norms of sexual activity in monogamous relationships.

Overall, the limited literature on the effects of parenting on women's sexual functioning suggests the need to further understand and document any impacts that parental communication, or lack of, may have on future sexual functioning of women. Additional research is also needed on women's sexual functioning and how women's experiences in sexuality can be improved. Increased research on women's sexual functioning and how childhood experiences impact such functioning can promote sexual autonomy, less victimization, and an overall improvement in women's life experiences.

Parenting models need to be updated to reflect an inclusive population and represent diversity. The current parenting styles model appear limited in accurately assessing parents and children's needs. By re-defining parenting styles and their contribution to the most positive outcomes in sexual functioning, it is important to consider all cultures and ethnicities in the United States. Additionally, current parenting style model does not appear to accurately depict present parenting styles. Conceptualization of these styles need revision and documentation as the original model was formulated based on a White middles class model. Inclusion of diversity, cultural, and current societal norms for parenting is needed. For example, the model is not an accurate predictor for positive outcomes in Latino, African American, or Asian families.

Therefore, future research should re-examine parenting models and adapt them to become inclusive of various cultures, diversity, and family structures. Many individuals would benefit from research Being conducted from an updated parenting model. Having a parenting model that

is more inclusive and takes into account all families function differently would be beneficial to updated societal norms.

Historically, societal attitudes have held different expectations for men's and women's sexual behaviors. Recognizing that there are cultural, societal, and religious differences when discussing men's and women's sexual behavior is an important starting point for further research. Presently, research has reported that fathers often have difficulty discussing sexual functioning, particularly with female daughters. Research exploring how gender differences influence conversations around sexual functioning could be beneficial for parents, along with research that explores what interventions could be most beneficial for a particular parenting style and improving parental relationships and quality of communication. Particularly, parental relationships with non-binary, non-gender conforming, and sexually fluid individuals would be beneficial to include in future research. Longitudinal studies on the repercussions of the lack of parental conversations on healthy female sexuality would also be beneficial to current research.

Conducting research from a sex-positive orientation would allow for less bias when performing research studies. Researchers would be able to withhold judgment and not assign value to women's sexual experiences, but rather measure the contributing factors to initiating sexual activity, the emotional effects of the encounter, and in what way the woman was prepared for sexual contact. For example, almost all research examined in this literature review discussed delaying sexual activity with a positive partner but delaying sexual experiences in adolescence is not necessarily negative or unhealthy if it is not coerced. Most research advocated for adolescence delaying sexual activity, but adolescents engaging in sexual activity has been established to be a normal part of development.

Until recently, the majority of the research has not emphasized a sex-positive perspective

for women, particularly adolescent girls. The research reviewed focused primarily on adult women's sexual activity in monogamous, heterosexual relationships, which continues to contribute to the social script that women should not engage in casual sexual encounters and that it is abnormal for women to desire casual sexual activity. A majority of the research defined female sexual functioning in a relatively narrow, rigid way, which is informing research from a non-sex-positive perspective. Risky sexual behavior for women has been defined by heterosexual, monogamous norms in past and most of the current research. This definition of risky sexual behavior is a narrow view of sexual functioning and defined by heterosexual, monogamous norms. Future research should be re-examined when discussing female sexual functioning to hold a more sex-positive view, which would include editing definitions and social contexts of what healthy and unhealthy sexual functioning can be for both adolescent and adult females.

The view that sexual activity should happen in monogamous relationships for women also contributes to attachment theory. Research done on sexual functioning related to attachment theory implies that women who demonstrate secure attachment engage in sexual activity in a monogamous partnership to feel connection and intimacy with their partner. However, the idea that an individual engages in sexual activity to demonstrate intimacy, instead of simply engaging in sexual activity for pleasure, informs how society views and responds to women's sexual functioning.

There are implications in the research reviewed that sexual activity in monogamous relationships is better than casual sexual encounters for women. The research that focuses on sexual activity in monogamous relationships does a disservice to women who engage in casual sexual encounters and fails to address additional sexual functioning such as masturbation.

Conducting research from a sex-positive view would also allow researchers to include all sexual experiences, instead of just vaginal intercourse, and all gender identities.

Most importantly, until recently, the majority of research has been conducted on what women can do for themselves to avoid victimization, while very little research has been conducted on what interventions are effective for those who would be at risk of sexually assaulting others. The idea that it is primarily the woman's responsibility to maintain sexual purity for religious reasons and limit the number of partners with whom she engages in sexual activity to avoid victimization is pervasive in U.S. culture and, until recently, research studies. Understandably, research is very limited because no known social, educational, or religious programs specifically address these kinds of behaviors, beliefs, and ideas. Currently, our culture emphasizes less sex-positive ideas and more protection against victimization.

Future research should be conducted with an awareness of cultural biases, allowing researchers to approach studies in a nonjudgmental and non-value-assigning way. If research could explore the need and benefits of sex-positive information and views, this could shift the lens from which the United States views sexual functioning for women. While some recent studies have conducted research through a sex-positive model (Harden, 2014; Horne & Zimmer-Gembeck, 2006; Tolman & McClelland, 2011), studies should continue to frame research from a sex-positive lens to promote sexual autonomy, less victimization, more awareness of cultural norms and standards of behaviors in sexual situations, and more resources for parents to discuss sexual functioning in a healthier, more knowledgeable way.

The current literature primarily indicates that Black women engage in "sexual initiation" at earlier ages than White women but have failed to identify causation and effective interventions for Black women or women of color. The lack of connection between factors, such as ACEs,

sexual victimization, and a lack of protective factors contributing to early sexual activity and early sexual experiences is alarming. Diversity consideration and exploration is necessary for further research. The higher rates of early sexual victimization for Black women and women of color are alarming, and the lack of research on causation and effective interventions are possibly reflective of the lack of support and concern minority populations have received through the decades. Future research on the rates of sexual victimization and effective clinical interventions to address victimization can identify strategies to minimize victimization for women of color and Black women, improvements could be made for a marginalized group of people.

Conclusion

Sexual functioning is a challenging topic to discuss. As women reach adulthood, some struggle with sexuality, sexual identity, past sexual trauma, along with many other issues related to sexual functioning. While these conversations are difficult to have, parents can be instrumental in initiating conversations about sexual functioning at home, in a safe environment, for their child to ask questions and feel comfortable talking about sexual topics. If parents can begin conversations early on, women are much less likely to become victimized and struggle with sexual functioning later on in life. By beginning these conversations, women can feel empowered and have autonomy over their own sexual experiences. Parents who cultivate positive relationships with their kids allow open, honest communication for all subjects, including sexual functioning. Assisting parents in developing a level of comfort in discussing sexual functioning with their daughters can also be an effective way to support women's sexual development. For decades, women's physical, mental, and sexual health, particularly women of color and Black women, has gone unremarked, undiscussed, and underdressed. It would benefit society as a whole for clinical research and society to place a greater value on women's

empowerment in this area, which could improve their sexual health.

References

- Abbott, D., Harris, J., & Mollen, D. (2016). The impact of religious commitment on women's sexual self-esteem. *Sexuality & Culture*, 20(4), 1063-1082. https://doi-org.nl.idm.oclc.org/10.1007/s12119-016-9374-x
- Adalbjarnardottir, S., & Hafsteinsson, L. G. (2001). Adolescents' perceived parenting styles and their substance use: Concurrent and longitudinal analysis. Journal of Research on Adolescence, 11, 401-423. https://doi.org/10.1111/1532-7795.00018
- Afifi, T. D., Joseph, A., & Aldeis, D. (2008). Why can't we just talk about it? An observational study of parents' and adolescents' conversations about sex. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 23(6), 689-721. https://doi-org.nl.idm.oclc.org/10.1177/0743558408323841
- Ainsworth, M.D., & Bell, S.M. (1970). Attachment, exploration, and separation: Illustrated by the behavior of one-year-olds in a strange situation. *Child Development*. 41(1):49-67. https://doi:10.2307/1127388.
- Ainsworth, M. D. S., Blehar, M. C., Waters, E., & Wall, S. (1978). *Patterns of attachment: A psychological study of the strange situation*. Erlbaum.
- Alfaro, E. C., Umana-Taylor, A. J., & Banaca, M. Y. (2006). The influence of academic support on Latino adolescents' academic motivation. Family Relations, 55, 279-291. http://www.jstor.org/stable/40005313
- Allen E. S., & Baucom, D. H. (2004) Adult attachment and patterns of extradyadic involvement. Family Process, 43(4), 467-88. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1545-5300.2004.00035.x

- Allen, K. R., & Brooks, J. E. (2012). At the intersection of sexuality, spirituality, and gender:

 Young adults' perceptions of religious beliefs in the context of sexuality education.

 American Journal of Sexuality Education, 7(4), 285-308.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/15546128.2012.740859
- Amato, P. R., & Fowler, F. (2002). Parenting practices, child adjustment, and family diversity.

 **Journal of Marriage and Family, 64, 703-716. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3737.2002.00703.x*
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.). https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.books.9780890425596
- Anderson, R. M. (2013). Positive sexuality and its impact on overall well-being.

 *Bundesgesundheitsblatt-Gesundheitsforschung-Gesundheitsschutz, 56, 208–214. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00103-012-1607-z.
- Andrews, B., & Brown, G. W. (1988). Marital violence in the community: A biographical approach. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, *153*, 305-312. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.153.3.305
- Armstrong, H., & Reissing, E. (2015). Women's motivations to have sex in casual and committed relationships with male and female partners. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 44(4), 921-934. https://doi-org.nl.idm.oclc.org/10.1007/s10508-014-0462-4
- Arnett, J. J. (2010). Adolescence and emerging adulthood (4th ed.). Prentice-Hall.
- Askelson, N., Campo, S., & Smith, S. (2012). Mother-daughter communication about sex: The influence of authoritative parenting style. *Health Communication*, *27*(5), 439-448. https://doi-org.nl.idm.oclc.org/10.1080/10410236.2011.606526
- Bajos, N., Bozon, M., Beltzer, N., Laborde, C., Andro, A., Ferrand, M., Goulet, V., Laporte, A.,

- Le Van, C., Leridon, H., Levinson, S., Razafindratsim, N., Toulemon, L., Warszawski, J., & Wellings, K. (2010). Changes in sexual behaviours: From secular trends to public health policies. *AIDS*, *24*(8), 1185-1191. https://doi.org/10.1097/QAD.0b013e328336ad52
- Barber, B. K. (1996). Parental psychological control: Revisiting a neglected construct. *Child Development*, 67, 3296-3319.
- Basson, R. (2000). The female sexual response: A different model. *Journal of Sex & Marital Therapy*, 26(1), 51-65. https://doi.org/10.1080/009262300278641
- Baumgartner, J. N., Geary, C. W., Tucker, H., & Wedderburn, M. (2009). The influence of early sexual debut and sexual violence on adolescent pregnancy: A matched case-control study in Jamaica. *International Perspectives on Sexual and Reproductive Health*, 21-8. https://doi.org/10.1363/ifpp.35.021.09
- Baumrind, D. (1966). Effects of authoritative parental control on child behavior. *Child Develop ment*, *37*, 887-907. https://doi.org/10.2307/1126611
- Baumrind, D. (1967). Child care practices anteceding three patterns of preschool behaviour. *Ge netic Psychology Monographs*, 75, 43-88.
- Baumrind, D. (1971). Current patterns of parental authority. *Developmental Psychology*, 4, 1-103. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0030372
- Baumrind, D. (1989). Rearing competent children. In W. Damon (Ed.), *Child development today* and tomorrow (pp. 349-378). Jossey-Bass.
- Baumrind, D. (1991). The influence of parenting style on adolescent competence and substance abuse. *Journal of Early Adolescence*, 11, 56-95.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0272431691111004

- Baxter, J. (2009). Constructions of active womanhood and new femininities: From a feminist linguistic perspective, is "Sex and the City" a modernist or a post-modernist TV text?

 Women & Language, 32(1), 91–98.
- Bay-Cheng, L. Y. (2001). SexEd.com: Values and norms in web-based sexuality education, *The Journal of Sex Research*, 38(3), 241-251. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224490109552093
- Bay-Cheng, L. Y. (2003). The trouble of teen sex: The construction of adolescent sexuality through school-based sexuality education. *Sex Education*, *3*(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/1468181032000052162
- Bearman, P. S., & Bruckner, H. (2005). After the promise: The STD consequences of adolescent virginity pledges. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, *36*(4), 271-278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2005.01.005
- Bednar, D. E., & Fisher, T. D. (2003). Peer referencing in adolescent decision making as a function of perceived parenting styles. *Adolescence*, *38*, 607-621.
- Beeney, J. E., Wright, A., Stepp, S. D., Hallquist, M. N., Lazarus, S. A., Beeney, J., Scott, L. N., & Pilkonis, P. A. (2017). Disorganized attachment and personality functioning in adults: A latent class analysis. *Personality disorders*, 8(3), 206–216. https://doi.org/10.1037/per0000184
- Beitchman, J. H., Zucker, K., & Hood, J. E. (1992). A review of the long-term consequences of child sexual abuse. *Child Abuse and Neglect*, 16, 101-118.
- Birnbaum, G. E. (2007). Attachment orientations, sexual functioning, and relationship satisfaction in a community sample of women. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 24, 21-35. https://doi:10.1177/0265407507072576

- Birnbaum, G. E. (2015). Attachment and sexual mating: The joint operation of separate motivational systems. In J. Cassidy & P.R. Shaver (Eds.), *Handbook of attachment: Theory, research, and clinical applications*. Guilford Press.
- Birtchnell, J. (1993). Does recollection of exposure to poor maternal care in childhood affect later ability to relate? *British Journal of Psychiatry*, *162*, 335-344.
- Blake, S. M., Simkin, L., Ledsky, R., Perkins, C., & Calabrese, J. M. (2001). Effects of a parent-child communications intervention on young adolescents 'risk for early onset of sexual intercourse. *Family Planning Perspectives*, *33*, 52-61
- Blondal, K.S. & Adalbjarnardottir, K. (2009). Parenting Practices and School Dropout: A Longitudinal Study. *Adolescence*, 176(44), 729-749.
- Bogaert, A. F., & Sadava, S. (2002). Adult attachment and sexual behavior. *Personal Relationships*, *9*, 191-204.
- Bordini G.S. & Sperb, T.M., (2013). Sexual double standard: A review of the literature between 2001 and 2010, *Sexuality and Culture*, 17(4), 686-704.
- Bostock, D. J., & Daley, J. G. (2007). Lifetime and current sexual assault and harassment victimization rates of active-duty United States Air Force women. *Violence Against Women*, *13*(9), 927-944. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801207305232
- Bowlby, J. (1969). Attachment and loss. (OKS Print.) New York: Basic Books.
- Bowlby, J. (1973). Attachment and loss: Separation. Penguin.
- Bowlby, J. (1985). The role of childhood experience in cognitive disturbance. In M.J. Mahoney & A. Freeman (Eds.), *Cognition and psychotherapy* (pp. 181-200). Plenum Press.

- Brassard, A., Dupuy, E., Bergeron, S., & Shaver, P. R. (2015). Attachment insecurities and women's sexual function and satisfaction: The mediating roles of sexual self-esteem, sexual anxiety, and sexual assertiveness. *Journal of Sex Research*, *52*, 110-119. https://doi: 10.1080/00224499.2013.838744
- Brennan, K. A., & Shaver, P. R. (1995). Dimensions of adult attachment, affect regulation and romantic relationship functioning. *Personality and Social Psychological Bulletin, 21*, 267-283.
- Brennan, K. A., Wu, S., & Love, J. (1998). Adult romantic attachment and individual differences in attitudes toward physical contact in the context of adult romantic relationships. In J.A. Simpson & W.S. Rholes (Eds.), Attachment theory and close relationships (pp. 248-256). Guilford Press.
- Bretherton, I. (1985). Attachment theory: Retrospect and prospect. Monograph of the society for research in child development, serial number 209. In I. Bretherton, & E. Waters (Eds.), *Growing points of attachment theory and research* (pp. 335). Wiley.
- Brickman, J., & Willoughby, J. F. (2017). You shouldn't be making people feel bad about having sex': exploring young adults' perceptions of a sex-positive sexual health text message intervention. *Sex Education*, 17(6), 621-634. https://doi.org.nl.idm.oclc.org/
- Broderick, P. C., & Blewitt, P. (2003). *The life span: Human development for helping professionals*. Pearson Education.
- Brown, G. W., & Harris, T. O. (1978). Social origins of depression. Tavistock.
- Brown, G. W., & Moran, P. (1994). Clinical and psychosocial origins of chronic depressive episodes I: A community survey. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, *165*, 447-456.

- Brown, L., & Iyengar, S. (2008). Parenting styles: The impact of student achievement. *Marriage* & Family Review, 43(1), 14-38.
- Brown, M. J., Masho, S. W., Perera, R. A., Mezuk, B., & Cohen, S. A. (2015). Sex and sexual orientation disparities in adverse childhood experiences and early age at sexual debut in the United States: Results from a nationally representative sample. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 46, 89-102.
- BuDough, V. L. 1976). Sexual variance in society and history. University of Chicago Press.
- Burns, M. C. (2018). Mixed messages: Inconsistent sexual scripts in Australian teenage magazines and implications for sexual health practices. *Sex Education*, *18*(2), 191-205. https://doi.org/10.1080/14681811.2017.1415876
- Buzwell, S., & Rosenthal, D. (1996). Constructing a sexual self: Adolescents sexual selfperceptions and sexual risk-taking, *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 6, 489-513.
- Byers, E. S., Sears, H. A., & Weaver, A. D. (2008). Parents' reports of sexual communication with children in kindergarten to grade 8, *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 70(1), 86-96.
- Carlson, C., Uppal, S., & Prosser, E. C. (2000). Ethnic differences in processes contributing to the self-esteem of early adolescent girls. *Journal of Early Adolescence*, 20, 44-67.
- Carpenter, L. M. (2001). The ambiguity of "having sex": The subjective experience of virginity loss in the United States. *Journal of Sex Research*, 38(2), 127-139.
- Cassidy, J., & Berlin, L. J. (1994). The insecure/ambivalent pattern of attachment: theory and research. *Child development*, 65(4), 971–991.
- Cavazos-Rehg, P. A., Krauss, M. J., Spitznagel, E. L., Schootman, M., Bucholz, K. K., Peipert, J. F., Sanders-Thompson, V., Cottler, L. B., & Bierut, L. J. (2009). Age of sexual debut

- among U.S. adolescents. *Contraception*, 80(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.contraception.2009.02.014
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2014). Prevalence and Characteristics of Sexual

 Violence, Stalking, and Intimate Partner Violence Victimization National Intimate

 Partner and Sexual Violence Survey, United States, 2011. U.S. Department of Health and

 Human Services. https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/ss6308a1.htm
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2015). *National Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence Survey: 2015 Data Brief, 2015.* U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/datasources/nisvs/2015NISVSdatabrief.html
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2017). Reproductive Health- Teenage Pregnancy.

 United States, 2011. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. https://www.cdc.

 gov/teenpregnancy/about/index.htm
- Chandra, A., Martinez, G., Mosher, W., Abma, J., & Jones, J. (2005). Fertility, family planning and reproductive health of U.S. women: Data from the 2002 National Survey of Family Growth. *Vital Health Statistics*, *23*(25), 1-160.
- Chang, L., Dodge, K., & McBride-Chang, C. (2003). Harsh Parenting in Relation to Child Emotion Regulation and Aggression. *Journal of Family Psychology* 17(4), 598-606. https://doi: 10.1037/0893-3200.17.4.598
- Ciocca, G., Limoncin, E., Di Tommaso, S., Mollaioli, D., Gravina, G. L., Marcozzi, A., Tullii, A., Carosa, E., Di Sante, S., Gianfrilli, D., Lenzi, A., & Jannini, E. A. (2015). Attachment styles and sexual dysfunctions: A case-control study of female and male sexuality.

- International Journal of Impotence Research, 27(3), 81-85. https://doiorg.nl.idm.oclc.org/10.1038/ijir.2014.33
- Collins, N. L., & Read, S. J. (1990). Adult attachment, working models, and relationship quality in dating couples. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 58, 644-663.
- Cooper, M. L., Pioli, M., Levitt, A., Talley, A., Micheas, L., & Collins, N. L. (2006). Attachment styles, sex motives, and sexual behaviour: Evidence for gender-specific expressions of attachment dynamics. In M. Mikulincer & G.S. Goodman (Eds.), *Dynamics of love:*Attachment, caregiving, and sex (pp. 243-274). Guilford Press.
- Cowden, C. R., & Bradshaw, S. D. (2007). Religiosity and sexual concerns. *International Journal of Sexual Health*, 19(1), 15-24. https://doi.org/10.1300/J514v19n01_03
- Crowell, J. A., Fraley, R. C., & Shaver, P. R. (1999). Measurement of individual difference in adolescent and adult attachment. In J. Cassidy & P.R. Shaver (Eds.), *Handbook of attachment: Theory, research, and clinical applications* (pp. 434-465). Guilford Press.
- Curtin, N., Ward, L. M., Merriwether, A., & Caruthers, A. (2011). Femininity Ideology and Sexual Health in Young Women: A focus on Sexual Knowledge, Embodiment, and Agency. *International Journal of Sexual Health*, 23(1), 48–62. https://doi: 10.1080/19317611.2010.524694
- Cyranowski, J. M., & Anderson, B. L. (1998). Schemas, sexuality, and romantic attachment. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 74*, 1364-1379.
- Danziger, S. K. (1995). Family life and teenage pregnancy in the inner-city: Experiences of African-American youth. *Children and Youth Services Review, 17*, 183-202.
- Dahlen, H. (2019). Female Sexual Dysfunction: Assessment and Treatment. *Urologic Nursing*, 39(1), 39–46.

- Darling, N., & Steinberg, L. (1993). Parenting style as context: An integrative model.

 *Psychology Bulletin, 113, 487-496.
- Davis, D., Shaver, P. R., Widman, K. F., Vernon, M. L., Follette, W. C., & Beitz, K. (2006). I can't get no satisfaction: Insecure attachment, inhibited sexual communication, and sexual dissatisfaction. *Personal Relationships*, *13*, 465-483. https://doi: 10.1111/j.1475-6811.2006.00130.x
- de Graaf, H., & Rademakers, J. (2011). The Psychological Measurement of Childhood Sexual

 Development in Western Societies: Methodological Challenges. *Journal of Sex Research*,

 48(2/3), 118–129. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224499.2011.555929
- DeLameter, J. (1981). The social control of sexuality. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 7, 263-290.
- Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Bureau of Justice Statistics (2019), *National Crime Victimization Survey*, 2018. Retrieved August 8th 2020 from https://www.bjs.gov/index.cfm?ty=dcdetail&iid=245
- Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Bureau of Justice Statistics (2020), *National Crime Victimization Survey*, 2015-2019. Retrieved April 28th 2021 from https://www.bjs.gov/index.cfm?ty=dcdetail&iid=245
- DeVore, E., & Ginsburg, K. (2005). The protective effects of good parenting on adolescents. *Current Opinion in Pediatrics*, 17(4), 460-465.
- Dewitte, M. (2012). Different perspectives on the sex-attachment link: Toward an emotional motivational account. *Journal of Sex Research*, 49. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224499.2011.576351

- DiClemente, R., Wingood, G., Crosby, R., Cobb, B., Harrington, K., & Davies, S. (2001).

 Parent-adolescent communication and sexual risk behaviors among African-American adolescent females. *Journal of Pediatrics*, *139*, 407-412.
- DiIorio, C., Pluhar, E., & Belcher, L. (2009). Parent-child communication about sexuality: a review of the literature from 1980-2002, *Journal of HIV/AIDS Prevention and Education for Adolescents and Children*, (3/4), 7-32.
- Dittus, P. J. & Jaccard, J. J (2000). Adolescents' perceptions of maternal disapproval of sex: relationship to sexual outcomes. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 26(4), 268-278.
- Domenech Rodriguez, M.M., Donovick, M.R., & Crowley, S.L. (2009). Parenting Styles in a Cultural Context: Observations of "Protective Parenting" in First-Generation Latinos. Family Process, 48, 195-210. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1545-5300.2009.01277.x
- Dorius, G., & Barber, B. (1998). Parental support and control and the onset of sexual intercourse [Unpublished manuscript]. Brigham Young University, Provo, UT.
- Dornbusch, S. M., Ritter, P. L., Leiderman, P. H., Roberts, D. F., & Fraleigh, M. J. Fraleigh (1987). The relation of parenting style to adolescent school performance. *Child Development*, 58, 1244-1257.
- Dozier, M., & Kobak, P. (1992). Psychophysiology in attachment interviews: Converging evidence for deactivating strategies. *Child Development*, *63*, 1473-1480.
- Dube, S. R., Anda, R. F., Felitti, V. J., Chapman, D. P., Williamson, D. F., & Giles, W. H. (2001). Childhood abuse, household dysfunction, and the risk of attempted suicide throughout the life span. *JAMA*, 286, 3089-3096. https:///doi.org/10.1001/jama.286.24.3089

- Dube, S. R., Felitti, V. J., Dong, M., Chapman, D. P., Giles, W. H., & Anda, R. F. (2003).
 Childhood abuse, neglect, and household dysfunction and the risk of illicit drug use: The ad-verse childhood experiences study, *Pediatrics*, 111, 564-572.
 https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.111.3.564
- Eastman, K. L., Corona, R., Ryan, G. W., Warsofsky, A. L., & Schuster, M. A. (2005).

 Worksite-based parenting programs to promote healthy adolescent sexual development: a qualitative study of feasibility and potential content. *Perspectives on Sexual and Reproductive Health*, 37(2), 62-69.
- Ehrhardt, A. A. (1996). Editorial: Our view of adolescent sexuality: a focus on risk behavior without the developmental context. *American Journal of Public Health*, 86, 1523-1525.
- Eisenberg, M. E., Bearinger, L. H., Sieving, R. E., Swain, C., & Resnick, M. D. (2004). Parents' beliefs about condoms and oral contraceptives: are they medically accurate? *Perspectives on sexual and reproductive health*, *36*(2), 50–57. https://doi.org/10.1363/psrh.36.50.04
- Eisenberg, M., Bearinger, L., Sieving, R., Swain, C., & Resnick, M. (2004). Parents' beliefs about condoms and oral contraceptives: Are they medically accurate? *Perspectives on Sexual and Reproductive Health*, 36(2), 50-57.
- Eisenberg, M. E., Bernat, D. H., Bearinger, L. H., & Resnick, M. D. (2008). Support for comprehensive sexuality education: Perspectives from parents of school-age youth. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 42(4), 352-359.
- Eleuteri, S., & Farulla, C. (2016). Sexual counselling with Catholics: How to cope with sexual issues with Catholic clients? *Sexual & Relationship Therapy*, *31*(3), 289-300.
- Emery, R. E. (1982). Interparental conflict and the children of discord and divorce. *Psychological Bulletin*, 92, 310-330.

- Fagan, T. K. (2000). Practicing school psychology: A turn-of-the-century perspective. *American Psychologist*, 55(7), 754–757. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.55.7.754
- Fang, L., Chuang, D-M., & Lee, Y. (2016). Adverse childhood experiences, gender, and HIV risk behaviors: Results from a population-based sample. *Preventive Medicine Reports*, 4, 113-120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmedr.2016.05.019
- Farrington, D. F. (1995). The twelfth Jack Tizard memorial lecture. The development of offending and antisocial behaviour from childhood: Key findings from the Cambridge Study in delinquent development. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *36*, 929-964.
- Feeney, J., Peterson, C., Gallois, C., & Terry, D. (2000). Attachment style as a predictor of sexual attitudes and behaviour in late adolescence. *Psychology and Health, 14*, 1105-1122.
- Felitti, V. J., Anda, R. F., Nordenberg, D., Williamson, D. F., Spitz, A. M., Edwards, V., & Marks, J. S. (1998). Relationship of childhood abuse and household dysfunction to many of the leading causes of death in adults: The Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) study, *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 14, 245, 258, https://doi.org/10.1016/s0749-3797(98)00017-8
- Feltey, K. M., & Poloma, M. M. (1991). From sex differences to gender role beliefs: Exploring effects on six dimensions of religiosity. *Sex Roles*, 25(3), 181-193. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00289853
- Fine, M. (1988). Sexuality, schooling, and adolescent females: the missing discourse of desire.

 *Harvard Educational Review, 58, 29-53.**
- Fine, M., & McClelland, S. I. (2006). Sexuality Education and Desire: Still Missing after All

- These Years. *Harvard Educational Review*, 76(3), 297–338. https://doi.org/10.17763/haer.76.3.w5042g23122n6703
- Finer, L. B. (2007). Trends in premarital sex in the United States, 1954-2003. *Public Health Reports*, 122, 73-78.
- Finer, L. B., & Philbin, J. M. (2014). Trends in Ages at Key Reproductive Transitions in the United States, 1951–2010. *Women's Health Issues*, 24(3), e271-9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.whi.2014.02.002
- Finkelhor, D. (1983). Common features of family abuse. In D. Finkelhor, R. Gelles, G. Hotaling, & M. Straus (Eds.), *The dark side of families: Current family violence research*. SAGE.
- Finkelhor, D., Hotaling, G., Lewis, I. A., & Smith, C. (1990). Sexual abuse in a national survey of adult men and women: Prevalence, characteristics, and risk factors. *Child Abuse and Neglect*, 14, 19-28.
- Fisher, B. S., Cullen, F. T., & Turner, M. G. (2000). *The sexual victimization of college women*(Research Report NCJ 182369). U.S. Department of Justice Programs, National Institute of Justice.
- Flores, D. & Barroso, J. (2017) 21st Century Parent–Child Sex Communication in the United States: A Process Review. *The Journal of Sex Research*, *54* (4-5)532-548. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224499.2016.1267693
- Frith, H., & Kitzinger, C. (2001). Reformulating sexual script theory: Developing a discursive psychology of sexual negotiation. *Theory and Psychology 11*(2), 209-232. https://doi.org/10.1177/0959354301112004
- Gagnon, J. H., & Simon, W. (1987). Sexual scripting of oral-genital contacts. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 16(1), 1-25.

- Gagnon, J. H., & Simon, W. [1973] (2005). Sexual conduct (2nd ed.). Aldine Transaction.
- Garceau, C., & Ronis, S. T. (2017). The interface between young adults' religious values and their sexual experiences before age 16. *The Canadian Journal of Human Sexuality*, 26(2), 142-150.
- Gentzler, A. L., & Kerns, K. A. (2004). Associations between insecure attachment and sexual experiences. *Personal Relationships*, 11, 249-265.
- Gerhardt, S. (2006). Why love matters: How affection shapes a baby's brain. *Infant Observation*, 9, 305-309. https://doi.org/10.1080/13698030601074476
- Golding, J. M. (1999). Intimate partner violence as a risk factor for mental disorders: A metaanalysis. *Journal of Family Violence*, 14(2), 99-132.
- Goldsmith, K. M., Dunkley, C. R., Dang, S. S., & Gorzalka, B. B. (2016). Sexuality and romantic relationships: Investigating the relation between attachment style and sexual satisfaction. *Sexual and Relationship Therapy*, *31*(2), 190-206. https://doiorg.nl.idm.oclc.org/10.1080/14681994.2016.1158804
- Gollub, E. L., Cyrus-Cameron, E., Armstrong, K., Boney, T., & Chhatre, S. (2013). Basic body knowledge in street-recruited, active drug-using women enrolled in a "body empowerment" intervention trial. *AIDS Care*, *25*(6), 732–737. https://doi.org/10.1080/09540121.2012.748167
- Government Accountability Office. (2006). Abstinence education: Efforts to assess the accuracy and effectiveness of federally-funded programs. Technical Report GAO-07-87. Author.
- Grady, W. R., Klepinger, D. H., Billy, J. O. G., & Cubbins, L. A. (2010). The role of relationship power in couple decisions about contraception in the U.S. *Journal of Biosocial Science*, 42(3), 307-23. http://dx.doi.org.libproxy.edmc.edu/10.1017/ S0021932009990575

- Gray, M. R., & Steinberg, L. (1999). Unpacking authoritative parenting: Reassessing a multidimensional construct. *Journal of Marriage and the Family, 61*, 574-587.
- Greene, K., & Faulkner, S. L. (2005). Gender, belief in the sexual double standard, and sexual talk in heterosexual dating relationships. *Sex Roles*, *53*, 239-251. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-005-5682-6
- Grossman, J. M., Jenkins, L. J. & Richer, A. M. (2018). Parents' perspectives on family sexuality communication from middle school to high school. *International Journal of Environ mental Research and Public Health*, 15, 107.
- Grossman, J. M., Richer, A. M., Charmaraman, L., Ceder, I., & Erkut, S. (2018). Youth perspectives on sexuality communication with parents and extended family. *Family Relations*, 67(3), 368-380. https://doi-org.nl.idm.oclc.org/10.1111/fare.12313
- Grossman, J. M., Tracy, A. J., Charmaraman, L., Ceder, I., & Erkut, S. (2014). Protective effects of middle school comprehensive sex education with family involvement. *Journal of School Health*, 84(11), 739-747. https://doi-org.nl.idm.oclc.org/10.1111/josh.12199
- Grusec, J. (2002). Parental socialization and children's acquisition of values. In M. Bornstein (Ed.), *Handbook of parenting* (Vol. 5, pp. 245-281). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Guilamo-Ramos, V., Dittus, P., Jaccard, J., Goldberg, V., Casillas, E., & Bouris, A. (2006). The content and process of mother- adolescent communication about sex in Latino families.

 Social Work Research, 30(3), 169-181.
- Guilamo-Ramos, V., Jaccard, J., Dittus, P., & Collins, S. (2008). Parent-adolescent communication about sexual intercourse: An analysis of maternal reluctance to communicate. *Health Psychology*, 27(6), 760–769. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0013833

- Guldin, M. B., Li, J., Pedersen, H. S., Obel, C., Agerbo, E., Gissler, M., Cnattingius, S., Olsen, J., & Vestergaard, M. (2015). Incidence of suicide among persons who had a parent who died during their childhood: A population-based cohort study. *JAMA psychiatry*, 72(12), 1227–1234. https://doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2015.2094
- Haglund, K. A., & Fehring, R. J. (2009). The association of religiosity, sexual education, and parental factors with risky sexual behaviors among adolescents and young adults. *Journal of Religion and Health*, 49(4), 460-472. https://doi:10.1007/s10943-009-9267-5
- Harden, K. P. (2014). A sex-positive framework for research on adolescent sexuality.

 *Perspectives on Psychological Science, 9, 455-469.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691614535934
- Hardy, S. A., & Raffaelli, M. (2003). Adolescent religiosity and sexuality: An investigation of reciprocal influences. *Journal of Adolescence*, 26, 731-739.
- Haste, H. (1993). *The sexual metaphor*. Harvester Wheatsheaf.
- Hayes, R. D., Dennerstein, L., Bennett, C. M., & Fairley, C. K. (2008). What is the "true" prevalence of female sexual dysfunctions, and does the way we assess these conditions have an impact? *Journal of Sexual Medicine*, *5*, 777-787. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1743-6109.2007.00768.x
- Hazan, C., & Shaver, P. (1987). Romantic love conceptualized as an attachment process. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 52, 511-524.
- Hazan, C., Zeifman, D., & Middleton, K. (1994, July). Adult romantic attachment, affection, and sex. Paper presented at the 7th International Conference on Personal Relationships,Groningen, The Netherlands.

- Herman, D. B., Susser, E. S., Struening, E. L., & Link, B. L. (1997). Adverse childhood experiences: Are they risk factors for adult homelessness? *American Journal of Public Health*, 87, 249-255. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.87.2.249
- Hernandez, K. M., Mahoney, A., & Pargament, K. I. (2011). Sanctification of sexuality:

 Implications for newlyweds' marital and sexual quality. *Journal of Family Psychology*,

 25(5), 775-780. https://doi-org.nl.idm.oclc.org/10.1037/a0025103
- Hill, K. G., Bailey, J. A., Hawkins, J. D., Catalano, R. F., Kosterman, R., Oesterle, S., & Abbott,
 R. D. (2014). The onset of STI diagnosis through age 30: Results from the Seattle social development project intervention. *Prevention Science*, 15(1), 19-32.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11121-013-0382-x
- Hillis, S. D., Anda, R. F., Felitti, V. J., & Marchbanks, P. A. (2001). Adverse childhood experiences and sexual risk behaviors in women: A retrospective cohort study. *Family Planning Perspectives*, 33(5), 206-211.
- Hock-Long, L., Henry-moss, D., Carter, M., Hatfield-timajchy, K., Erickson, P. I., Cassidy, A., & Chittams, J. (2013). Condom use with serious and casual heterosexual partners:
 Findings from a community venue-based survey of young adults. *AIDS and Behavior*,
 17(3), 900-13. http://dx.doi.org.libproxy.edmc.edu/10.1007/s10461-012-0177-2
- Hoeve, M., Blokland, A., Dubas, J. S., Loeber, R., Gerris, J. R. M., & van der Laan, P. H. (2008). Trajectories of delinquency and parenting styles. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, *36*, 223-235.
- Hogan, D. P., & Kitagawa, E. M. (1985). The impact of social status, family structure, and neighborhood on the fertility of Black adolescents. *American Journal of Sociology*, 90, 825-855.

- Hooghe, M. (2012). Is sexual well-being part of subjective well-being? An empirical analysis of Belgian (Flemish) survey data using an extended well-being scale. *Journal of Sex**Research*, 49, 264273. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224499.2010.551791
- Horne, S., & Zimmer-Gembeck, M. (2006). A female sexual subjectivity inventory: development and validation of a multidimensional inventory for late adolescence and emerging adults.

 Psychology of Women, 30, 125-138. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1471-6402.2006.00276.x
- Huang, G. H. C., & Gove, M. (2015). Asian Parenting Styles and Academic Achievement: Views from Eastern and Western Perspectives. *Education*, *135*(3), 389–397.
- Huebner, A. J., & Howell, L. W. (2003). Examining the relationship between adolescent sexual risk-taking and perceptions of monitoring, communication, and parenting styles. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 33, 71-78.
- Hunt, M., & Jung, P. (2009). "Good sex" and religion: A feminist overview. *Journal of Sex Research*, 46(2/3), 156-167. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224490902747685
- Hynie, M., Lydon, J. E., Côté, S., & Wiener, S. (1998). Relational sexual scripts and women's condom use: The importance of internalized norms. *The Journal of Sex Research*, *35*(4), 370-380. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224499809551955
- Impett, E. A., & Tolman, D. L. (2006). Late Adolescent Girls 'Sexual Experiences and Sexual Satisfaction. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 21(6), 628–646. https://doi.org/10.1177/0743558406293964
- Jaccard, J., & Dittus, P. (1991). Parent-teenager communication: Towards the prevention of unintended pregnancies. Springer-Verlag.
- Jaccard, J., Dittus, P. J., & Gordon. V. V. (1996). Maternal correlates of adolescent sexual and contraceptive behavior. *Family Planning Perspectives*, 28, 159-165.

- Jaccard, J., Dittus, P. J., & Gordon, V. V. (2000). Parent-teen communication about premarital sex: factors associated with the extent of communication. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 15(2), 187-208.
- Jones, D. J., Forehand, R., & Beach, S. H. (2000). Maternal and paternal parenting during adolescence: Forecasting early adult psychosocial adjustment. *Adolescence*, *38*, 513-531.
- Jones, S. L., & Hostler, H. R. (2002). Sexual script theory: An integrative exploration of the possibilities and limits of sexual self-definition. *Journal of Psychology and Theology*, 30(2), 120-130.
- Jouriles, E.N., Pfiffner, L.J. & O'Leary, S.G. (1988). Marital conflict, parenting, and toddler conduct problems. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 16, 197–206 (1988). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00913595
- Julian, T. W., McKenry, P.C., & McKelvey, M.W. (1994). Cultural Variations in Parenting:
 Perceptions of Caucasian, African-American, Hispanic, and Asian-American Parents.
 Family Relations, 43(1), 30-37. https://doi.org/10.2307/585139
- Kann, L., McManus, T., Harris, W. A., Shanklin, S. L., Flint, K. H., Queen, B., Lowry, R.,
 Chyen, D., Whittle, L., Thornton, J., Connie Lim, Bradford, D., Yamakawa, Y., Leon,
 M., Brener, N., & Ethier, K. A. (2018). Youth risk behavior surveillance—United States,
 2017. MMWR Surveillance Summaries, 67(8), 1.
- Kaplan, D. L., Jones, E. J., Olson, E. C., & Yunzal-Butler, C. B. (2013). Early age of first sex and health risk in an urban adolescent population. *Journal of School Health*, 83(5), 350-6. https://doi.org/10.1111/josh.12038
- Karoksky, P.S., Zeng, L., & Korsorok, M.R. (2000). Relationship between adolescent-parental communication and initiation of first intercourse by adolescents. *Journal of Adolescent*

- Health, 28, 41-45
- Katz, J. & van der Kloet, E. (2010). The First Man in Her Life: Father Emotional
 Responsiveness During Adolescence and College Women's Sexual Refusal Behaviors,
 The American Journal of Family Therapy, 38(4), 344-356. https://doi.org/
 10.1080/01926187.2010.493474
- Katz-Wise, S. L., & Hyde, J. S. (2014). Sexuality and gender: The interplay. In D. L. Tolman, L. M. Diamond, J. A. Bauermeister, W. H. George, J. G. Pfaus, & L. M. Ward (Eds.), APA handbooks in psychology. APA handbook of sexuality and psychology, Vol. 1. Personbased approaches (p. 29–62). American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/14193-002
- Kessler, R. C., & Magee, W. J. (1993). Childhood adversities and adult depression: Basic pat terns of association in a U.S. national survey. *Psychological Medicine*, 23, 679-690. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0033291700025460
- Kiefer, A.K., & Sanchez, D. T. (2007). Scripting sexual passivity: A gender role perspective.

 *Personal Relationships, 14(2), 269–290.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.14756811.2007.00154.x
- Kilpatrick, D. G., Edmunds, C. N., & Seymour, A. K. (1992). *Rape in America*. National Victim Center.
- Kilpatrick, D. G., Resnick, H. S., Ruggiero, K. J., Conoscenti, L. M., & McCauley, J. (2007).

 *Drug-facilitated, incapacitated, and forcible rape: A national study. National Institute of Justice.
- Kingsberg, S.A., & Woodard, T. (2015). Female sexual dysfunction: Focus on low desire.

 Obstetrics & Gynecology, 125(2), 477-486.

- Kirby, D. (2002). Innovative approaches to increase parent-child communication about sexuality: Their impact and examples from the field. Sexuality Information and Education Council of the United States.
- Kirby, D., & Miller, B. (2002). Interventions designed to promote parent-teen communication about sexuality. In *New directions for child and adolescent development* (pp. 93-110). Jossey-Bass.
- Kirkpatrick, L. A., & Davis, K. E. (1994). Attachment style, gender, and relationship stability: A longitudinal analysis. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 66, 502-512.
- Klein, V., Becker, I., & Štulhofer, A. (2018). Parenting, communication about sexuality, and the development of adolescent women's sexual agency: A longitudinal assessment. *Journal* of Youth & Adolescence, 47(7), 1486-1498. https://doi-org.nl.idm.oclc.org/ 10.1007/ s10964-018-0873-y
- Klein, J., Sabaratnam, P., Pazor, B., Auerbach, M., Havens, C., & Brach, M. (2005). Evaluation of the parents as primary sexuality educators program. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, *37*(S), S94-99.
- Krebs, C. P., Lindquist, C. H., Warner, T. D., Fisher, B. S., & Martin, S. L. (2007). *The campus sexual assault (CSA) study: Final report*. National Institute of Justice, U.S. Department of Justice
- Krebs, C. P., Lindquist, C. H., Warner, T. D., Fisher, B. S., & Martin, S. L. (2009). College women's experiences with physically forced, alcohol- or other drug-enabled, and drug-facilitated sexual assault before and since entering college. *Journal of American College Health*, 57(6), 639-47. ProQuest database. (213036355)
- Ku, L., Sonenstein, F. L., & Pleck, J. H. (1993). Neighborhood, family, and work: Influences on

- the premarital behaviors of adolescent males. Social Forces, 72, 479-503.
- Kumar, C. S., Reddy, J. M., & Krishna, J. (2020). A study of sexual dysfunction among female patients attending psychiatric outpatient department. *International Archives of Integrated Medicine*, 7(9), 44–51.
- Kuppens, S., & Ceulemans, E. (2019). Parenting styles: A closer look at a well-known concept.

 **Journal of Child & Family Studies, 28(1), 168-181. https://doi.org/10.1007/

 **s10826-018-1242-x
- Kyman, W. (1998). Into the 21st century: Renewing the campaign for school-based sexuality education. *Journal of Sex and Marital Therapy*, 24, 131-137.
- Laflin, M., Wang, J., & Barry, M. (2008). A longitudinal study of adolescent transition from virgin to nonvirgin status. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 42(3), 228-236.
- Lamborn, S. D., Mounts, N. S., Steinberg, L., & Dornbusch, S. M. (1991). Patterns of competence and adjustment among adolescents from authoritative, authoritarian, indulgent, and neglectful families. *Child Development*, 62, 1049-1065.
- Lammers, C., Ireland, M., Resnick, M. D., & Blum, R. (2000). Influences on adolescents' decisions to postpone the onset of sexual intercourse: A survival analysis of virginity among youths aged 13 to 18 years. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 26, 42-48.
- Laumann, E.O., Paik, A., & Rosen, R.C. (1999) Sexual dysfunction in the United States: prevalence and predictors. *Journal of American Medical Association*, 281, 537-544.
- Landry, D. J., Kaeser, L., & Richards, C. L. (1999). Abstinence promotion and the provision of information about contraception in public school district sexuality education policies. *Family Planning Perspectives*, 31, 280-286.

- Leclerc, B., Bergeron, S., Brassard, A., Belanger, C., Steben, M., & Mabert, B. (2015).

 Attachment, sexual assertiveness, and sexual outcomes in women with provoked vestibulodynia and their partners: A mediation model. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 44, 1561-1572. https://doi:10.1007/s10508-014-0295-1
- Leech, T. G. J. (2010). Everything's better in moderation: Young women's gender role attitudes and risky sexual behavior. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 46(5), 437-443. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2009.10.012
- Lefkowitz, E., Sigman, M., & Au, T. (2000). Helping mothers discuss sexuality and AIDS with adolescents. *Child Development*, 71, 1383-1394.
- Lehr, S. T., Demi, A. S., DiIorio, C., & Facteau, J. (2005). Predictors of father-son communication about sexuality. *Journal of Sex Research*, 42(2), 119-129.
- Lemonick, M. D. (2000). Teens before their time. *Time*, 156, 66-74.
- Lenow, E. (2018). Protestants and contraception. First Things: A Monthly Journal of Religion and Public Life, 279, 15-17.
- Leonard, K. C., & Scott-Jones, D. (2010). A belief behavior gap? Exploring religiosity and sexual activity among High school seniors. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 25(4), 578-600. https://doi.org/10.1177/0743558409357732
- Lindahl, K.M. & Malik, N.M. (1999). Marital Conflict, Family Processes, and Boys'
 Externalizing Behavior in Hispanic American and European American Families, *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 28 (1), 12-24.
 https://doi.org/10.1207/s15374424jccp2801_2
- Luster, T., & Small, S. (1997). Sexual Abuse History and Problems in Adolescence: Exploring the Effects of Moderating Variables. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 59(1), 131-142.

- https://doi.org/10.2307/353667
- Levin, D. S., Monique Ward, L., & Neilson, E. C. (2012). Formative Sexual Communications, Sexual Agency and Coercion, and Youth Sexual Health. *Social Service Review*, 86(3), 487–516. https://doi-org.nl.idm.oclc.org/10.1086/667785
- Lindberg, L. D., Jones, R., & Santelli, J. S. (2008). Noncoital sexual activities among adolescents. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 43(3), 231-238.
- Lucke, J. (1998). Gender roles and sexual behavior among young women. *Sex Roles*, *39*(3), 273-297. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1018806622585
- Luker, K. (2006). When sex goes to school. WW Norton.
- Lui, P. P., & Rollock, D. (2013). Tiger Mother: Popular and Psychological Scientific Perspectives on Asian Culture and Parenting. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 83(4), 450–456. https://doi-org.nl.idm.oclc.org/10.1111/ajop.12043
- Maccoby, E. E., & Martin, J. A. (1983). Socialization in the context of the family: Parent-child interaction. In P. H. Mussen (Series Ed.) & E. M. Hetherington (Vol. Ed.), *Handbook of child psychology: Vol. IV. Socialization, personality, and social development* (4th ed., pp. 1-101). Wiley.
- MacNeil, S., & Byers, S. E. (2009). Role of sexual self-disclosure in the sexual satisfaction of long-term heterosexual couples. *Journal of Sex Research*, 46, 313. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224490802398399
- Main, M. (1991). Metacognitive knowledge, metacognitive monitoring and singular (coherent) versus multiple (incoherent) models of attachment: Findings and directions for future re search. In C. M. Parkes, J. Stevenson-Hinde, & P. Marris (Eds.), *Attachment across the life cycle* (pp. 127-159) Routledge.

- Main, M. & Solomon, J. (1986) Discovery of a new, insecure-disorganized/disoriented attachment pattern. In T. B. Brazelton & M. Yogman (Eds.), *Affective development in infancy* (pp. 95-124) Norwood, New Jersey: Ablex.
- Malinosky-Rummell, R., & Hansen, D. J. (1993). Long-term consequences of childhood physical abuse. *Psychological Bulletin*, 114, 68-79.
- Manlove, J. S., Logan, C., Moore, K. A., & Ikramullah, E. N. (2008). Pathways from family religiosity to adolescent sexual activity and contraceptive use. *Perspectives on Sexual and Reproductive Health*, 40(2), 105-117.
- Manlove, J. S., Terry-Humen, E., Ikramullah, E. N., & Moore, K. A. (2006). The role of parent religiosity in teens 'transitions to sex and contraception. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 39, 578-587.
- Marcinechová, D., & Záhorcová, L. (2020). Sexual Satisfaction, Sexual Attitudes, and Shame in Relation to Religiosity. Sexuality & Culture, 24(6), 1913-1928.
 https://doi.org.nl.idm.oclc.org/10.1007/s12119-020-09727-3
- Markham, C. M., Lormand, D., Gloppen, K. M., Peskin, M. F., Flores, B., Low, B., & House, L.
 D. (2010). Connectedness as a Predictor of Sexual and Reproductive Health Outcomes for Youth. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 46(3), 23-41.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2009.11.214
- Mastro, S. & Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., (2015) Let's talk openly about sex: Sexual communication, self-esteem and efficacy as correlates of sexual well-being. *European Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 12(5), 579-598. https://doi.org/10.1080/17405629.2015.1054373

- McCarthy, G., & Taylor, A. (1999). Avoidant/ambivalent attachment style as a mediator between abusive childhood experiences and adult relationship difficulties. *Journal of Child Psychology & Psychiatry*, 40, 465-477.
- McMillen, E., Helm, H., & McBride, D. (2011). Religious Orientation and Sexual Attitudes and Behaviors. Journal of Research on Christian Education, 20(2), 1065-6219.
- Meier, A. M. (2003). Adolescents' transition to first intercourse, religiosity, and attitudes about sex. *Social Forces*, 81(3), 1031-1052.
- Mellins, C. A., Walsh, K., Sarvet, A. L., Wall, M., Gilbert, L., Santelli, J. S., et al. (2017). Sexual assault incidents among college undergraduates: Prevalence and factors associated with risk. *PLoS One 12*(11), e0186471. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0186471
- Meston, C. M., & Buss, D. M. (2007). Why humans have sex. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 36(4), 477-507. http://dx.doi.org.libproxy.edmc.edu/10.1007/s10508-007-9175-2
- Middlebrooks, J. S., & Audage, N. C. (2008). The effects of childhood stress on health across the lifespan. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Injury
 Prevention and Control. http://health-equity.lib.umd.edu/932/1/ Childhood_Stress.pdf
- Mikulincer, M., & Shaver, P. R. (2003). The attachment behavioural system in adulthood:

 Activation, psychodynamics, and interpersonal processes. In M.P. Zanna (Ed.), *Advances in experimental social psychology* (Vol. 35, pp. 53-152). Academic Press.
- Milhausen, R. R., & Herold, E. S. (2002). Reconceptualizing the sexual double standard. *Journal of Psychology & Human Sexuality*, 13(2), 63 83.
- Miller, B. C. (2002). Family influences on adolescent sexual and contraceptive behavior. *The Journal of Sex Research*, 39(1), 22-26. doi:10.1080/00224490209552115

- Miller, B. C., Benson, B., & Galbraith, K. A. (2001). Family relationships and adolescent pregnancy risk: A research synthesis. *Developmental Review*, 21, 1-38.
- Miller, K. S., Kotchick, B. A., Dorsey, S., Forehand, R., & Ham, A. Y. (1998). Family communication about sex: What are parents saying, and are their adolescents listening? Family Planning Perspectives, 30(5), 218-235.

 https://doiorg.nl.idm.oclc.org/10.2307/2991607
- Miller, K. S., Levin, M.L., Whitaker, D.J., & Xu, X. (1998). Patterns of condom use among adolescents: the impact of maternal-adolescent communication. *American Journal of Public Health*, 88(10), 1542-1544.
- Miller, M. (1999). A model to explain the relationship between sexual abuse and HIV risk among women. *AIDS Care*, 11(1), 3–20. https://doi-org.nl.idm.oclc.org10.1080/09540 129948162
- Miller, K., Fasula, A.M., Dittus, P., Wiegand, R. E., Wyckoff, Sarah C., & McNair, L. (2009).

 Barriers and facilitators to maternal communication with preadolescents about age relevant sexual topics. *AIDS and Behavior*, *13*(2), 365-374.
- Mollborn, S. & Everett, B. (2010). Correlates and Consequences of Parent–Teen Incongruence in Reports of Teens' Sexual Experience, *The Journal of Sex Research*, 47 (4), 314-329, https://doi.org/10.1080/00224490902954315
- Morris, R. W. (1994). *Values in sexuality education: a philosophical study*. University Press of America.
- Mullen, P. E., Martin, J. L., Anderson, J. C., Romans, S. E., & Herbison, G. P. (1994). The effect of child sexual abuse on social, interpersonal, and sexual function in adult life. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 165, 35-47.

- Murphy, A., Steele, M., Dubec, S.R., Bateb, J., Bonuck, K., Meissner, P., Goldman, H., & Steele, H. (2013) Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) Questionnaire and Adult Attachment Interview (AAI): Implications for parent child relationships. *Child Abuse & Neglect*. https://doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2013.09.004
- Murray, V., McNair, L., Myers, S., Chen, Y., & Brody, G. (2014). Intervention induced changes in perceptions of parenting and risk opportunities among rural African Americans.

 **Journal of Child & Family Studies*, 23(2), 422-436. https://doi-org.nl.idm.oclc.org/10.1007/s10826-013-9714-5
- Netting, N. S. (1992). Sexuality in youth culture: Identity and change. *Adolescence*, 27, 961-976.
- Nicolson, P. & Burr, J. (2003). What is 'normal' about women's (hetero)sexual desire and orgasm? A report of an in-depth interview study. *Social Science and Medicine* 57(9), 1735-1745.
- Nonnemaker, J., McNeely, C., & Blum, R. (2003). Public and private domains of religiosity and adolescent health risk behaviors: Evidence from the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health. *Social Science and Medicine*, *57*, 2049-2054.
- Openshaw, D. K., Thomas, D. L., & Rollins, B. C. (1984). Parental Influences of Adolescent Self-Esteem. *The Journal of Early Adolescence*, *4*(3), 259–274. https://doi.org/10.1177/0272431684043010
- Pardee, M., Kuzma, E., Dahlem, C. H. Y., Boucher, N., & Darling-Fisher, C. S. (2017). Current state of screening high-ACE youth and emerging adults in primary care. *Journal of the American Association of Nurse Practitioners*, 29(12), 716-724. https://doi.org/10.1002/2327-6924.12531
- Park, H. S., & Bauer, S. (2002). Parenting Practices, Ethnicity, Socioeconomic Status and

- Academic Achievement in Adolescents. *School Psychology International*, 23(4), 386–396. https://doi.org/10.1177/0143034302234002
- Patterson, G. R. (1982). A social learning approach, Vol. 3. Coercive family process. Castalia Publishing.
- Peplau, L. A., Hill, C. T., & Rubin, Z. (1993). Sex Role Attitudes in Dating and Marriage: A 15-Year Follow-Up of the Boston Couples Study. *Journal of Social Issues*, 49(3), 31–52. https://doi:10.1111/j.1540-4560.1993.tb01167.x
- Peter, C. R., Tasker, T. B., & Horn, S. S. (2015). Parents 'attitudes toward comprehensive and inclusive sexuality education. *Health Education*, *115*(1), 71-92. http://doi: 10.1108/HE-01-2014-0003
- Pietromonaco, P. R., Greenwood, D., & Barrett, L. F. (2004). Conflict in adult close relationships: An attachment perspective. In W.S. Rholes & J.A. Simpson (Eds.), *Adult attachment: Theory, research, and clinical implications* (pp. 267-299). Guilford Press.
- Quinn-Nilas, C., & Kennett, D. J. (2018). Reasons why undergraduate women comply with unwanted, non-coercive sexual advances: A serial indirect effect model integrating sexual script theory and sexual self-control perspectives. *Journal of Social Psychology*, *158*(5), 603–615. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224545.2018.1427039
- Quinton, D., Pickles, A., Maughan, B., & Rutter, M. (1993). Partners, peers, and pathways:

 Assortative pairing and continuities in conduct disorder. *Development and Psychopathology*, 5, 763-783.
- Quinton, D., & Rutter, M. (1988). Parental breakdown: The making and breaking of intergenerational links. Gower.
- Radziszewka, B., Richardson, J. L., Dent, C. W., & Flay, B. R. (1996). Parenting style and

- adolescent depressive symptoms, smoking, and academic achievement: Ethnic, gender, and class differences. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 19, 289–305.
- Ragsdale, K., Bersamin, M., Schwartz, S. J., Zamboanga, B. L., Kerrick, R., & Grube, J. W. (2014). Development of sexual expectancies among adolescents: Contributions by parents, peers, and the media. *Journal of Sex Research*, 51(5), 551-560.
- Ramirez-Valles, J., Zimmerman, M. A., & Newcomb, M. D. (1998). Sexual risk behavior among youth: Modeling the influence of prosocial activities and socioeconomic factors. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 39, 237-253.
- Ramsey, L. R., & Hoyt, T. (2015). The Object of Desire: How Being Objectified Creates Sexual Pressure for Women in Heterosexual Relationships. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 39(2), 151–170. https://doi.org/10.1177/0361684314544679
- Raymond, D. (1994). Homophobia, identity, and the meanings of desire: reflections on the cultural construction of gay and lesbian adolescent sexuality. In J. M. Irvine (Ed.) *Sexual cultures and the construction of adolescent identities* (pp.115-150). Temple University Press.
- Read, J. N. G. (2003). The sources of gender role attitudes among Christian and Muslim Arab-American women. *Sociology of Religion*, *64*(2), 207-222. doi:10.2307/3712371
- Regnerus, M. D. (2005). Talking about sex: Religion and patterns of parent-child communication about sex and contraception. *Sociological Quarterly*, 46(1), 79-105. https://doi-org.nl.idm.oclc.org/10.1111/j.1533-8525.2005.00005.x
- Regnerus, M. D. (2007). Forbidden fruit: Sex and religion in the lives of American teenagers.

 Oxford University Press.

- Reid, J. A., Templeman, C. L., Groneberg, D. A., Brueggmann, D., & Jaque, J. M. (2017).
 Patients 'knowledge of female pelvic health and related educational preferences. *Journal of Community Health*, 42(1), 147-154.
 http://dx.doi.org.libproxy.edmc.edu/10.1007/s10900-016-0241-3
- Reiss, D., Hetherington, E. M., Polmin, R., Howe, G. W., Simmens, S. J., & Henderson, S. J. (1995). Genetic questions for environmental studies: Differential parenting and psychopathology in adolescence. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *52*, 925-936.
- Reiss, I. L. (1960). Premarital sexual standards in America: A sociological investigation of the relative social and cultural integration of American sexual standards. Free Press of Glencoe.
- Reisz, S., Duschinsky, R., & Siegel, D.J. (2018). Disorganized attachment and defense: exploring John Bowlby's unpublished reflections. *Attachment & Human Development*, 20(2), 107-134. https://doi: 10.1080/14616734.2017.1380055
- Resnick, M. D., Bearman, R. S., Blum, R. W., Bauman, K. E., Harris, K. M., Jones, J., Tabor, J., Beuhring, T., Sieving, R. E., Shew, M., Ireland, M., Bearinger, L. H., & Udry, J. R. (1997). Protecting adolescents from harm: Findings from the National Longitudinal Study on Adolescent Health. *Journal of American Medical Association*, 278, 823-832.
- Risman, B., & Schwartz, P. (2002). After the sexual revolution: Gender politics in teen dating. *Contexts*, 1, 16-24.
- Rivers, J., Mullis, A. K., Fortner, L. A., & Mullis, R. L. (2012). Relationship of Parenting styles and academic performance of adolescents. *Journal of Family Social Work, 15*, 202-216. https://doi.org/10.1080/10522158.2012.666644

- Rodgers, K. B. (1999). Parenting processes related to sexual risk-taking behaviors of adolescent males and females. *Journal of Marriage and the Family, 61*, 99-109.
- Rodriguez, D. M., Donovick, M. R., & Crowley, S. L. (2009). Parenting Styles in a Cultural Context: Observations of "Protective Parenting" in First- Generation Latinos. *Family Process*, 48(2), 195-210. https://doi-org.nl.idm.oclc.org/10.1111/j.1545-5300.2009.01277.x
- Rosenbaum, J. E., & Weathersbee, B. (2013). True love waits: Do southern Baptists? Premarital sexual behavior among newly married southern Baptist Sunday school students. *Journal of Religion and Health*, 52(1), 263-275.
- Rosenthal, D., Senserrick, T., Feldman, S., Rosenthal, D., Senserrick, T., & Feldman, S. (2001).

 A typology approach to describing parents as communicators about sexuality. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 30(5), 463-482.

 https://doi.org.nl.idm.oclc.org/10.1023/A:1010235116609
- Rostila, M., Berg, L., Arat, A., Vinnerljung, B., & Hjern, A. (2016). Parental death in childhood and self-inflicted injuries in young adults—A national cohort study from Sweden.

 European Child and Adolescents Psychiatry, 25, 1103-1111.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-016-0833-6
- Rostosky, S. S., Regnerus, M. D., & Comer Wright, M. L. (2003). Coital debut: The role of religiosity and sex attitudes in the Add Health survey. *Journal of Sex Research*, 40(4), 358-367.
- Russell, S. T. (2005). Conceptualizing positive adolescent sexuality development. *Sexuality Research & Social Policy*, 2(3), 4-12. https://doi.org/10.1525/srsp.2005.2.3.4
- Rutter, M. (2002). Development and psychopathology. In M. Rutter & E. Taylor (Eds.), *Child*

- and adolescent psychiatry (4th ed., pp. 309-324). Blackwell Scientific Publishing.
- Sakaluk, J. K., Todd, L. M., Milhausen, R., & Lachowsky, N. J., & Undergraduate Research Group in Sexuality (URGiS). (2013). Dominant heterosexual sexual scripts in emerging adulthood: Conceptualization and measurement. *Journal of Sex Research*, *51*(5), 516-531.
- Sampson, R., & Laub, J. (1993). Crime in the making: Pathways and turning points through life.

 Harvard University Press.
- Sanchez, D., Fetterolf, J., & Rudman, L. (2012). Eroticizing Inequality in the United States: The Consequences and Determinants of Traditional Gender Role Adherence in Intimate Relationships. *Journal of Sex Research*, 49(2/3), 168–183. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224499.2011.653699
- Santa Maria, D., Markham, C., Engebretson, J., Baumler, E., & McCurdy, S. (2014). Parent-child communication about sex in African American mother-son dyads. *Family Medicine* & *Medical Science Research*, 2014, 1-6. https://doi:10.4172/2327-4972.1000134
- Santelli, J. S., & Peter, B. (1992). Risk factors for adolescent sexual behavior, fertility, and sexually transmitted diseases. *Journal of School Health*, 62(7), 271-279.
- Schuster, M., Corona, R., Elliott, M., Kanouse, D., Eastman, K., Zhou, A., & Klein, D. (2008).

 Evaluation of talking parents, healthy teens, a new worksite-based parenting programme to promote parent-adolescent communication about sexual health: Randomised controlled trial. *British Medical Journal*, 337. https://doi:10.1136/bmj.39609.657581.25

- Sedgh, G., Finer, L. B., Bankole, A., Eilers, M. A., & Singh, S. (2015). Adolescent pregnancy, birth, and abortion rates across countries: Levels and recent trends. *The Journal of Adolescent Health: Official Publication of the Society for Adolescent Medicine*, *56*(2), 223-230. https://doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2014.09.007
- Shelton, K. K., Frick, P. J., & Wootton, J. (1996) Assessment of parenting practices in families of elementary school-age children, *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 25(3), 317-329, https://doi-10.1207/s15374424jccp2503 8
- Shoop, D. M., & Davidson, P. M. (1994). AIDS and adolescents: The relation of parent and partner communication to adolescent condom use. *Journal of Adolescence*, *17*(2), 137-148. https://doi.org/10.1006/jado.1994.1014
- Siddiqi, A., Hu, X., & Hall, H. I. (2015). Mortality among blacks or African Americans with HIV infection—United States, 2008-2012. *MMWR Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report.* 64(4), 81-86.
- Simanski, J. W. (1998). The birds and the bees: An analysis of advice given to parents through the popular press. *Adolescence*, *33*(129), 33-45. Retrieved from https://nl.idm.oclc.org/login?url=https://www-proquest-com.nl.idm.oclc.org/scholarly-journals/birds-bees-analysis-advice-given-parents-through/docview/195939450/se-2?accountid=40898
- Singh, S., & Darroch, J. E. (2000). Adolescent pregnancy and childbearing: Levels and trends in developed countries. *Family Planning Perspectives*, *32*(1), 14-23. https://doi.org.nl.idm.oclc.org/10.2307/2648144
- Smith S.G., & Cook, S.L. (2008). Disclosing sexual assault to parents: the influence of parental messages about sex. *Violence Against Women*, *14*(11), 1326–1348. https://doi-org.nl.id

- m.oclc.org/10.1177/1077801208325086
- Somers, C. L., & Paulson, S. E. (2000). Students 'perceptions of parent-adolescent closeness and communication about sexuality: Relations with sexual knowledge, attitudes, and behaviors. *Journal of Adolescence*, *23*(5), 629-644. https://doi-org.nl.idm.oclc.org/ 10.1006/jado.2000.0349
- Spera, C. (2005). A review of the relationship among parenting practices, parenting styles and adolescent school achievement. *Educational Psychology Review*, 17, 125-146.
- Sroufe, L.A. (2005): Attachment and development: A prospective, longitudinal study from birth to adulthood, *Attachment & Human Development*, 7(4), 349-367. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/14616730500365928
- Stefanou, C., & McCabe, M. P. (2012). Adult attachment and sexual functioning: A review of past research. *Journal of Sexual Medicine*, 7, (19). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.17436109.2012.02843.x
- Steinberg, L., Dornbusch, S. M., & Brown, B. B. (1992). Ethnic differences in adolescent achievement: An ecological perspective. *American Psychologist*, 47, 723-729.
- Steinberg, L., Lamborn, D. S., Darling, N., Mounts, N. S., & Dorn-Busch, S. M. (1994). Over-time changes in adjustment and competence among adolescents from authoritative, authoritarian, indulgent, and neglectful families. *Child Development*, 65, 754-770.
- Steinberg, L., Lamborn, D. S., Dornbusch, S. M., & Darling, N. (1992). Impact of parenting practices on adolescent achievement: Authoritative parenting, school involvement, and encouragement to succeed. *Child Development*, 63, 1266-1281.
- Stephan, C. W., & Bachman, G. F. (1999). What's sex got to do with it? Attachment, love schemas, and sexuality. *Personal Relationships*, *6*, 111-123.

- Stephens, J. (2009). Religion and power in the early thought of John Chrysostom. *The power of religion in late antiquity* [selected papers from the Seventh Biennial Shifting Frontiers in Late Antiquity Conference], 181-188.
- Stephenson, M. T., Quick, B. L., Atkinson, J., & Tschida, D. A. (2005). Authoritative parenting and drug-prevention practices: Implications for antidrug ads for parents. *Health Communication*, 17, 301-321.
- Stewart, S. M., Bond, M. H., McBride-Chang, C., Fielding, R., Deeds, O., & Westrick, J. (1998).

 Parent and adolescent contributors to teenage misconduct in western and Asian high school students in Hong Kong. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 22, 847-869.
- Stockman, J. K., Campbell, J. C., & Celentano, D. D. (2010). Sexual violence and HIV risk behaviors among a nationally representative sample of heterosexual American women:

 The importance of sexual coercion. *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes*, 53(1), 136-143.
- Stockman, J. K., Lucea, M. B., & Campbell, J. C. (2013). Forced sexual initiation, sexual intimate partner violence and HIV risk in women: A global review of the literature. *AIDS and Behavior*, 17(3), 832-47. https://doi: 10.1007/s10461-012-0361-4
- Studer, M., & Thornton, A. (1987). Adolescent religiosity and contraceptive use. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 49, 117-128.
- Thompson, S. (1990). Putting a big thing into a little hole: Teenage girls 'accounts of sexual initiation. *The Journal of Sex Research*, 27, (3), 341-361. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224499009551564

- Tiefer, L. (1991). Historical, scientific, clinical, and feminist criticisms of "the human sexual response cycle." *Annual Review of Sex Research*, *2*, 1-23.
- Tjaden, P., & Thoennes, N. (2000). Full report of the prevalence, incidence, and consequences of violence against women: Findings from the National Violence Against Women Survey.

 National Institute of Justice, U.S. Department of Justice.

 https://www.ojp.gov/pdffiles1/nij/183781.pdf
- Tjaden, P., & Thoennes, N. (2006). Extent, nature, and consequences of rape victimization:

 Findings from the National Violence Against Women Survey [Special report]. National Institute of Justice and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.

 https://www.ojp.gov/pdffiles1/nij/210346.pdf
- Tolman, D. L. (1994). Daring to desire: Culture and the bodies of adolescent girls. In J. M. Irvine (Ed.) Sexual cultures and the construction of adolescent identities. Temple University Press.
- Tolman, D. L. (1999). Female adolescent sexuality in relational context: beyond sexual decision making. In N. G. Johnson, M. C. Roberts & J. Worell (Eds.) *Beyond appearance: a new look at adolescent girls.* (p. 227–246). American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/10325-009
- Tolman, D. L. (2005). IX. Supporting Subjectivity: Girls' Power Initiative as Gender Practice.

 Feminism & Psychology, 15(1), 50–53. https://doi:10.1177/0959-353505049707
- Tolman, D.L., Striepe, M. I., & Harmon, T. (2003) Gender matters: Constructing a model of adolescent sexual health, *The Journal of Sex Research*, 40 (1), 4-12. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224490309552162

- Tolman, D. L., & McClelland, S. I. (2011). Normative sexuality development in adolescence: a decade in review, 2000-2009. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 21, 242-255. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-7795.2010.00726.x
- Tracy, J. L., Shaver, P. R., Albino, A. W., & Cooper, M. L. (2003). Attachment styles and adolescent sexuality. In P. Florsheim (Ed.), *Adolescent romance and sexual behavior:*Theory, research, and practical implications (pp. 137-159). Erlbaum.
- Tsuyuki, K., Al-Alusi, N. A., Campbell, J. C., Murry, D., Cimino, A. N., Servin, A. E., & Stockman, J. K. (2019). Adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) are associated with forced and very early sexual initiation among Black women accessing publicly funded STD clinics in Baltimore, MD. *PLoS ONE*, *14*(5), 1-15. https://doi.org.nl.idm.oclc.org/10.1371/jour-nal.pone.0216279
- Twenge, J. M. (2011). The Duality of Individualism: Attitudes Toward Women, Generation Me, and the Method of Cross-Temporal Meta-Analysis. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 35(1), 193–196. https://doi: 10.1177/0361684310395918
- Twenge, J. M., Sherman, R. A., & Wells, B. E. (2015). Changes in American adults' sexual behavior and attitudes, 1972-2012. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 44(8), 22-73. https://doi:10.1007/s10508-015-0540-2
- Teyber, E. & Teyber, F.H. (2019). Interpersonal process in therapy: An integrative model.

 Boston (MA): Engage Learning.
- Uecker, J., Angotti, N., & Regnerus, M. D. (2008). Going most of the way: "Technical virginity" among American adolescents, *Social Science Research*, *37*(4), 1200-1215.
- Vega, W.A. (1990). Hispanic Families in the 1980s: A Decade of Research. Journal of Marriage and Family, 52(4), 1015-1024. https://doi.org/10.2307/353316

- van de Bongardt, D., Reitz, E., Sandfort, T., & Deković, M. (2015). A meta-analysis of the relations between three types of peer norms and adolescent sexual behavior.

 *Personality & Social Psychology Review (Sage Publications Inc.), 19(3), 203–234.

 https://doi-org.nl.idm.oclc.org/10.1177/1088868314544223
- van de Bongardt, D., Reitz, E., & Deković, M. (2016). Indirect over-time relations between parenting and adolescents'ss exual behaviors and emotions through global self-esteem.

 Journal of Sex Research, 53(3), 273–285.*

 https://doi.org.nl.idm.oclc.org/10.1080/00224499.2015.1046155
- Walker, D. P., Messman-Moore, T., & Ward, R. M. (2011). Number of sexual partners and sexual assertiveness predict sexual victimization: Do more partners equal more risk.

 Violence and Victims, 26(6), 774-87. ProQuest database. (927983773)
- Walker, J. L. (2001). A qualitative study of parents' experiences of providing sex education for their children: The implications for health education. *Health Education Journal*, 60(2), 132-146.
- Ward, L. M., & Wyatt, G. E. (1994). The effects of childhood sexual messages on African-American and white women's adolescent sexual. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, *18*(2), 183-190. https://doi-org.nl.idm.oclc.org/10.1111/j.1471-6402.1994.tb00450.x
- Wegner, R., Roy, A. R. K., Gorman, K. R., & Ferguson, K. (2018). Attachment, relationship communication style and the use of jealousy induction techniques in romantic relation ships. *Personality & Individual Differences*, *129*, 6–11. https://doi-org.nl.idm.oclc.org/10.1016/j.paid.2018.02.033
- Weinstein, M., & Thornton, A. (1989). Mother-child relations and adolescent sexual attitudes and behaviors. *Demography*, 26, 563-577.

- Welsh, D. P., Rostosky, S. S., & Kawaguchi, M. C. (2000). A normative perspective of adolescent girls 'developing sexuality. In C. B. Travis & J. W. White (Eds) *Sexuality, society, and feminism*. American Psychological Association.
- Whatley, M. H. (1992). Goals for sex equitable sexuality education. In S. S. Klein (Ed.) *Sex equity and sexuality education*. State University of New York Press.
- Whitaker, D. J., Miller, K. S., May, D. C., & Levin, M. L. (1999). Teenage partners' communication about sexual risk and condom use: The importance of parent-teenager discussions. *Family Planning Perspectives*, *31*(3), 117-121. https://doi.org.nl.idm.oclc.org/10.2307/2991693
- Wiederman, M. W. (2005). The gendered nature of sexual scripts. *The Family Journal*, *13*(4), 496–502. https://doi.org/10.1177/1066480705278729
- Williams, L. R., Degnan, K. A., Perez-Edgar, K. E., Henderson, H. A., Rubin, K. H., Pine, D. S., & Fox, N. A. (2009). Impact of behavioral inhibition and parenting style on internalizing and externalizing problems from early childhood through adolescence. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 37, 1063-1075.
- Willoughby, J. F., & Jackson, K. (2013). "Can you get pregnant when U R in the pool?": Young people's information-seeking from a sexual health text line." *Sex Education*, *13*, 96-106. https://doi.org/10.1080/14681811.2012.677746
- Wilson, E. K., Dalberth, B. T., Koo, H. P., & Gard, J. C. (2010). Parents' perspectives on talking to preteenage children about sex. *Perspectives on Sexual & Reproductive Health*, 42(1), 56-63. https://doi-org.nl.idm.oclc.org/10.1363/4205610
- Wilson, E. K., & Koo, H. P. (2010). Mothers, fathers, sons, and daughters: Gender differences in factors associated with parent-child communication about sexual topics. *Reproductive*

- Health, 7, 31. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-4755-7-31
- Wolfradt, U., Hempel, S., & Miles, J. N. (2003). Perceived parenting styles, depersonalisation, anxiety and coping behaviour in adolescents. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 34(3), 521-532
- World Health Organization. (2013). *Sexual health*. Retrieved 9 September 2018 from: http://www.who.int/reproductivehealth/topics/sexual_health/sh_definitions/en/
- Wyatt, G. E., & Lyons-Rowe, S. (1990). African American women's sexual satisfaction as a dimension of their sex roles. *Sex Roles*, 22 (7-8), 509-524. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00288167
- Wyatt, G. E., & Riederle, M. H. (1994) Reconceptualizing issues that affect women's sexual decision-making and sexual functioning. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 18, 611-625.
- Wyckoff, S., Miller, K., Forehand, R., Bau, J., Fasula, A., Long, N., & Armistead, L. (2008).

 Patterns of sexuality communication between preadolescents and their mothers and fathers. *Journal of Child & Family Studies*, *17*(5), 649-662. https://doi-org.nl.idm. clc.org/10.1007/s10826-007-9179-5
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Skinner, E. A. (2011). Review: The development of coping across childhood and adolescence: An integrative review and critique of research. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 35(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/
- Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & French, J. (2016). Associations of Sexual Subjectivity with Global and Sexual Well-Being: A New Measure for Young Males and Comparison to Females.

 *Archives of Sexual Behavior, 45, 315–327. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-014-0387-y
- Zinzow, H. M., & Thompson, M. (2011). Barriers to reporting sexual victimization: Prevalence

and correlates among undergraduate women. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma, 20*(7)711-725. https://doi.org/10.1080/10926771.2011.613447

Appendix

Recommendations for Conversations with Adolescent Girls About Sexual Functioning Start discussions at an Early Age

- Children are exposed to sexual situations at earlier ages. Therefore, it is important for parents to begin discussions with children about sexual functioning at early ages.
- Younger Children Topics
 - What love and good relationships look like.
 - What are good touches and not good touches.
 - Allowance to say "no" in physical touch situations ("no thank you" to hugs or affection from adults)
- Older Children Topics
 - Set realistic expectations for sexual encounters.
 - Discuss possible exposure to pornography.

Be Knowledgeable

- Gather knowledge on contraception effectiveness, STI's, and male and female anatomy.
- Approach conversations with minimal stress
- Normalize sexuality changes over time.

Sex Positive View and Sex Positive Message

- Less emphasis on risks of sexual activity
- More emphasis on emotional safety, physical safety, and saying "no" in situations in which they are uncomfortable.
- Independent sexual activity can be pleasurable.
- Sexual activity with a partner can be pleasurable.

Encourage Autonomy and Assertiveness

- Allow your child to express their general ideas and opinions and value them.
- Encourage your child to speak up for their needs.
- Emphasis on sexual encounters as a decision made together with a partner.

Encourage Self-Efficacy and Sexual Agency

- Discuss the ability to yes and no in sexual situations.
- Discuss what consent is and what it looks like for
- Encourage your child to require a partner to exercise precautionary measures.
- Encourage your child to be assertive in sexual situations.
- Discuss emotions and feelings surrounding possibility of sexual activity.

Integrate Values and Beliefs

 Acknowledge you can be consistent with your personal values while discussing healthy sexual functioning with your child.

Websites:

- https://sexpositivefamilies.com/resources/results/
- https://www.plannedparenthood.org
- https://positivesexuality.org/education/